Helsinki University Biomedical Dissertations No. 179

GENETIC VARIANTS PREDISPOSING TO CARDIAC ARRHYTHMIA DISORDERS AND SUDDEN CARDIAC DEATH

Annukka Lahtinen

Research Programs Unit, Molecular Medicine and Institute of Clinical Medicine, Department of Medicine University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, in Lecture Hall 2, Biomedicum Helsinki, Haartmaninkatu 8, on December 5th, 2012, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2012

Supervisors	Annukka Marjamaa, MD, PhD Department of Medicine University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland
	Professor Kimmo Kontula, MD, PhD Department of Medicine University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland
Reviewers	Docent Juhani Junttila, MD, PhD Department of Internal Medicine University of Oulu and Oulu University Hospital Oulu, Finland
	Docent Samuli Ripatti, PhD Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland FIMM University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland
Opponent	Professor Antti Sajantila, MD, PhD Department of Forensic Medicine Hjelt Institute University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

ISSN 1457-8433 ISBN 978-952-10-8381-5 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-8382-2 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi

Helsinki University Print Helsinki 2012

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	5
ABBREVIATIONS	6
ABSTRACT	8
INTRODUCTION	10
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	
1. Molecular basis of inherited cardiac arrhythmia disorders	12
1.1. Cardiomyopathies	12
1.2. Cardiac ion channel disorders	13
2. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC)	17
2.1. Cell-cell junctions of cardiomyocytes	17
2.2. Clinical features of ARVC	19
2.3. Genetics of ARVC	22
2.4. Syndromic forms of ARVC	
3. Long QT syndrome (LQTS)	27
3.1. Cardiac ion channels	27
3.2. Clinical features of LQTS	
3.3. Genetics of LQTS	
3.4. Genetics of QT interval and LQTS modifier genes	
4. Sudden cardiac death (SCD)	35
4.1. Epidemiology and clinical risk factors of SCD	35
4.2. Genetics of SCD	
5. Methods of studying the genetics of cardiac arrhythmia and SCD	40
5.1. Candidate gene approach	40
5.2. Linkage and association studies	41
5.3. Future directions	42
AIMS OF THE STUDY	43
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
1. Patient and control samples (I-III)	44
2. Population cohorts and autopsy materials (II, IV-VI)	44
3. Phenotypic characterization (I-VI)	45
4. Molecular genetic studies (I-VI)	46
5. Microscopic analyses (I, II)	47
6. Statistical analyses (I-VI)	
RESULTS	
1. Desmosomal mutations in ARVC patients and families	
2. Effects of desmosomal mutations at the cellular level	
3. Desmosomal variants in the Finnish population	
4. KCNE1 D85N as a sex-specific disease-modifying variant in LQTS	
5. QT interval and QT _{score} in SCD	
6. Common variants and cardiovascular risk factors in SCD	
7. Rare arrhythmia-associated mutations in the Finnish population	62

DISCUSSION	63
1. Desmosomal defects underlying Finnish ARVC	63
1.1. Desmosomal mutations and their cellular consequences	63
1.2. Desmosomal mutations at the population level	65
2. Common genetic variants modulating QT interval and LQTS phenotype	66
2.1. Genetic components of QT interval	66
2.2. Modifier genes in LQTS	67
3. Genes, QT interval, and SCD	68
4. Genetic arrhythmia susceptibility variants in SCD	69
4.1. Common genetic variants and SCD	69
4.2. Rare arrhythmia-associated mutations and SCD	71
5. SCD risk prediction	72
6. Study limitations	73
CONCLUSIONS	74
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	75
REFERENCES	77

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by Roman numerals I-VI. In addition, some unpublished data are presented.

I	Lahtinen AM [*] , Lehtonen A [*] , Kaartinen M, Toivonen L, Swan H, Widén E, Lehtonen E, Lehto VP, Kontula K. Plakophilin-2 missense mutations in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. <i>International Journal of Cardiology</i> 2008; 126(1):92-100.
Π	Lahtinen AM, Lehtonen E, Marjamaa A, Kaartinen M, Heliö T, Porthan K, Oikarinen L, Toivonen L, Swan H, Jula A, Peltonen L, Palotie A, Salomaa V, Kontula K. Population-prevalent desmosomal mutations predisposing to arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. <i>Heart Rhythm</i> 2011; 8(8):1214-1221.
III	Lahtinen AM, Marjamaa A, Swan H, Kontula K. <i>KCNE1</i> D85N polymorphism – a sex-specific modifier in type 1 long QT syndrome? <i>BMC Medical Genetics</i> 2011; 12:11.
IV	Noseworthy PA*, Havulinna AS*, Porthan K, <u>Lahtinen AM</u> , Jula A, Karhunen PJ, Perola M, Oikarinen L, Kontula KK, Salomaa V, Newton-Cheh C. Common genetic variants, QT interval, and sudden cardiac death in a Finnish population-based study. <i>Circulation Cardiovascular Genetics</i> 2011; 4(3):305-311.
V	Lahtinen AM [*] , Noseworthy PA [*] , Havulinna AS, Jula A, Karhunen PJ, Kettunen J, Perola M, Kontula K, Newton-Cheh C, Salomaa V. Common genetic variants associated with sudden cardiac death: the FinSCDgen study. <i>PloS One</i> 2012; 7(7):e41675.
VI	Lahtinen AM, Havulinna AS, Noseworthy PA, Jula A, Karhunen PJ, Perola M, Newton-Cheh C, Salomaa V, Kontula K. Prevalence of arrhythmia- associated gene mutations and risk of sudden cardiac death in the Finnish population. Submitted.

* Equal contribution.

The original publications are reproduced with the permission of the copyright holders.

ABBREVIATIONS

ARVC	arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy
ARVD	arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia
CACNA1C	voltage-gated L-type calcium channel $\alpha 1_{\rm C}$ subunit gene
CASQ2	calsequestrin 2 gene
CDKN2A, 2B	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A and 2B genes
CHD	coronary heart disease
CI	confidence interval
CPVT	catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia
DSC2	desmocollin-2 gene
DSG2	desmoglein-2 gene
DSP	desmoplakin gene
ECG	electrocardiogram
GPD1L	glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 1-like gene
GWA	genome-wide association
HR	hazard ratio
HSDS	Helsinki Sudden Death Study
Ical	L-type calcium current
I _{K1}	inward rectifier potassium current
I _{Kr}	rapidly activated delayed rectifier potassium current
I _{Ks}	slowly activated delayed rectifier potassium current
I _{Na}	sodium current
INCX	sodium-calcium exchanger current
Ito	transient outward potassium current
JUP	plakoglobin gene
KCNE1, 2, 3	voltage-gated potassium channel, Isk-related family, member 1, 2, and 3
KCNH2	voltage-gated potassium channel, subfamily H (eag-related), member 2
KOND 5	gene
KCNJ2, 5	inwardly-rectifying potassium channel, subfamily J, member 2 and 5 genes
KCNQ1	voltage-gated potassium channel, KQT-like subfamily, member 1 gene
LQTS	long QT syndrome
minK	voltage-gated potassium channel, subfamily E, member 1
MiRP1	minK-related peptide 1
MLPA	multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification
NOSIAP	nitric oxide synthase 1 (neuronal) adaptor protein gene
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PIRA	primer-induced restriction analysis
PITX2	paired-like homeodomain 2 gene
PKP2	plakophilin-2 gene
PLN	phospholamban gene
QTc	QT interval corrected for heart rate according to Bazett's formula
QT _{Nc}	QT interval nomogram-corrected for heart rate
QT _{score}	QT genotype score calculated for each individual to aggregate the genetic
	information of a number of QT interval-prolonging variants
RR	relative risk
RYR2	cardiac ryanodine receptor gene
SCD	sudden cardiac death

voltage-gated sodium channel, type I, β subunit gene
voltage-gated sodium channel, type V, α subunit gene
single nucleotide polymorphism
Tampere Autopsy Study
transforming growth factor β 3 gene
transmembrane protein 43 gene
WD repeat domain 48 gene

In addition, standard one-letter abbreviations are used for nucleotides and amino acids.

ABSTRACT

Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC) and long QT syndrome (LQTS) are inherited cardiac arrhythmia disorders that predispose to ventricular tachycardia and sudden cardiac death (SCD). In ARVC, structural and electrical abnormalities of the heart occur together with progressive replacement of the right ventricular myocardium by adipose and fibrous tissue. Mutations in desmosomal cell adhesion genes are estimated to account for approximately half of all ARVC cases. LQTS is a cardiac channelopathy manifesting with a prolonged QT interval in a structurally normal heart. Disease-causing mutations delay the repolarization of the ventricular myocardium by disturbing the function of cardiac ion channels. The aims of this study were to identify genetic variants predisposing to ARVC, LQTS, and SCD and to assess their prevalence and clinical significance in the Finnish population.

A total of 33 ARVC probands were screened for mutations in desmosomal genes by direct sequencing. Six mutations, five not previously reported in ARVC, were identified in 18% of the cases. Immunohistochemistry and electron microscopy revealed disorganization of the intercalated disk structure of mutation carriers, but ARVC families demonstrated reduced disease penetrance. The combined carrier frequency of the desmosomal mutations identified in this study was 1:250 in four Finnish population cohorts (total n = 27670). One in 340 individuals in the general population carried the Finnish ARVC founder mutation *PKP2* Q59L. Compared with the proposed ARVC population prevalence of 1:1000-1:5000, an unexpectedly large number of individuals could be at risk of developing ARVC, and thus, potentially life-threatening arrhythmias in Finland. However, another trigger is likely to be needed for disease expression.

KCNE1 D85N is associated with a 10-ms QT interval prolongation in the general population. To study its effect on the LQTS phenotype, its presence was assayed in 712 carriers of the four Finnish LQTS founder mutations *KCNQ1* G589D, *KCNQ1* IVS7-2A>G, *KCNH2* L552S, and *KCNH2* R176W. *KCNE1* D85N was associated with a 26-ms prolongation of QT interval in males with *KCNQ1* G589D, representing thus a potential sexspecific disease-modifying factor in LQTS.

Associations between 14 QT-prolonging single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), QT interval, and SCD were investigated in two Finnish population cohorts (total n = 6808). The QT_{score} aggregating the genetic information of the 14 QT-associated SNPs explained 8.6% of the variation in QT interval. A 10-ms prolongation of QT interval was associated with a 19% increased risk of SCD, and the association between a diagnostic QT interval threshold (>450 ms in males and >470 ms in females) and risk of SCD was verified. No association between QT_{score} and risk of SCD was, however, observed.

The association of 28 common and 10 rare candidate gene variants with SCD was studied in four Finnish population samples and two series of forensic autopsies (total n = 28323). Two novel common variants, rs41312391 in *SCN5A* and rs2200733 in 4q25 near *PITX2*, were associated with risk of SCD. In addition, the associations for rs2383207 in 9p21 as well as for clinical risk factors for coronary heart disease were replicated. Rare arrhythmia-associated mutations in desmosomal and ion channel genes had a combined carrier frequency of 1:130 in the Finnish population and were detected in individual SCD victims.

In conclusion, the high prevalence and reduced disease penetrance of desmosomal mutations should be considered in counselling of ARVC patients and family members. In LQTS, *KCNE1* D85N provides a potential sex-specific disease-modifying factor for risk stratification. In addition, two novel genetic risk markers for SCD were identified in this study, providing novel information for SCD risk prediction and prevention.

INTRODUCTION

Cardiac arrhythmia disorders present a major risk factor for cardiac arrest and sudden cardiac death (SCD). Disturbance of heart rhythm may occur due to structural or electrical heart disease or non-cardiac causes. Inherited forms of arrhythmia disorders are rare but often severe, and they are involved in a significant proportion of premature sudden deaths of young adults (Cross et al. 2011). Cardiomyopathies, i.e. disorders of the cardiac muscle, and channelopathies, i.e. ion channel disorders, represent the major forms of inherited cardiac arrhythmia disorders.

Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC) is an inherited arrhythmia disorder characterized by progressive adipose and fibrous tissue replacement of the right ventricular myocardium (Marcus et al. 2010). It is a common cause of SCD in young athletes (Thiene et al. 1988). Since the initial description of ARVC, then termed right ventricular dysplasia (Frank et al. 1978), several pathogenic theories have been suggested. The first disease locus was identified in 1994 in a linkage study (Rampazzo et al. 1994), but the reduced penetrance and variable expressivity of ARVC have complicated the discovery of disease-causing mutations. Autosomal recessive cardiocutaneous syndromes helped in the establishment of desmosomal gene mutations underlying ARVC (McKoy et al. 2000). Thereafter, several desmosomal cell adhesion genes have been associated with the autosomal dominant form of this disorder, but the exact prevalence and significance of these mutations at the population level have not previously been assessed.

Long QT syndrome (LQTS) is a cardiac channelopathy, first described in the 1950s, when patients with prolonged QT interval and increased risk of SCD associated with congenital deafness were documented (Jervell and Lange-Nielsen 1957). The first ion channel genes involved in LQTS were discovered in 1995 using linkage mapping (Curran et al. 1995, Wang et al. 1995). Today, 13 loci affecting the function of cardiac ion channels have been shown to be associated with LQTS. However, as the disease-causing mutations show a significantly reduced penetrance (Priori et al. 1999), current research efforts have focused on additional disease-modifying factors in the risk stratification of LQTS.

Approximately half of all cardiovascular deaths occur suddenly (Fox et al. 2004a). In addition to cardiomyopathies and primary electrical disorders of the heart, coronary heart

disease (CHD) is the most common disorder underlying SCD (Chugh et al. 2008). For example, myocardial infarction may provide a substrate for ventricular tachycardia, which may lead to ventricular fibrillation and cardiac arrest. Risk of SCD is heritable (Jouven et al. 1999, Friedlander et al. 2002), but the genetic variants conveying susceptibility are largely unknown. Recent advances in molecular genetics have enabled the use of genome-wide approaches in the discovery of novel candidate genes for SCD (Alders et al. 2009, Arking et al. 2010, Bezzina et al. 2010, Arking et al. 2011).

The aims of the present study were to identify genetic variants predisposing to cardiac arrhythmia disorders ARVC and LQTS and to assess the prevalence of arrhythmia susceptibility variants and their association with risk of SCD in the Finnish population.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. Molecular basis of inherited cardiac arrhythmia disorders

1.1. Cardiomyopathies

Cardiomyopathies are disorders of the cardiac muscle that may cause heart failure, ventricular arrhythmias, and sudden cardiac death (SCD). Inheritable cardiomyopathies are divided into five distinct disease entities: dilated cardiomyopathy, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC), restrictive cardiomyopathy, and left ventricular noncompaction cardiomyopathy (Watkins et al. 2011). Their inheritance is often autosomal dominant, but also autosomal recessive, X-linked, and mitochondrial inheritance have been reported (Watkins et al. 2011). Various mutations in a single gene may underlie different disease phenotypes, and even within families, carriers of the same mutation may suffer from different types of cardiomyopathies (Mogensen et al. 2003).

Dilated cardiomyopathy manifests with left ventricular dilatation, systolic dysfunction, and myocardial fibrosis. Many disease genes have been identified and they involve distinctive cellular functions, such as nuclear envelope (lamin A and C) (Fatkin et al. 1999), sarcomere structure (β -myosin heavy chain, troponin T, actin) (Olson et al. 1998, Kamisago et al. 2000), force transduction (Cypher/ZASP) (Vatta et al. 2003), cytoskeleton (desmin, δ sarcoglycan) (Li et al. 1999, Tsubata et al. 2000), cell adhesion (desmoplakin, metavinculin) (Norgett et al. 2000, Olson et al. 2002), calcium handling (phospholamban) (Haghighi et al. 2003, Schmitt et al. 2003), transcription (Schönberger et al. 2005), and messenger RNA splicing (Brauch et al. 2009). Despite their functional divergence, many of these mutations lead to impaired generation or transmission of force and ultimately protein and organelle degradation and apoptosis (Watkins et al. 2011).

Patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy show left ventricular hypertrophy, often involving the interventricular septum, and impaired diastolic relaxation. Characteristic features also include myocyte disarray and fibrosis. Disease-causing mutations have been detected in genes encoding sarcomeric proteins (e.g. β -myosin heavy chain, cardiac myosin-binding protein C, cardiac troponin T, and α -tropomyosin) (Geisterfer-Lowrance et al. 1990, Thierfelder et al. 1994, Bonne et al. 1995, Watkins et al. 1995), and genes involved in

energy sensing ($\gamma 2$ subunit of adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase) (Blair et al. 2001) and production (mitochondrial transfer RNAs) (Merante et al. 1994) and myogenic differentiation (muscle LIM protein) (Geier et al. 2008). In contrast to the sarcomeric mutations observed in dilated cardiomyopathy, those associated with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy cause increased contractility and energy consumption (Watkins et al. 2011). The alterations in cardiomyocyte energetics, calcium handling, and signalling pathways ultimately lead to reduced myocyte relaxation and increased myocyte growth (Watkins et al. 2011).

Restrictive cardiomyopathy presents with reduced ventricular diastolic volume without abnormalities in systolic function and cardiac morphology. A single sarcomeric mutation in cardiac troponin I may lead to either restrictive or hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (Mogensen et al. 2003). Sarcomeric mutations associated with restrictive cardiomyopathy have also been reported in troponin T (Peddy et al. 2006), α -cardiac actin (Kaski et al. 2008), and β -myosin heavy chain (Karam et al. 2008). Desmin mutations may be detected in patients with both skeletal and cardiac myopathy (Goldfarb et al. 1998, Arbustini et al. 2006).

Clinical findings in left ventricular noncompaction cardiomyopathy are trabeculations of the left ventricular myocardium and segmental left ventricular wall thickening due to thickened endocardial layer and thin epicardial layer. Mutations in sarcomeric proteins (α -cardiac actin, β -myosin heavy chain, and cardiac troponin T) may cause this disorder as well as other types of cardiomyopathies (Hoedemaekers et al. 2007, Klaassen et al. 2008). Disease-associated mutations have also been detected in the cytoskeletal protein α -dystrobrevin (Ichida et al. 2001), as well as in lamin A and C (Hermida-Prieto et al. 2004), Cypher/ZASP (Vatta et al. 2003), and taffazin (Ichida et al. 2001) proteins.

1.2. Cardiac ion channel disorders

Channelopathies, i.e. ion channel disorders, are caused by mutations in genes encoding ion channels, their subunits, or associated regulatory proteins. In contrast to cardiomyopathies, manifesting with structural changes of the heart, cardiac channelopathies involve mainly electrical instability of the heart, predisposing to ventricular tachyarrhythmias and SCD. The inheritance is usually autosomal dominant or recessive in nature, but the penetrance may be variable (e.g. Swan et al. 1999a, Lahat et al. 2001). Cardiac channelopathies include long

QT syndrome (LQTS), short QT syndrome, Brugada syndrome, catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia (CPVT), and atrial fibrillation (Figure 1). In addition, mutations in the cardiac sodium channel gene *SCN5A* may cause progressive cardiac conduction defect (Schott et al. 1999), sick sinus syndrome (Benson et al. 2003), dilated cardiomyopathy (Bezzina et al. 2003a), and idiopathic ventricular fibrillation (Akai et al. 2000). Also a mutation in the potassium channel gene *KCNJ8* has been identified in a patient with ventricular fibrillation and early repolarization (Haïssaguerre et al. 2009).



Figure 1. Spectrum of cardiac channelopathies caused by different types of ion channel mutations. AF = atrial fibrillation; BrS = Brugada syndrome; CCD = cardiac conduction defect; CPVT = catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia; IVF = idiopathic ventricular fibrillation; JLN = Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome; LQT = long QT syndrome; SQT = short QT syndrome; SSS = sick sinus syndrome. Adapted from Ruan et al. 2009.

Short QT syndrome is characterized by short QT interval and tall and peaked T waves in electrocardiogram (ECG) (Gussak et al. 2000). This disorder of shortened cardiac repolarization predisposes to atrial fibrillation, ventricular tachycardia, and SCD (Gaita et al. 2003). Causative mutations have been reported in the potassium channel genes *KCNH2* (Brugada et al. 2004), *KCNQ1* (Bellocq et al. 2004), and *KCNJ2* (Priori et al. 2005). In short QT syndrome, the potassium channel mutations cause a gain-of-function defect, whereas loss of function of the same channels may lead to long QT syndrome, manifesting with prolonged cardiac repolarization (Curran et al. 1995, Wang et al. 1996, Plaster et al. 2001).

Brugada syndrome presents with elevated ST segments and inverted T waves in the right precordial leads of ECG, associated with increased risk of ventricular fibrillation and SCD (Brugada and Brugada 1992). Loss-of-function mutations in *SCN5A* have been reported in approximately 20% of Brugada syndrome patients (Chen et al. 1998, Kapplinger et al. 2010). Mutations in *GPD1L* gene encoding glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 1-like protein may also cause Brugada syndrome (London et al. 2007). These mutations decrease inward sodium current by reducing cell surface expression of sodium channels (London et al. 2007). Disease-causing mutations have also been reported in *SCN1B* and *SCN3B*, leading to decreased sodium current (Watanabe et al. 2008, Hu et al. 2009), as well as in *KCNE3* and *KCND3*, leading to increased I_{to} potassium current (Delpón et al. 2008, Giudicessi et al. 2011). Brugada syndrome associated with short QT interval is caused by loss-of-function mutations in the calcium channel genes *CACNA1C*, *CACNB2b*, and *CACNA2D1* (Antzelevitch et al. 2007, Burashnikov et al. 2010).

CPVT is a severe disorder causing stress-induced polymorphic ventricular tachycardia without structural abnormalities of the heart (Leenhardt et al. 1995). The baseline ECG is typically normal, while exercise stress test shows premature ventricular complexes in a rate-dependent fashion characteristic of CPVT. After initial mapping to chromosome 1q42-q43 (Swan et al. 1999a), this disorder was revealed to be caused by reduced threshold for calcium-induced calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum due to dominant mutations in the *RYR2* gene encoding the cardiac ryanodine receptor (Laitinen et al. 2001, Priori et al. 2001). Recessive and dominant mutations in *CASQ2*, which encodes the cardiac calcium-binding protein calsequestrin, may also cause CPVT (Lahat et al. 2001, Postma et al. 2002).

Atrial fibrillation is the most common cardiac arrhythmia characterized by rapid fibrillation of atria and consequent irregular ventricular rate. It is often associated with other cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension, heart failure, and valvular disease (Benjamin et al. 1994). Lone atrial fibrillation, which occurs without overt cardiovascular disease in patients under 60 years of age, is more rare but has a greater heritability (Fox et al. 2004b), and therefore, genetic studies have mainly focused on this form of disease. Atrial fibrillation-associated gene mutations have been reported in several ion channels, but also in other types of proteins. Gain-of-function mutations in the potassium channel genes *KCNQ1* (Chen et al. 2003), *KCNE2* (Yang et al. 2004), *KCNJ2* (Xia et al. 2005), *KCNH2* (Hong et

al. 2005), *KCNE3* (Lundby et al. 2008), and *KCNE5* (Ravn et al. 2008) lead to atrial arrhythmia, presumably by shortening the atrial action potential and reducing the effective refractory period (Roberts and Gollob 2010). Loss-of-function mutations in the potassium channel gene *KCNA5* (Olson et al. 2006) and the sodium channel genes *SCN5A* (Ellinor et al. 2008), *SCN1B*, and *SCN2B* (Watanabe et al. 2009) cause the disease by a different mechanism, probably by prolonging the atrial action potential and predisposing to early afterdepolarizations (Roberts and Gollob 2010). Also gain-of-function mutations have been reported in *SCN5A*, leading to hyperexcitability (Makiyama et al. 2008, Li et al. 2009b). Different types of genes associated with atrial fibrillation are *GJA5*, encoding the gap junction protein connexin 40 (Gollob et al. 2006), *NPPA*, encoding atrial natriuretic peptide (Hodgson-Zingman et al. 2008), and *NUP155*, encoding a nucleoporin protein (Zhang et al. 2008). In addition to these rare mutations, several common variants are associated with increased risk of atrial fibrillation, including those in the chromosomal region 4q25 near *PITX2* (Gudbjartsson et al. 2007), *ZFHX3* in 16q22 (Benjamin et al. 2009, Gudbjartsson et al. 2009), and *KCNN3* in 1p21 (Ellinor et al. 2010).

2. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC)

2.1. Cell-cell junctions of cardiomyocytes

The intercalated disks, which connect adjacent cardiomyocytes, consist of three types of adhering junctions: gap junctions, adherens junctions, and desmosomes. Gap junctions couple the cells electrically, whereas adherens junctions and desmosomes anchor the cardiomyocytes mechanically by connecting the myofibrils and cytoskeletons of neighbouring cells. In cardiomyocytes, the components of the different types of junctions may localize together and form junctions of mixed type called *area composita* (Borrmann et al. 2006, Franke et al. 2006).

Gap junctions

Gap junctions are groups of gap junction channels, each composed of two connexons located in the cell membranes of adjacent cells. Each connexon consists of six connexin molecules surrounding the central pore (Yeager and Gilula 1992). Ions and small molecules of up to 1 kD, such as second messengers, can pass through the pore (Elfgang et al. 1995). The selective permeability is regulated by membrane voltage (Bennett and Verselis 1992), intracellular pH (Spray et al. 1981), calcium ion concentration (Rose and Loewenstein 1975), and connexin phosphorylation (Swenson et al. 1990). Gap junctions are responsible for spreading electrical excitation in the heart (Barr et al. 1965). In this organ, three main types of connexins are expressed: connexin 40, connexin 43, and connexin 45. Connexin 43 is the predominant type in ventricles, but also connexin 40 and connexin 45 are detected in the atria and atrioventricular conduction system (Vozzi et al. 1999). Mutations in connexin 43 may lead to complex heart malformations (Britz-Cunningham et al. 1995) and mutations in connexin 40 to atrial fibrillation (Gollob et al. 2006).

Adherens junctions

Adherens junctions attach cells together mechanically and connect the myofibrils to the cell membrane (Geiger et al. 1980). Components of adherens junctions also participate in signal transduction and gene expression regulation in the nucleus. For example, β -catenin may be involved in cell growth control, development, and differentiation (Funayama et al. 1995). N-cadherin is a transmembrane glycoprotein, which mediates calcium-dependent intercellular adhesion by homophilic interactions (Nose et al. 1990). N-cadherin interacts with α -catenin,

β-catenin, and plakoglobin (γ-catenin) by its catenin-binding domain (Stappert and Kemler 1994), and α-catenin can bind to the actin filament either directly (Rimm et al. 1995) or via α-actinin (Knudsen et al. 1995) or vinculin (Watabe-Uchida et al. 1998). The function of adherens junctions may be regulated by controlling cadherin expression (Steinberg and Takeichi 1994), lateral clustering of cadherin complexes (Yap et al. 1997), protein-protein interactions (Reynolds et al. 1994), and protein phosphorylation (Hamaguchi et al. 1993). Dysfunction of adherens junctions may lead to dilated or hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (Olson et al. 2002, Vasile et al. 2006a, Vasile et al. 2006b).

Desmosomes

Desmosomes form dense membrane-associated plaques that anchor intermediate filaments of the cytoskeleton to the cell membrane (Figure 2). These cell-cell junctions are abundant in tissues subject to mechanical stress such as the myocardium and epidermis. Desmosomal components also participate in signalling pathways involved in cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis (Allen et al. 1996, Hakimelahi et al. 2000, Chidgey et al. 2001, Merritt et al. 2002). Desmosomal cadherins desmoglein and desmocollin are transmembrane glycoproteins involved in either heterophilic or homophilic interaction with cadherins of the neighbouring cell (Chitaev and Troyanovsky 1997, Marcozzi et al. 1998, Syed et al. 2002). This adhesion is calcium-dependent, but calcium-independent interaction occurs in the hyperadhesive state of desmosomes (Garrod et al. 2005). Armadillo proteins plakoglobin and plakophilin interact directly with desmosomal cadherins and desmoplakin (Witcher et al. 1996, Kowalczyk et al. 1997, Chen et al. 2002). Desmoplakin, in turn, functions as a link between the desmosomal plaque and intermediate filaments such as desmin in the myocardium (Kouklis et al. 1994). Plakoglobin and plakophilin are detected also in the nucleus, where they participate in the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway and transcriptional regulation (Kolligs et al. 2000, Mertens et al. 2001, Chen et al. 2002). In the cytoplasm, plakophilin may regulate translation initiation (Wolf et al. 2010) and actin cytoskeleton organization (Hatzfeld et al. 2000). Desmosomes are regulated by growth factors and serine and tyrosine phosphorylation by protein kinases (Amar et al. 1999, Gaudry et al. 2001, Miravet et al. 2003). Desmosomal proteins are also targets for caspase cleavage directing the cell to apoptosis (Weiske et al. 2001). Mutations in desmosomal genes may cause ARVC as well as disorders of the skin and hair (McGrath et al. 1997, Armstrong et al. 1999, Gerull et al. 2004).



Figure 2. Schematic representation of desmosomal structure. Adapted from Green and Gaudry 2000.

2.2. Clinical features of ARVC

Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC), also called arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia (ARVD), is a severe disorder of the myocardium. In ARVC, ventricular cardiomyocytes are progressively replaced by adipose and fibrous tissue (Nava et al. 1988, Thiene et al. 1988). This substitution is associated with structural and functional changes involving predominantly the right ventricle. The structural manifestations include ventricular dilatation and thinning, hypokinesia, and aneurysms of the ventricular wall, which are often concentrated in the right ventricular inflow, outflow, and apical regions, designated the "triangle of dysplasia" (Frank et al. 1978, Marcus et al. 1982, Blomström-Lundqvist et al. 1988, Lobo et al. 1992, Fontaine et al. 1998). The prevalence of ARVC is estimated to be between 1:1000 and 1:5000 (Rampazzo et al. 1994, Peters et al. 2004), but this condition may be underdiagnosed because of its progressive nature and variable expressivity. The mean age at diagnosis is approximately 30 years, and males are more often affected than females, with an estimated gender ratio of 1.6:1 (Nava et al. 2000).

Along with the structural changes of the myocardium, ARVC manifests with electrical instability of the heart. T-wave inversion in right precordial leads, epsilon waves, and widening of the QRS complex may be detected in resting ECG, and late potentials in signal-averaged ECG (McKenna et al. 1994). Frequent ventricular premature complexes may be recorded in Holter monitoring (McKenna et al. 1994). Ventricular tachycardia originating from the right ventricle is characteristic for ARVC patients and may lead to ventricular fibrillation and SCD (Marcus et al. 1982, Thiene et al. 1988). The diagnosis is based on

classification of clinical findings into major and minor criteria according to the revised Task Force diagnostic procedure (Marcus et al. 2010), as described in Table 1. Definitive diagnosis requires fulfilment of 2 major, 1 major plus 2 minor, or 4 minor criteria from different categories. Borderline diagnosis requires fulfilment of 1 major plus 1 minor, or 3 minor criteria, and possible diagnosis fulfilment of 1 major or 2 minor criteria.

Table 1.	Revised	Task Ford	e criteria	for diag	nosis of	ARVC	(Marcus	et al.	2010)
							`		

Major criteria	Minor criteria		
I. Global or regional dysfunction and structu	Iral alterations		
2D echo: regional RV akinesia, dyskinesia, or aneurysm; and 1 of the following: -PLAX RVOT ≥32 mm (corrected for body size [PLAX/BSA] ≥19 mm/m ²) -PSAX RVOT ≥36 mm (corrected for body size [PSAX/BSA] ≥21 mm/m ²) -fractional area change ≤33%	2D echo: regional RV akinesia or dyskinesia; and 1 of the following: -PLAX RVOT ≥29 to <32 mm (corrected for body size [PLAX/BSA] ≥16 to <19 mm/m ²) -PSAX RVOT ≥32 to <36 mm (corrected for body size [PSAX/BSA] ≥18 to <21 mm/m ²) -fractional area change >33% to ≤40%		
MRI: regional RV akinesia or dyskinesia or dyssynchronous RV contraction; and 1 of the following: -ratio of RV end-diastolic volume to BSA ≥110 ml/m ² (male) or ≥100 ml/m ² (female) -RV ejection fraction ≤40%	MRI: regional RV akinesia or dyskinesia or dyssynchronous RV contraction; and 1 of the following: -ratio of RV end-diastolic volume to BSA \geq 100 to <110 ml/m ² (male) or \geq 90 to <100 ml/m ² (female) -RV ejection fraction >40% to \leq 45%		
RV angiography: regional RV akinesia, dyskinesia, or aneurysm			
II. Tissue characterization of wall			
Residual myocytes <60% by morphometric analysis (or <50% if estimated), with fibrous replacement of the RV free wall myocardium in ≥1 sample, with or without fatty replacement of tissue on endomyocardial biopsy	Residual myocytes 60% to 75% by morphometric analysis (or 50% to 65% if estimated), with fibrous replacement of the RV free wall myocardium in ≥1 sample, with or without fatty replacement of tissue on endomyocardial biopsy		
III. Repolarization abnormalities			
Inverted T waves in right precordial leads (V1-V3) or beyond in individuals >14 years of age (in the absence of complete RBBB QRS ≥120 ms)	Inverted T waves in leads V1 and V2 in individuals >14 years of age (in the absence of complete RBBB) or in V4, V5, or V6		
	Inverted T waves in leads V1-V4 in individuals >14 years of age in the presence of complete RBBB		

Major criteria	Minor criteria		
IV. Depolarization/conduction abnormalities			
Epsilon wave (reproducible low-amplitude signals between end of QRS complex to onset of the T wave) in the right precordial leads (V1-V3)	Late potentials by SAECG in \geq 1 of 3 parameters in the absence of a QRS duration of \geq 110 ms on standard ECG		
	Filtered QRS duration (fQRS) ≥114 ms		
	Duration of terminal QRS <40 µV (low- amplitude signal duration) ≥38 ms		
	Root-mean-square voltage of terminal 40 ms ≤20 µV		
	Terminal activation duration of QRS ≥55 ms measured from the nadir of the S wave to the end of the QRS, including R', in V1, V2, or V3, in the absence of complete RBBB		
V. Arrhythmias			
Non-sustained or sustained VT of LBBB morphology with superior axis (negative or indeterminate QRS in leads II, III, and aVF and positive in lead aVL)	Non-sustained or sustained VT of RV outflow configuration, LBBB morphology with inferior axis (positive QRS in leads II, III, and aVF and negative in lead aVL) or of unknown axis		
	>500 ventricular extrasystoles per 24 h (Holter)		
VI. Family history			
ARVC confirmed in a first-degree relative who meets current Task Force criteria	History of ARVC in a first-degree relative in whom it is not possible or practical to determine whether the family member meets current Task Force criteria		
ARVC confirmed pathologically at autopsy or surgery in a first-degree relative	Premature sudden death (<35 years of age) due to suspected ARVC in a first-degree relative		
Pathogenic mutation (associated or probably associated with ARVC) in the patient under evaluation	ARVC confirmed pathologically or by current Task Force criteria in a second-degree relative		

BSA = body surface area; 2D echo = two-dimensional echocardiography; ECG = electrocardiography; LBBB = left bundle branch block; MRI = magnetic resonance imaging; PLAX = parasternal long-axis view; PSAX = parasternal short-axis view; RBBB = right bundle branch block; RV = right ventricular; RVOT = RV outflow tract; SAECG = signal-averaged ECG; VT = ventricular tachycardia.

Due to the progressive nature of ARVC, four different clinicopathological phases of disease can be recognized in the patients (Blomström-Lundqvist et al. 1987, Corrado et al. 1997, Corrado et al. 2000b). In the concealed phase, only subtle right ventricular abnormalities are present and the patients are asymptomatic but nevertheless at risk for SCD. In the overt electrical phase, the patients develop arrhythmias and functional and morphological abnormalities of the right ventricle. The third phase involves right ventricular failure. Ultimately, the disorder may lead to biventricular heart failure in the most advanced phase. However, left ventricular involvement may be detected also in earlier phases of the disease (Sen-Chowdhry et al. 2008). The patients are treated with medication for arrhythmias and cardiac insufficiency, implantable cardioverter-defibrillator, catheter ablation, and ultimately cardiac transplantation (Wichter et al. 1992, Corrado et al. 2000a). ARVC patients are also advised to avoid extreme physical exertion (Sen-Chowdhry et al. 2004).

2.3. Genetics of ARVC

ARVC has been reported to occur familially in 30-70% of cases (Hamid et al. 2002, Dalal et al. 2005, van Tintelen et al. 2006). The mode of inheritance is usually autosomal dominant, with markedly reduced penetrance (Nava et al. 1988). However, compound heterozygosity and digenic heterozygosity are often detected in patients with severe disease (Bhuiyan et al. 2009, den Haan et al. 2009, Bauce et al. 2010). Environmental factors, such as oestrogen, athletic activity, and viral infections, are suggested to affect the disease penetrance in addition to genetic variants (Awad et al. 2008). ARVC is a disorder of the desmosome, as mutations in each of the components of the cardiac desmosomes, plakophilin-2, desmoplakin, desmoglein-2, desmocollin-2, and plakoglobin, have been documented in ARVC patients (Table 2). In addition, several chromosomal loci with non-desmosomal or unknown disease-associated genes have been identified in individual ARVC families.

Several disease mechanisms have been suggested in the pathogenesis of ARVC. Firstly, the disruption of desmosomal organization by mutations in the desmosomal components may lead to loss of myocyte adhesion, and consequently, cell death, which is enhanced by physical strain (Awad et al. 2008, Delmar and McKenna 2010). The myocytes have limited regenerative capacity, and therefore, their death might lead to a repair mechanism by fibrous and adipose tissue replacement. The right ventricle may be especially vulnerable to this loss of myocyte adhesion because of its thin walls and its high ability to dilate (Awad et al. 2008, Delmar and McKenna 2010). Secondly, desmosomal mutations lead to redistribution of plakoglobin to the nucleus, where it suppresses the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway (Garcia-Gras et al. 2006, Asimaki et al. 2009). This causes increased expression of transcriptional regulators of adipogenesis, which has been suggested to lead to differentiation of cardiac progenitor cells into adipocytes instead of cardiomyocytes (Garcia-Gras et al. 2009). Suppression of Wnt/ β -catenin signalling also leads to increased apoptosis (Longo et al. 2002), which is detected in the myocardium of ARVC

patients (Mallat et al. 1996). The third possible disease mechanism involves impairment of the localization and conductivity of the gap junctional protein connexin 43 due to decreased expression of plakophilin-2 (Oxford et al. 2007) or disrupted interaction with desmocollin-2 (Gehmlich et al. 2011). This gap junctional remodelling might lead to an increased propensity for arrhythmias.

ARVC pathogenesis may also involve altered calcium homeostasis or sodium current. A gain-of-function mutation in plakoglobin creates a novel interaction with histidine-rich calcium-binding protein, as detected in a yeast-two-hybrid screen (Asimaki et al. 2007). If a similar defect occurs also in patient cardiomyocytes, it could promote arrhythmias by disturbed calcium signalling. Plakophilin-2 interacts with the α subunit of the cardiac sodium channel (Sato et al. 2009). Loss of plakophilin-2 leads therefore to alterations of the amplitude and voltage-gating kinetics of the sodium current, which may predispose desmosomal mutation carriers to reentrant arrhythmias (Sato et al. 2009).

ARVC subtype	Locus	Gene	Protein	Reference			
Autosomal dominant							
ARVC1	14q24	TGFB3	transforming growth factor β3	Rampazzo et al. 1994, Beffagna et al. 2005			
ARVC2	1q43	RYR2	cardiac ryanodine receptor	Rampazzo et al. 1995, Tiso et al. 2001			
ARVC3	14q12-q22	N/A	N/A	Severini et al. 1996			
ARVC4	2q32.1-q32.3	N/A	N/A	Rampazzo et al. 1997			
ARVC5	3p23	TMEM43	transmembrane protein 43	Ahmad et al. 1998, Merner et al. 2008			
ARVC6	10p12-p14	N/A	N/A	Li et al. 2000			
ARVC7	10q22.3	N/A	N/A	Melberg et al. 1999			
ARVC8	6p24	DSP	desmoplakin	Rampazzo et al. 2002			
ARVC9	12p11	PKP2	plakophilin-2	Gerull et al. 2004			
ARVC10	18q12	DSG2	desmoglein-2	Awad et al. 2006a, Pilichou et al. 2006			
ARVC11	18q12	DSC2	desmocollin-2	Syrris et al. 2006b			
ARVC12	17q21	JUP	plakoglobin	Asimaki et al. 2007			
ARVC13	2q35	DES	desmin	Klauke et al. 2010			
Autosomal recessive							
Naxos disease	17q21	JUP	plakoglobin	McKoy et al. 2000			
Syndromic ARVC	6p24	DSP	desmoplakin	Alcalai et al. 2003			
Syndromic ARVC	18q12	DSC2	desmocollin-2	Simpson et al. 2009			

Table 2. Chromosomal loci and genes identified in linkage and association studies of ARVC

N/A = not available (gene unknown).

Plakophilin-2

Plakophilin-2 belongs to the armadillo family of proteins and contains an amino-terminal head domain and nine armadillo repeat motifs (Mertens et al. 1996). It is expressed in most desmosome-containing tissues, and in cardiomyocytes, it is the only desmosomal plakophilin (Mertens et al. 1996, Mertens et al. 1999). This protein is essential for heart morphogenesis and localization of desmoplakin to cell junctions in mice (Grossmann et al. 2004). Mutations in *PKP2* constitute a common cause of ARVC, accounting for approximately 30% of reported cases (Gerull et al. 2004, Antoniades et al. 2006, Dalal et al. 2006, Pilichou et al. 2006, Syrris et al. 2006a, den Haan et al. 2009, Qiu et al. 2009, Christensen et al. 2010, Fressart et al. 2010, Xu et al. 2010, Cox et al. 2011). Most mutations are dominant with significantly reduced penetrance, but recessive and compound heterozygous mutations have also been identified in several patients (Awad et al. 2006b, Xu et al. 2010). Large exonic deletions in *PKP2* can also be detected in a small number of patients (Cox et al. 2011).

Desmoplakin

Desmoplakin is a member of the plakin family and forms homodimers via its coiled-coil alpha-helical rod domain (Kowalczyk et al. 1994). It is expressed in all desmosome-containing tissues (Leung et al. 2002). Complete loss of desmoplakin is lethal in mice (Gallicano et al. 1998). Cardiac-restricted heterozygous deletion of desmoplakin leads to a phenotype resembling ARVC in a mouse model (Garcia-Gras et al. 2006), as does overexpression of a desmoplakin missense mutation (Yang et al. 2006). *DSP* mutations can be detected in approximately 5% of ARVC cases, many of them featuring left ventricular involvement (Pilichou et al. 2006, Yang et al. 2006, den Haan et al. 2009, Christensen et al. 2010, Fressart et al. 2010, Xu et al. 2010, Cox et al. 2011).

Desmoglein-2

Desmoglein-2 and desmocollin-2 are expressed in all desmosome-containing tissues and are the only desmosomal cadherins expressed in the heart (Schäfer et al. 1994, Nuber et al. 1995). Desmoglein-2 is needed for embryonic stem cell proliferation in mice (Eshkind et al. 2002). Mice overexpressing a *DSG2* missense mutation manifest with features resembling ARVC and develop myocyte necrosis (Pilichou et al. 2009). *DSG2* mutations are detected in approximately 7% of ARVC patients (Awad et al. 2006a, Heuser et al. 2006, Pilichou et al.

2006, Syrris et al. 2007, den Haan et al. 2009, Christensen et al. 2010, Fressart et al. 2010, Xu et al. 2010, Cox et al. 2011).

Desmocollin-2

DSC2 knockdown in zebrafish embryos leads to desmosomal dysfunction and myocardial contractility defects, suggesting that desmocollin-2 is needed for cardiac morphogenesis and function (Heuser et al. 2006). *DSC2* mutations are rare in ARVC, accounting for only 2% of reported cases (Heuser et al. 2006, Syrris et al. 2006b, den Haan et al. 2009, Christensen et al. 2010, Fressart et al. 2010, Xu et al. 2010, Cox et al. 2011).

Plakoglobin

Plakoglobin (γ -catenin) is a member of the armadillo protein family and contains 13 armadillo repeat motifs (Franke et al. 1989). It is located in both desmosomes and adherens junctions as well as in the nucleus. Homozygous deletion of *JUP* is lethal and leads to severe heart defects in mice (Bierkamp et al. 1996, Ruiz et al. 1996). Heterozygous plakoglobin-deficient mice develop an ARVC-like phenotype, which is precipitated by endurance training (Kirchhof et al. 2006). Dominant *JUP* mutations can be detected in approximately 1% of ARVC cases (den Haan et al. 2009, Christensen et al. 2010, Fressart et al. 2010, Xu et al. 2010, Cox et al. 2011).

Other genes associated with ARVC

Mutations in cardiac ryanodine receptor have been identified in families with effort-induced polymorphic tachycardias (Rampazzo et al. 1995, Tiso et al. 2001), a phenotype resembling *RYR2*-linked CPVT. Mutations in the untranslated region of *TGFB3*, encoding the multifunctional cytokine transforming growth factor β 3, have been identified in two ARVC probands (Beffagna et al. 2005). However, no mutations in the protein-coding region of *TGFB3* have yet been reported in ARVC. Transmembrane protein 43 is a nuclear membrane protein in many cell types, but in cardiomyocytes, it localizes to the cell membrane (Bengtsson and Otto 2008, Christensen et al. 2011). Mutations of *TMEM43* have been identified in a fully penetrant and lethal form of ARVC (Merner et al. 2008) and in Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy-related myopathy (Liang et al. 2011). Mutations in the intermediate filament protein desmin are associated with skeletal and cardiac myopathy (Goldfarb et al. 1998), but also with ARVC without skeletal muscle involvement (Klauke et

al. 2010). Recently, mutations in *TTN*, located near the ARVC4 locus and encoding the sarcomeric protein titin (Taylor et al. 2011), and in *PLN*, encoding phospholamban (van der Zwaag et al. 2012), were reported in families with ARVC.

2.4. Syndromic forms of ARVC

Syndromic forms of ARVC involving skin and hair abnormalities follow an autosomal recessive mode of inheritance and are associated with mutations in the desmosomal genes. Naxos disease patients suffer from non-epidermolytic palmoplantar keratoderma, woolly hair, and ARVC (Protonotarios et al. 1986). A homozygous deletion in the last armadillo repeat of plakoglobin has been reported in all affected cases (McKoy et al. 2000). A homozygous missense mutation in plakoglobin has been identified in a similar syndrome with palmoplantar keratoderma, alopecia, and ARVC (Erken et al. 2011). Symptoms of Carvajal syndrome include epidermolytic palmoplantar keratoderma, woolly hair, and dilated cardiomyopathy with predominant left ventricular involvement (Carvajal-Huerta 1998). Affected patients are homozygous for a deletion in the carboxy terminus of desmoplakin (Norgett et al. 2000). A similar syndrome with pemphigous-like skin disorder, woolly hair, and cardiomyopathy described as ARVC due to predominantly right ventricular involvement is caused by a homozygous missense mutation in the carboxy terminus of desmoplakin (Alcalai et al. 2003). A homozygous mutation in desmocollin-2 has been identified in patients with ARVC, mild palmoplantar keratoderma, and woolly hair (Simpson et al. 2009).

3. Long QT syndrome (LQTS)

3.1. Cardiac ion channels

Cardiac action potential is generated by sequential opening and closing of ion channels located in the plasma membrane of cardiomyocytes (Figure 3). The resting membrane potential of ventricular cardiomyocytes is negative, approximately -85 mV (Amin et al. 2010). Depolarization is caused by the inward sodium current (I_{Na}). Early repolarization by the transient outward potassium current (I_{to}) is followed by a plateau phase, in which potassium outflow by the rapidly (I_{Kr}) and slowly (I_{Ks}) activated delayed rectifier currents is balanced by the L-type inward calcium current ($I_{Ca,L}$). The negative membrane potential is restored in the repolarization phase by the delayed outward rectifier potassium currents after the inactivation of the $I_{Ca,L}$ channels. In the resting phase, the negative membrane potential is maintained by the inward rectifier potassium current (I_{K1}). Calcium influx in the plateau phase initiates calcium-induced calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum through activation of the cardiac ryanodine receptor complex. The elevation of intracellular calcium concentration couples excitation with contraction in cardiomyocytes (Amin et al. 2010).



Figure 3. Action potential of a ventricular cardiomyocyte and the main ion currents contributing to each phase (0-4). Adapted from Amin et al. 2010.

Cardiac ion channels consist of pore-forming α -subunits and accessory β -subunits. The α subunit of sodium and calcium channels comprises four repeats of a domain structure (DI-DIV), each containing six transmembrane segments (S1-S6) (Gellens et al. 1992). The pore loop of the channel is located between S5 and S6, and segment S4 is responsible for voltagedependent activation (Stühmer et al. 1989). I_{to} , I_{Kr} , and I_{Ks} channels consist of a single domain with six transmembrane segments, and I_{K1} of a single domain with two transmembrane segments (MacKinnon 1991). Voltage-gated potassium channel α -subunits co-assemble to form a functional tetramer structure (MacKinnon 1991).

The main ion channels of ventricular cardiomyocytes are listed in Table 3. Most of these channels have several β -subunits or regulatory proteins affecting their function. For example, minK encoded by *KCNE1* and MiRP1 encoded by *KCNE2* are required for generation of I_{Ks} and I_{Kr} currents (Barhanin et al. 1996, Sanguinetti et al. 1996, McDonald et al. 1997, Abbott et al. 1999). In addition, cardiac ion channels may be regulated by membrane voltage, ion concentrations, phosphorylation, second messengers, ligand binding, channel-blocking agents, and microRNAs (Amin et al. 2010).

Current	α-subunit	α-subunit gene	Reference
I _{Na}	Na _v 1.5	SCN5A	Gellens et al. 1992
I _{to,fast}	K _v 4.3	KCND3	Kong et al. 1998
I _{to,slow}	K _v 1.4	KCNA4	Tamkun et al. 1991
I _{Ca,L}	Ca _v 1.2	CACNA1C	Schultz et al. 1993
I _{Kr}	K _v 11.1	KCNH2	Warmke and Ganetzky 1994
I _{Ks}	K _v 7.1	KCNQ1	Wang et al. 1996
I _{K1}	Kir2.1	KCNJ2	Raab-Graham et al. 1994
I _{NCX}	NCX1	SLC8A1	Komuro et al. 1992

Table 3. Main ion currents during the action potential of ventricular cardiomyocytes

3.2. Clinical features of LQTS

Long QT syndrome (LQTS) is a severe electrical disorder of the heart manifesting with risks of ventricular arrhythmias and SCD despite a structurally normal heart. Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome was the first reported form of LQTS (Jervell and Lange-Nielsen 1957). This autosomal recessive disorder features also congenital deafness due to a potassium secretion defect in the inner ear (Vetter et al. 1996). The estimated prevalence of Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome is 1:55 000-1:200 000 (Tranebjaerg et al. 1999). Romano-Ward

syndrome (Romano et al. 1963, Ward 1964), the autosomal dominant form of LQTS, is more common, with prevalence estimates ranging from 1:2000 to 1:5000 (Goldenberg and Moss 2008, Schwartz et al. 2009). The average age of onset is 12 years, but symptoms may begin any time between early childhood and the age of 40 years (Priori et al. 2003).

LQTS is characterized by prolonged QT interval on ECG, an indication of delayed repolarization. Ventricular tachycardia typically occurs in the form of *torsades de pointes*, which can be seen in ECG as twisting of the QRS axis and may lead to ventricular fibrillation and ultimately to SCD (Viskin et al. 1996). The extent of QT prolongation predicts the risk of cardiac events (Zareba et al. 1995). Since QT interval duration is rate-dependent, it is generally corrected for heart rate according to Bazett's formula (QTc = QT/ \sqrt{RR}) (Bazett 1920). QTc \leq 440 ms has often been considered normal (Vincent et al. 1992). A specific diagnostic scoring system, which takes into account both ECG findings and clinical and family history, is suitable for individuals with borderline prolonged QT interval or those without symptoms (Schwartz et al. 1993). Exercise stress test is especially useful for differentiating the subtypes LQT1 and LQT2 (Swan et al. 1999b).

The expressivity and penetrance of LQTS are variable and the symptoms may vary considerably even within a single family (Priori et al. 1999). Patient history, including syncope and cardiac arrest, family history, QTc interval duration, and sex, as well as information on mutated locus and mutation type can be used for risk stratification of LQTS patients (Moss et al. 2000, Moss et al. 2002, Priori et al. 2003). Arrhythmic events of LQTS patients can be prevented with beta blocker therapy, or more rarely with left cardiac sympathetic denervation, and treated with an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (Zipes et al. 2006). Lifestyle advice includes avoidance of QT-prolonging medication, electrolyte disturbances, and adrenergic stimuli (Zipes et al. 2006). Patients with LQT1 are recommended to refrain from competitive sports and swimming, and patients with LQT2 to avoid exposure to auditory stimuli, especially during sleep (Schwartz et al. 2001).

Acquired LQTS may be caused by environmental factors, such as QT-prolonging medication or electrolyte disturbances, which affect the function of cardiac ion channels (Roden 2004). It may also arise from ischaemic or structural heart disease or congestive heart failure (Roden 2004). Although acquired LQTS is not usually inherited, certain genetic

variants may predispose to it in the presence of an additional trigger (Abbott et al. 1999, Napolitano et al. 2000, Sesti et al. 2000, Lehtonen et al. 2007).

3.3. Genetics of LQTS

LQTS results from defective function of cardiac ion channels. Thus far, 13 genes have been reported to be associated with LQTS (Table 4), but many of them are mutated only in individual families (Bokil et al. 2010). These genes encode the α -subunits of cardiac ion channels (*KCNQ1*, *KCNH2*, *SCN5A*, *KCNJ2*, *CACNA1C*, and *KCNJ5*), but also the regulatory β -subunits (*KCNE1*, *KCNE2*, and *SCN4B*), ion-channel scaffolding proteins (*AKAP9* and *SNTA1*), and proteins targeting the ion channels to the cell membrane or altering the biophysical properties of ion channels (*ANK2* and *CAV3*). Mutations in these genes are detected in up to 70% of LQTS cases, which is suggestive of additional disease loci (Napolitano et al. 2005, Bai et al. 2009). Most mutations are of missense type, but also frameshift, nonsense, and splice site mutations occur frequently. Recently, large copy number variants in *KCNQ1* and *KCNH2* were reported to account for approximately 3% of LQTS cases without point mutations in the known LQTS genes (Barc et al. 2011).

Most LQTS mutations cause either a loss of function in the repolarizing potassium currents or a gain of function in the depolarizing sodium or calcium currents. Both types of defects result in prolongation of the repolarization phase. It is also possible that these defects lead to reduced repolarization reserve manifesting in LQTS symptoms only after an additional stimulus, such as adrenergic stimulation, bradycardia, or use of QT-prolonging medication, affects repolarization (Roden 1998). Delayed repolarization predisposes to early and delayed afterdepolarizations, which trigger a *torsades de pointes* type of arrhythmia (Antzelevitch 2007). Arrhythmias may also be caused by a reentry mechanism due to increased transmural dispersion of repolarization (Antzelevitch 2007).

LQTS subtype	Gene	Protein	Functional defect	Trigger of symptoms	Reference
Autosom	al dominant				
LQT1	KCNQ1	K _v 7.1	I _{Ks} ↓	Exercise, swimming, emotion	Wang et al. 1996
LQT2	KCNH2	K _v 11.1	I _{Kr} ↓	Sound, emotion	Curran et al. 1995
LQT3	SCN5A	Na _v 1.5	I _{Na} ↑	Sleep, rest, emotion	Wang et al. 1995
LQT4	ANK2	Ankyrin B	I _{Na,K} , I _{NCX} , I _{Na} ↓	Exercise	Mohler et al. 2003
LQT5	KCNE1	minK	I _{Ks} ↓	Exercise, emotion	Splawski et al. 1997
LQT6	KCNE2	MiRP1	I _{Kr} ↓	Rest, exercise	Abbott et al. 1999
LQT7 (AS)	KCNJ2	Kir2.1	I _{K1} ↓	Rest, exercise	Plaster et al. 2001
LQT8 (TS)	CACNA1C	Ca _v 1.2	$I_{Ca,L}$ \uparrow	Exercise, emotion	Splawski et al. 2004
LQT9	CAV3	M-Caveolin	I _{Na} ↑	Rest, sleep	Vatta et al. 2006
LQT10	SCN4B	Na _v β4	I _{Na} ↑	Exercise	Medeiros-Domingo et al. 2007
LQT11	AKAP9	Yotiao	I _{Ks} ↓	Exercise	Chen et al. 2007
LQT12	SNTA1	α1- Syntrophin	I _{Na} ↑	Rest	Ueda et al. 2008
LQT13	KCNJ5	Kir3.4	I _{KACh} ↓	Exercise, emotion	Yang et al. 2010
Autosom	al recessive				
JLNS1	KCNQ1	K _v 7.1	$I_{KS}\downarrow$	Exercise, swimming, emotion	Tyson et al. 1997
JLNS2	KCNE1	minK	$I_{Ks}\downarrow$	Exercise, swimming, emotion	Tyson et al. 1997

Table 4. Genes and related functional defects associated with LQTS

AS = Andersen's syndrome; JLNS = Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome; TS = Timothy syndrome.

In Finland, the four founder mutations *KCNQ1* G589D, *KCNQ1* IVS7-2A>G, *KCNH2* L552S, and *KCNH2* R176W account for the majority of the known genetic spectrum of LQTS (Piippo et al. 2001, Fodstad et al. 2004). Only 23-38% of the carriers of these mutations are symptomatic, indicating a role for other genetic and environmental disease-modifying factors (Fodstad et al. 2004). These founder mutations have clustered in the Finnish population due to the unique population history of Finland, with small founder populations, bottleneck effects, and geographic and cultural isolation (Sajantila et al. 1996, Peltonen et al. 1999). One in 250 Finns carry one of these four mutations, which prolong the QT interval by 22-50 ms when studied at the population level (Marjamaa et al. 2009b).

LQT1

The first LQTS locus was assigned to chromosome 11p15.5 in a linkage study (Keating et al. 1991). Positional cloning revealed *KCNQ1* (also called *KVLQT1*) as the disease-associated gene (Wang et al. 1996). Mice with a homozygous disruption of the *Kcnq1* gene show a shaker/waltzer phenotype and deafness in addition to prolongation of QT and JT intervals and abnormal T- and P-wave morphologies, a cardiac phenotype comparable to Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome (Casimiro et al. 2001). Approximately 50% of LQTS patients with a genetic diagnosis harbour mutations in *KCNQ1* (Napolitano et al. 2005).

LQT2

Chromosome 7q35-q36 was identified as the second loci linked to LQTS (Jiang et al. 1994). Mapping of *KCNH2* (also called *HERG*, the human ether-a-go-go-related gene) to this region and detection of mutations in this gene in LQTS patients revealed *KCNH2* as the disease-associated gene in LQT2 (Curran et al. 1995). Homozygous deletion of the homologous gene in mice leads to elimination of the I_{Kr} current and episodic sinus bradycardia (Lees-Miller et al. 2003). Approximately 40% of genetically defined LQTS patients have mutations in *KCNH2* (Napolitano et al. 2005). Mutations located in the poreforming region have been associated with a more severe disease phenotype than other mutations (Moss et al. 2002).

LQT3

LQT3 locus in 3p21 was reported together with LQT2 in a linkage study (Jiang et al. 1994). In a subsequent study, an intragenic deletion of *SCN5A* was detected as the disease-causing mutation in two families (Wang et al. 1995). A corresponding heterozygous deletion in mice causes sudden accelerations in heart rate, lengthening of the action potential, and ventricular arrhythmias (Nuyens et al. 2001), whereas homozygous disruption of *Scn5a* leads to intrauterine lethality (Papadatos et al. 2002). Mutations in *SCN5A* account for approximately 10% of LQTS patients with a genetic diagnosis (Napolitano et al. 2005).

3.4. Genetics of QT interval and LQTS modifier genes

QT interval has a heritability of 35-40% in the general populaton (Newton-Cheh et al. 2005, Li et al. 2009a). Previously, genetic studies of QT interval concentrated mainly on candidate genes identified through association with LQTS. Consequently, several common variants in the LOTS genes, such as KCNE1 D85N (rs1805128) and KCNH2 K897T (rs1805123), were reported to be associated with OT interval duration in the general population (Pietilä et al. 2002, Bezzina et al. 2003b, Gouas et al. 2005, Pfeufer et al. 2005, Newton-Cheh et al. 2007, Marjamaa et al. 2009a). More recently, genome-wide association (GWA) studies have enabled the hypothesis-free search of QT interval-associated loci. This approach has revealed several associated loci of unknown function in addition to the known LQTS loci (Table 5). The NOSIAP locus in 1q23 consistently shows the statistically strongest association with OT interval (Arking et al. 2006, Marroni et al. 2009, Newton-Cheh et al. 2009b, Nolte et al. 2009, Pfeufer et al. 2009). NOSIAP encodes the neuronal nitric oxide synthase 1 adaptor protein, which modulates cardiac repolarization by inhibition of I_{Ca,L} current and enhancement of I_{Kr} current (Chang et al. 2008). Together, the known loci explain only up to 10% of the heritability of OT interval (Newton-Cheh et al. 2009b, Jamshidi et al. 2010), suggesting a role for additional still unknown OT interval-modifying loci.

Chr.	Position*	Nearest gene	SNP	Coded allele [†]	CAF
1p36	6 201 957	RNF207	rs846111	С	0.28
1q23	160 300 514	NOS1AP	rs12143842	Т	0.26
1q24	167 366 107	ATP1B1	rs10919071	А	0.87
2p22	40 611 295	SLC8A1	rs13017846	А	0.58
3p22	38 568 397	SCN5A	rs12053903	Т	0.66
6q22	118 787 067	PLN	rs11970286	Т	0.44
7q36	150 268 796	KCNH2	rs4725982	Т	0.22
11p15	2 441 379	KCNQ1	rs2074238	С	0.94
13q13	34 095 789	NBEA	rs885170	G	0.19
13q14	47 060 559	SUCLA2	rs2478333	А	0.33
16p13	11 599 254	LITAF	rs8049607	Т	0.49
16q21	57 124 739	CNOT1	rs37062	А	0.76
17q12	30 348 495	LIG3	rs2074518	С	0.54
17q24	66 006 587	KCNJ2	rs17779747	G	0.65
21q22	34 743 550	KCNE1	rs1805128	А	0.01

Table 5. QT interval-associated loci identified in GWA studies ($p < 5 \times 10^{-8}$)

References: Marroni et al. 2009, Newton-Cheh et al. 2009b, Nolte et al. 2009, Pfeufer et al. 2009, Kim et al. 2012.

*According to NCBI genome build 36.

[†]Allele associated with QT prolongation.

CAF = coded allele frequency in the original study; Chr. = chromosome; GWA = genome-wide association; SNP = single nucleotide polymorphism.

The QT interval-associated single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) provide intriguing candidates for studies of LQTS modifier genes that affect the large phenotypic variation among LQTS mutation carriers. The *KCNE1* D85N (rs1805128) minor allele, which prolongs QT interval up to 10 ms at the population level (Marjamaa et al. 2009a), has been shown to reduce both I_{Ks} and I_{Kr} currents *in vitro* and to occur as a second variant in several LQTS patients (Westenskow et al. 2004, Nishio et al. 2009). In addition, variants in *NOS1AP* have been associated with increased risk of cardiac events in LQTS patients (Crotti et al. 2009, Tomás et al. 2010). A common polymorphism in a LQTS gene may also directly affect the phenotype caused by a mutation in the same gene. For example, the *KCNH2* K897T minor allele has been suggested to accentuate the I_{Kr} reduction caused by a more severe *KCNH2* mutation (Crotti et al. 2005), but the findings on cardiac repolarization are conflicting both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Laitinen et al. 2000, Scicluna et al. 2008). Interestingly, the minor allele of *SCN5A* H558R was shown to rescue the phenotype of a LQTS-causing *SCN5A* mutation (Ye et al. 2003).

4. Sudden cardiac death (SCD)

4.1. Epidemiology and clinical risk factors of SCD

Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is generally defined as an unexpected death occurring within one hour of the onset of symptoms or, when unwitnessed, within 24 hours of being seen alive and well (Chugh et al. 2008). Exclusion of non-cardiac causes of death, such as pulmonary embolism, aortic rupture, or stroke, is essential for the diagnosis. The estimated yearly incidence of SCD is 50:100 000-80:100 000 in Western countries (Chugh et al. 2008), and the corresponding figure in Finland has been estimated to be 57:100 000 (Hookana et al. 2011). The incidence of SCD has declined over the past decades due to the improvement of prevention and treatment strategies for cardiovascular disease, but at the same time, the occurrence of SCD as a proportion of overall cardiovascular deaths has increased (Fox et al. 2004a). SCD is estimated to account for approximately half of all cardiovascular deaths (Salomaa et al. 2003, Fox et al. 2004a). Coronary heart disease (CHD) underlies up to 80% of SCDs (Chugh et al. 2004a, Hookana et al. 2011). Cardiomyopathy is detected in 10-15% of SCD cases and a congenital abnormality or a structurally normal heart, indicating a primary arrhythmogenic disorder, is reported in 5-10% (Chugh et al. 2008). Familial investigation of autopsy-negative SCD cases reveals inherited arrhythmia disorders in approximately half of the families, including LQTS, Brugada syndrome, CPVT, ARVC, and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (Tan et al. 2005, Behr et al. 2008).

Males have a higher risk of SCD than females, and the occurrence peaks in early childhood and after the age of 45 (Chugh et al. 2004a). Clinical risk factors for CHD predispose also to SCD. These include smoking, obesity, lack of physical activity, hypertension, diabetes, hypercholesterolaemia, and family history of CHD (Wannamethee et al. 1995, Jouven et al. 1999). After myocardial infarction, the risk of SCD is highest during the first 30 days, decreasing gradually thereafter (Adabag et al. 2008), and atrial fibrillation is known to increase the risk (Pedersen et al. 2006). Other risk factors for SCD are heart failure, left ventricular dysfunction and hypertrophy, reduced pulmonary vital capacity, elevated heart rate, abnormal ECG, and abnormal autonomic markers such as decreased heart rate variability (Adabag et al. 2010a). Prolonged QT interval predisposes to SCD in the general population (Straus et al. 2006). J-point elevation (Tikkanen et al. 2009) and QRS complex widening (Dhar et al. 2008, Kurl et al. 2012) are also known risk factors for SCD. The SCD risk is increased in people with low socioeconomic status (Reinier et al. 2006).

SCD is the first manifestation of cardiovascular disease in approximately 50% of cases (Fox et al. 2004a). In addition, most of the clinical risk factors have a low positive predictive value for SCD. High-risk criteria, such as myocardial infarction or left ventricular dysfunction, reveal only a small proportion of potential victims, and the majority of SCDs occur in risk groups with the lowest incidence (Figure 4) (Myerburg et al. 1998, Huikuri et al. 2001, Noseworthy and Newton-Cheh 2008). Prevention of fatal arrhythmic events with, for example, an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator is feasible only in the high-risk groups (Zipes et al. 2006). Therefore, identification of individuals with a markedly elevated risk of SCD is essential. Genetic risk markers could provide a means for better risk prediction together with the clinical risk factors.



Figure 4. Incidence and total number of events for SCD in the different risk groups in the USA. CAD = coronary artery disease; EF = ejection fraction; MI = myocardial infarction; SCD = sudden cardiac death; VF = ventricular fibrillation; VT = ventricular tachycardia. Adapted from Myerburg et al. 1998, Huikuri et al. 2001, and Noseworthy and Newton-Cheh 2008.
4.2. Genetics of SCD

The risk of SCD is heritable, but the genes involved are largely unknown. Parental history of SCD approximately doubles the risk of SCD, but if both parents have died suddenly, the risk of sudden death is 9-fold (Jouven et al. 1999, Friedlander et al. 2002). Sudden death in a first-degree relative is also associated with an increased risk of ventricular fibrillation during myocardial infarction and with an elevated risk of dying suddenly during an acute coronary event (Dekker et al. 2006, Kaikkonen et al. 2006), indicating that genetic variants may predispose to fatal arrhythmic events during myocardial infarction.

Inherited arrhythmia disorders, such as LQTS, CPVT, and ARVC, may lead to SCD. Rare mutations in the LQTS genes *KCNQ1*, *KCNH2*, and *SCN5A*, as well as in the CPVT gene *RYR2*, have also been detected in SCD victims without a previously diagnosed electrical disorder (Table 6). Together, mutations in these genes may occur in up to one-third of sudden unexplained death victims (Tester et al. 2004, Tester and Ackerman 2007). Recently, mutations in the ARVC gene *PKP2* were also reported in cases of sudden unexplained death with negative autopsy findings (Zhang et al. 2012). In addition to the rare mutations, also common variants in the *KCNQ1* and *SCN5A* ion channel genes are associated with increased risk of SCD (Burke et al. 2005, Albert et al. 2010). Accordingly, common variants in the *CPVT*-associated *CASQ2* gene, the Brugada syndrome-associated *GPD1L* gene, and *NOS1AP*, which has previously been associated with QT interval duration, have also been reported to predispose to SCD (Kao et al. 2009, Westaway et al. 2011). Of the common variants associated with QRS complex duration, one SNP in the *TKT-CACNA1D-PRKCD* locus was reported to be associated also with risk of SCD (Arking et al. 2011).

Sympathetic activation is involved in generation of ventricular arrhythmias and may ultimately influence the risk of SCD. Therefore, variants in genes affecting the function of the autonomic nervous system may predispose to SCD. The Q27E polymorphism in β_2 -adrenergic receptor alters the agonist-mediated down-regulation of receptor expression (Green et al. 1994) and is associated with risk of SCD (Sotoodehnia et al. 2006). α_{2B} -adrenergic receptor is involved in vasoconstriction, and the variant form with deletion of three glutamate residues shows impaired agonist-promoted desensitization and increased risk of SCD (Snapir et al. 2003). Genes involved in angiotensin-converting enzyme-related pathways may also contribute to the inherited risk of SCD (Sotoodehnia et al. 2009).

Chr.	Nearest gene	Variant	Study design*	Phenotype	Reference
Common v	ariants (iden	tified in popu	ulation-b	ased or case-control	ol studies)
1p13	CASQ2	rs17500488	1	SCD with CAD	Westaway et al. 2011
1 -		rs3010396	1	SCD with CAD	Westaway et al. 2011
		rs7366407	1	SCD with CAD	Westaway et al. 2011
1q23	NOS1AP	rs10918859	1	SCD with CAD	Westaway et al. 2011
1 -		rs12084280	1	SCD with CAD	Westaway et al. 2011
		rs12567209	1	SCD	Kao et al. 2009
		rs16847548	1	SCD	Kao et al. 2009
1q24	SELP	V168M	1	VF during MI	Elmas et al. 2010
2q11	ADRA2B	Ins/Del	1	SCD	Snapir et al. 2003
2q24	BAZ2B	rs4665058	2	SCD	Arking et al. 2011
3p21	ΤΚΤ	rs4687718	1	SCD	Arking et al. 2011
3p22	GPD1L	rs9862154	1	SCD with CAD	Westaway et al. 2011
3p22	SCN5A	rs11720524	1	SCD	Albert et al. 2010
•		S1103Y	1	SCD	Burke et al. 2005
3q24	AGTR1	rs1492099	1	SCA	Sotoodehnia et al. 2009
3q27	KNG1	rs710448	1	SCA in women	Sotoodehnia et al. 2009
5q33	ADRB2	Q27E	1	SCD	Sotoodehnia et al. 2006
7q22	SERPINE1	Ins/Del	1	SCD with CAD	Anvari et al. 2001
9p21	CDKN2BAS	rs10757274	1	SCD	Newton-Cheh et al. 2009a
		rs2383207	1	SCD	Newton-Cheh et al. 2009a
11p15	KCNQ1	rs2283222	1	SCD	Albert et al. 2010
11q23	IL18	rs187238	1	SCD in men	Hernesniemi et al. 2008
13q31	GPC5	rs3864180	2	SCA with CAD	Arking et al. 2010
13q34	F7	R353Q	1	SCD in men	Mikkelsson and Karhunen 2002
15q22	LIPC	-480C>T	1	SCD in men	Fan et al. 2007
17p13	GP1BA	T145M	1	SCD in men <55 y	Mikkelsson et al. 2001
17q21	ITGB3	L33P	1	SCD in men <50 y	Mikkelsson et al. 2000
21q21	CXADR	rs2824292	2	MI with VF	Bezzina et al. 2010
Rare varia	nts (identified	d in individua	I patient	s or families)	
1q43	RYR2	Several	1	SCD, SUD	Tester et al. 2004, Marjamaa
		mutations			et al. 2011
3p22	SCN5A	Several mutations	1	SCD, SUD	Tester and Ackerman 2007, Albert et al. 2008, Adabag et al. 2010b
7q36	DPP6	N/A	3	VF	Alders et al. 2009
7q36	KCNH2	Several	1	SCD, SUD	Chugh et al. 2004b, Tester
		mutations			and Ackerman 2007, Adabag et al. 2010b
11p15	KCNQ1	Several mutations	1	SUD	Tester and Ackerman 2007
12p11	PKP2	Several mutations	1	SUD	Zhang et al. 2012

Table 6. Genetic variants associated with risk of SCD

*Study design: 1 = candidate gene study, 2 = genome-wide association study, 3 = genome-wide haplotype-sharing study.

CAD = coronary artery disease; Chr. = chromosome; Del = deletion; Ins = insertion; MI = myocardial infarction; N/A = not available (variant unknown); SCA = sudden cardiac arrest; SCD = sudden cardiac death; SUD = sudden unexplained death; VF = ventricular fibrillation; y = years.

Genes controlling thrombosis and atherosclerosis are apparent candidate genes for myocardial infarction and SCD. A variant in factor VII of the coagulation cascade has been suggested to be associated with SCD (Mikkelsson and Karhunen 2002), and a deletion variant in the *SERPINE1* gene encoding the plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, which regulates endogenous fibrinolysis, has been associated with SCD in patients with coronary artery disease (Anvari et al. 2001). Several variants involved in platelet activation are associated with ventricular fibrillation during myocardial infarction and SCD (Mikkelsson et al. 2000, Mikkelsson et al. 2001, Elmas et al. 2010). A promoter variant in the gene encoding hepatic lipase predisposes to SCD by a mechanism that may involve elevated total and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels (Fan et al. 2007). A promoter variant in the interleukin 18 gene decreases the expression of this atherogenic cytokine and reduces the risk of SCD (Hernesniemi et al. 2008). In the 9p21 chromosomal region, the cyclindependent kinase inhibitor genes *CDKN2A* and *CDKN2B* as well as the *CDKN2B* antisense RNA gene *CDKN2BAS* appear to be potential candidate genes for myocardial infarction and SCD (Helgadottir et al. 2007, Newton-Cheh et al. 2009a).

In addition to these associations detected in studies of previously known candidate genes, GWA studies have revealed novel genes that may contribute to risk of SCD or ventricular fibrillation during myocardial infarction (Arking et al. 2010, Bezzina et al. 2010, Arking et al. 2011). The exact pathogenetic mechanisms associated with these variants are still unknown. Glypican 5, encoded by *GPC5*, is a member of the heparan sulphate proteoglycan family of proteins that modulates vasculogenesis and angiogenesis after ischaemic injury (Arking et al. 2010). *CXADR* encodes a viral receptor protein that may be involved in viral myocarditis and cardiac conduction (Bezzina et al. 2010). *BAZ2B* is a bromodomain-containing gene with an unknown function (Arking et al. 2011), and *DPP6* encodes a putative component of the cardiac I_{to} channel (Alders et al. 2009).

5. Methods of studying the genetics of cardiac arrhythmia and SCD

5.1. Candidate gene approach

The candidate gene approach is used for investigating the association between variants in a previously identified gene and a disorder or other trait of interest. Candidate genes may be selected on the basis of functional similarity to genes with a previously detected association with the same phenotype. In addition to the exact function of the proteins, this similarity may concern the cellular compartment, the expression pattern, the regulatory network, or the interaction partners of the proteins. In ARVC, identification of disease-causing mutations in plakoglobin and desmoplakin (McKoy et al. 2000, Rampazzo et al. 2002) led to the discovery of this disorder being commonly caused by desmosomal mutations (Gerull et al. 2004). Similarly, initial recognition of ion channel gene mutations associated with LQTS (Curran et al. 1995, Wang et al. 1995, Wang et al. 1996) revealed many suitable candidate genes with a similar function.

Candidate genes may also be identified through a known association with another disorder that shows phenotypic similarities to the disorder being investigated. For example, after the identification of LQTS-causing mutations in *SCN5A* (Wang et al. 1995), this gene has been associated with many other electrical disorders of the heart (Chen et al. 1998, Schott et al. 1999, Akai et al. 2000, Benson et al. 2003, Ellinor et al. 2008). Also genes associated with a risk factor for a disorder provide potential candidates for future genetic studies. Accordingly, genes associated with QT interval or QRS complex duration or J-point elevation could potentially be associated with fatal arrhythmias. For example, *NOS1AP*, a QT-modulating gene, has been associated with SCD (Kao et al. 2009).

Initially, candidate genes may be identified based on positional information gained from linkage studies, as in the case of *TMEM43* mutations in ARVC (Merner et al. 2008) and *KCNQ1* mutations in LQTS (Wang et al. 1996). Another possibility is to identify the causative mutation for the disorder first in an animal model and subsequently to localize a homologous gene in the human genome. For example, striatin could be considered a novel candidate gene in ARVC as it was found to be mutated in the canine model of this disorder (Meurs et al. 2010). The candidate gene approach enables the identification of small relative risks, but is restricted by the current knowledge of the pathogenetic mechanisms.

5.2. Linkage and association studies

Linkage studies are conducted to identify a genetic locus that cosegregates with the trait of interest in pedigrees. This approach takes advantage of the positional information of genetic locu in chromosomes. The likelihood of linkage between the genetic marker and the genetic locus to be found is compared with the likelihood of independent assortment between the two loci by calculating a logarithm of odds score (Morton 1955). Linkage analysis can be utilized to map both quantitative and qualitative trait loci. Parametric linkage analysis requires information on the mode of inheritance, trait and marker allele frequencies, penetrance, and probability of phenocopies. For complex disorders or traits with unknown parameters of the genetic model, testing increased allele-sharing among affected relative pairs using non-parametric linkage analysis may be more suitable. Linkage studies can be restricted to previously defined chromosomal loci or they can cover the whole genome. For example, the ARVC8 locus was mapped to 6p24 in a genome-wide linkage scan using microsatellite markers (Rampazzo et al. 2002), and more recently, the LQT13 locus was mapped to 11q24 with a similar approach (Yang et al. 2010).

Association studies compare genotype frequencies between, for example, cases and controls or in a family-based approach. Association may be tested directly between a causative variant and a phenotype, but commonly this type of study takes advantage of linkage disequilibrium between alleles of a causative variant and alleles of linked genetic markers. In this way, location of the causative variant near a genetic marker may be assessed based on the association between the phenotype of interest and a genetic marker. Association studies may be targeted at a set of candidate genes or at the whole genome. A GWA study is a hypothesis-free statistical approach suitable for identifying common genetic variants associated with a complex trait (Manolio 2010). In this approach, a large set of genetic markers representing the whole genome is screened for associations with a selected trait, and modest effect sizes may be discovered using large sample sizes. Several candidate genes for SCD have been located in GWA studies (Arking et al. 2010, Bezzina et al. 2010, Arking et al. 2011).

5.3. Future directions

Development of tools for human genetic studies has benefited from the rapid progress achieved by international projects aimed at revealing the human genomic sequence and variation. The Human Genome Project assembled the consensus sequence of the human genome, providing the exact positional and sequence information of each gene (International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium 2004). The International HapMap Project established a haplotype map of the human genome as well as a high-resolution map of common SNPs and copy number polymorphisms (Altshuler et al. 2010). The 1000 Genomes Project aims to provide a more comprehensive map of human genomic variation, including rare variants with an allele frequency of $\geq 1\%$, by low-coverage whole-genome sequencing of 2500 samples (1000 Genomes Project Consortium 2010). The 1000 Genomes Exon Pilot Project collected deep-coverage exome data to identify rare variants with <1% allele frequency (Marth et al. 2011). The achievements of these international projects clear the path for future human genetic studies, including identification of novel disease-causing mutations by whole-genome and whole-exome sequencing. These large-scale sequencing methods, together with traditional linkage and association studies, provide a powerful tool for discovering new disease genes and mechanisms in cardiac arrhythmias and SCD.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

This study aimed to identify genetic variants predisposing to cardiac arrhythmia disorders, specifically ARVC and LQTS, as well as their most severe end-point, SCD. Specific aims were as follows:

- 1. To reveal the desmosomal mutation spectrum in Finnish ARVC patients and to assess the pathophysiological consequences of these mutations (Studies I and II).
- 2. To estimate the population prevalence of Finnish ARVC-associated desmosomal mutations and to analyse associated electrocardiographic abnormalities (Study II).
- 3. To investigate potential modifier genes in LQTS, focusing on a common variant with the largest known QT interval-prolonging effect in the general population (Study III).
- 4. To evaluate the association of QT interval and QT genotype score (QT_{score}) with SCD in the Finnish population (Study IV).
- 5. To investigate the role of common genetic variants predisposing to arrhythmia and related ECG abnormalities in risk of SCD (Study V).
- To assess the association of rare Finnish LQTS and ARVC mutations with SCD (Study VI).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Patient and control samples (I-III)

In Studies I and II, the ARVC patient sample consisted of 29 consecutive probands diagnosed according to the International Task Force criteria (McKenna et al. 1994) between 1998 and 2004 at the Department of Cardiology, University of Helsinki. In addition, unpublished data were available from four ARVC probands diagnosed between 2004 and 2009. Available family members (n = 42) of five probands were diagnosed according to the International Task Force criteria or the modified criteria for first-degree family members (Hamid et al. 2002).

In Study III, the LQTS patient sample comprised 712 carriers of the four Finnish LQTS founder mutations from 126 families referred to the Laboratory of Molecular Medicine, University of Helsinki, between 1999 and 2008. This material included all available carriers of *KCNQ1* G589D (n = 492), *KCNQ1* IVS7-2A>G (c.1129-2A>G, n = 66), *KCNH2* L552S (n = 73), and *KCNH2* R176W (n = 88), excluding those with QT-prolonging medication at the time of ECG recording.

Over 250 DNA samples from ethnically matched blood donors were used as controls to estimate genotype frequencies in the Finnish background population in Studies I and II. The studies were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa. Written informed consent was obtained from all participating patients and their family members.

2. Population cohorts and autopsy materials (II, IV-VI)

Health 2000 (Studies II and IV-VI) is a two-stage stratified cluster sample (n = 8028) representative of the adult (age \geq 30 years) Finnish population and was collected between 2000 and 2001 (Heistaro 2008). The Mini-Finland Health Survey (Studies IV-VI) is a similar sample (n = 8000) initially collected between 1978 and 1980 from the Finnish population (Aromaa et al. 1989). DNA was available from a follow-up study of 985 individuals conducted in 2001. FINRISK 1992 (n = 6051), FINRISK 1997 (n = 8446), and FINRISK 2002 (n = 8648) (Studies V and VI) are Finnish population-based cohorts

collected independently of each other at 5-year intervals from the age group of 25-74 years (Vartiainen et al. 2010). Gene-expression analysis in Study V was performed in a sample of 510 unrelated Finnish individuals recruited as an extension of the FINRISK 2007 study.

The Helsinki Sudden Death Study (HSDS) and the Tampere Autopsy Study (TASTY) are series of forensic autopsies utilized in Studies V and VI. HSDS comprised all out-of-hospital deaths of previously healthy men aged 35-69 years (n = 300) autopsied in Helsinki between 1991 and 1992 (Tyynelä et al. 2009). TASTY included 740 consecutive medico-legal autopsies of individuals aged \leq 97 years performed in Tampere between 2002 and 2004 (Kok et al. 2009). Subjects aged >80 or <25 years were excluded from the statistical analyses of Studies IV-VI.

3. Phenotypic characterization (I-VI)

The information on proband or family member status, occurrence of syncope, use of beta blocker medication, and pacemaker or implantable cardioverter-defibrillator in Study III was based on questionnaires at baseline and at follow-up in 2006. The clinical information in the Health 2000 and FINRISK studies (Studies II and IV-VI) was collected from health questionnaires and clinical assessment at baseline as well as from registry-based information on medications, hospitalizations, and causes of death. In the population cohorts, the causes of death were classified as either probable SCD, possible SCD, unlikely SCD, or unknown cause of death by two independent physicians reviewing data from baseline examinations, the Causes of Death Registry, the Hospital Discharge Registry, the Drug Reimbursement Registry, and the Pharmacy Database as described in Studies IV-VI. In cases of discrepancy, two additional physicians reviewed the data independently, and final adjudication was achieved by consensus of all four physicians. In the series of forensic autopsies, causes of death were classified accordingly based on autopsy results. Probable and possible SCDs were pooled for the analyses.

Standard 12-lead electrocardiography was used in all ECG measurements. QT interval was measured manually in lead II in the LQTS patient sample (Study III) and automatically with manual confirmation as a mean of 12 leads in the Health 2000 study (Studies II and IV). QT interval was corrected for heart rate by using either linear regression (Studies II and III), Bazett's formula (Bazett 1920) (Studies II and III), or the nomogram-correction method

(Karjalainen et al. 1994) (Study IV). Heart rate, PQ interval, and QRS duration were measured automatically as described in Study II.

4. Molecular genetic studies (I-VI)

DNA was extracted from peripheral blood lymphocytes using standard methods (Studies I-III): the phenol-chloroform method (Blin and Stafford 1976) or the salting-out method using PureGene DNA Purification Kit (Gentra, Minneapolis, MN, USA). Genomic DNA was amplified using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (Mullis et al. 1986) with a primer pair specific for each exon or mutation under investigation (Studies I-VI).

Disease-causing mutations were searched for in 29 unrelated ARVC patients using direct sequencing (Sanger et al. 1977) of *PKP2b* (NM_004572), *DSP* isoform I (NM_004415), *DSG2* (NM_001943), *DSC2a* (NM_024422), and *DSC2b* (NM_004949) exons (Studies I and II). Four additional probands were screened for mutations in *PKP2b* exons (Lahtinen AM et al. unpublished data). PCR products were purified with exonuclease I and shrimp alkaline phosphatase and sequenced with BigDye Terminator v3.1 and ABI 3730 DNA Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Electropherograms were analysed with Sequencher 4.5-4.8 software (Gene Codes Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI, USA).

In Study II, large deletions and duplications were screened using multiplex ligationdependent probe amplification (MLPA) detecting relative copy number changes by measuring the hybridization of sequence-specific probes (Schouten et al. 2002). The Salsa MLPA kit P168 (MRC Holland, Amsterdam, the Netherlands) includes probes for all *PKP2* exons and for selected exons in *DSP*, *JUP*, *RYR2*, and *TGFB3*.

In Study I, haplotype analysis of *PKP2* was performed by genotyping of six polymorphic repeat markers using PCR with fluorescent-labelled primers and capillary electrophoresis with ABI 3730 DNA Analyzer.

Known genetic variants were detected by a restriction enzyme digestion method in Studies I-III. In this method, PCR products are cleaved with a restriction endonuclease recognizing and cleaving either the wild-type or mutated sequence. Resulting DNA fragments are separated in agarose gel or polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. In Studies I and II, those variants with no suitable recognition sequence were detected by primer-induced restriction analysis (PIRA) creating an artificial recognition sequence in the PCR product (Kumar and Dunn 1989).

Large population cohorts and autopsy materials were genotyped using Sequenom MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry (Storm et al. 2003) (MassARRAY Analyzer Compact, Sequenom Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) in Studies II and IV-VI. The Sequenom iPLEX assay can be used to genotype up to 36 SNPs in a single well by single-base extension of a hybridized primer and subsequent mass analysis. *KCNH2* R176W was genotyped using Custom TaqMan SNP Genotyping Assay (Applied Biosystems) in Study VI. The discrimination of alleles with fluorescent-labelled probes was performed using 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR System and SDS2.3 software (Applied Biosystems).

In Study V, gene expression analysis was performed to detect potential effects of SNPs on gene expression regulation. Genome-wide RNA level quantification was achieved in RNA samples extracted from peripheral blood using Illumina HumanHT-12 Expression BeadChips (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA), as described previously (Inouye et al. 2010). Expression intensity of probes within 2 Mb of the SNP in interest were analysed using linear regression.

5. Microscopic analyses (I, II)

Endomyocardial biopsy samples were obtained from two ARVC patients and two control patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and CPVT, respectively. Immunohistochemistry with mouse desmoglein-2, plakophilin-2, plakoglobin, desmoplakin 1/2 (Progen, Heidelberg, Germany), mouse N-cadherin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), and rabbit connexin 43 antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich) was performed using the Advance HRP system (DakoCytomation, Glostrup, Denmark) or the Vectastain Elite ABC kit (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). Quantification of the immunoreaction was achieved using Alexa Fluor 594 detection (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and measuring the integrated signal density using the ImageJ program. Electron microscopy was performed on endomyocardial tissue samples retrieved from paraffin blocks using a Jeol JEM 1200EX or Jeol JEM 1400 electron microscope.

6. Statistical analyses (I-VI)

Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was confirmed by Chi-square test or, in the case of rare variants, by Fisher's exact test. Variants with Hardy-Weinberg *p* value below the selected threshold (Studies I-III and VI: 0.05; Study IV: 0.0001; Study V: 0.002) were excluded from the study. In the genotyping quality control of large population cohorts, selected thresholds were applied for the genotyping success of variants (Study IV: 80%; Study V-VI: 90%) and samples (Study IV: 57%; Studies V-VI: 80%). Genotyping quality was also monitored by using sex markers, duplicate samples, and positive control samples.

Discrete variables were tested by Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. The effect of genotype was analysed using an additive model (number of minor alleles coded as 0, 1, 2). In Study II, prevalence estimates of mutations were calculated from the weighted study population, as described previously (Aromaa and Koskinen 2004). In Study VI, prevalence estimates were calculated with survey-specific sampling weights, and the estimation was stratified by study, sex, study region, and 10-year age group. In Studies IV and V, QT_{score} was calculated for each individual to aggregate the information of 12-14 QT interval-prolonging SNPs. QT_{score} represents the predicted effect of genotype on QT interval. It was calculated by multiplying the previously reported effect estimate of each SNP in ms (Newton-Cheh et al. 2009b, Pfeufer et al. 2009) by the number of coded alleles and finally calculating the sum over all SNPs.

In Studies II and III, the association of genotype with PR interval, QRS duration, QT interval, and heart rate was investigated by linear regression, adjusting for age, sex, and heart rate. In Study III, an additional model included also a multiplicative interaction term between genotype and sex. In Study IV, the association of genotype or QT_{score} with QT interval nomogram-corrected for heart rate (QT_{Nc}) was evaluated by linear regression, adjusting for age, sex, and geographic region. In Studies IV and V, the association of genotype, QT_{score} , or QT_{Nc} with SCD was studied by Cox proportional hazards model, using age as the time scale and adjusting for sex and geographic region. In the SCD analyses, additional adjustments included QT-prolonging and QT-shortening medication, prevalent CHD, established cardiovascular risk factors, and prevalent heart failure. In Study V, the autopsy series were analysed using logistic regression by comparing probable and possible SCDs to unlikely SCDs and adjusting for age at death and sex. The risk estimates were

pooled using inverse variance-weighted, fixed-effects meta-analysis. When significant heterogeneity occurred ($I^2 > 0.5$), random-effects meta-analysis was applied. In Study V, a similar meta-analysis was performed for all-cause and cardiac mortality, adjusting for sex and geographic region. The association between baseline cardiovascular risk factors and SCD was also investigated in Study V using Cox proportional hazards regression. In Study VI, the association between rare mutations and SCD was analysed using Fisher's exact test. Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 11.0-17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and R version 2.11. Two-tailed p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Bonferronic corrected significance threshold was applied in Studies IV and V.

RESULTS

1. Desmosomal mutations in ARVC patients and families

Out of the 29 unrelated ARVC patients in Studies I and II, three carried mutations in *PKP2*, one in *DSG2*, and one in *DSP* (patients A-E, Table 7). No mutations were identified in *DSC2*. Occurrence of large genomic rearrangements in *PKP2* was excluded using MLPA. One of the four additional patients (patient F, Table 7) carried a mutation in *PKP2* (Lahtinen AM et al. unpublished data). In total, six (18%) of the 33 probands carried a desmosomal mutation. *PKP2* mutations accounted for two-thirds of these mutations. All mutations occurred in an evolutionary conserved region and were absent in 250 control samples. Pedigree data are presented in Figure 5.

Proband	Mutatio	n		Age^\dagger	Sex	Symptoms
	Gene	Nucleotide*	Amino acid			
А	PKP2 PKP2	184C>A 1839C>G	Q62K N613K	32	Μ	Presyncope at exercise, VT in LBBB morphology
В	PKP2	176A>T	Q59L	39	F	Syncope at exercise, VT in LBBB morphology
С	PKP2	176A>T	Q59L	42	М	Syncope at exercise, VT in LBBB morphology
D	DSG2	3059_3062 delAGAG	E1020AfsX18	24	М	Stress-related VT in LBBB morphology
E	DSP	4117A>G	T1373A	29	Μ	VT in LBBB morphology at exercise
F	PKP2	563delT	L188PfsX2	29	F	VT in LBBB morphology at exercise originating from right ventricular apex

Table 7. ARVC patients with desmosomal mutations

*Numbering of nucleotides starts from the methionine translation initiation codon.

[†]Age at onset of symptoms.

F = female; LBBB = left bundle branch block; M = male; VT = ventricular tachycardia.

Proband A was a compound heterozygous carrier of two *PKP2* missense mutations, Q62K and N613K. This patient presented with arrhythmia, adipose and fibrous tissue replacement of the myocardium, and right ventricular structural abnormalities typical of ARVC. The family data suggested a pathogenic role for the novel N613K mutation, but uncertain pathogenicity for Q62K, which has been reported as an unclassified variant also in other populations (van Tintelen et al. 2006, Xu et al. 2010). *PKP2* Q59L was detected in two unrelated probands, B and C. Both of them featured arrhythmia, ECG abnormalities, and

right ventricular structural alterations. Families B and C included a total of ten mutation carriers, of which two (20%) fulfilled the Task Force diagnostic criteria and one (10%) the modified diagnostic criteria for first-degree family members. *PKP2* Q59L was linked with an identical haplotype in both families, indicating a common founder individual for these probands (Study I). *PKP2* 563delT was detected in a proband who suffered from episodes of ventricular tachycardia and was treated with an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (Lahtinen AM et al. unpublished data). The mutation was also present in her mother, whose ECG showed inverted T waves in leads V1-V3.

DSG2 3059_3062delAGAG and *DSP* T1373A were detected in probands D and E, respectively. The *DSG2* four-nucleotide deletion generates a frameshift that deletes the 99 carboxy-terminal amino acids of desmoglein-2. Both of these probands presented with arrhythmia, ECG abnormalities, and right ventricular structural alterations. Proband D also featured adipose and fibrous tissue replacement. Of the five deletion carriers in Family D, three (60%) fulfilled either the Task Force or the modified diagnostic criteria for ARVC.



Figure 5. Family data of six ARVC probands with desmosomal mutations (Studies I and II, and Lahtinen AM et al. unpublished data). N/A = no clinical or genetic information available.

2. Effects of desmosomal mutations at the cellular level

Endomyocardial biopsy samples of two ARVC probands (A and D) were analysed in Studies I and II by immunohistochemical staining of desmosomal proteins and electron microscopy. The samples of both patients showed adipose and fibrous tissue replacement of cardiac myocytes characteristic of ARVC.

Plakophilin-2 staining of the sample of proband A with mutations *PKP2* Q62K and N613K showed mild reduction of plakophilin-2 immunoreactive signal as well as less linearly organized intercalated disk structure. Immunohistochemical stainings of the sample of proband D with *DSG2* deletion showed reduced immunoreactive signal for all desmosomal proteins assessed: desmoglein-2, plakophilin-2, desmoplakin, and plakoglobin (Figure 6). N-cadherin, a marker of tissue quality, and the gap junctional protein connexin 43 showed no reduction compared with the control samples.

Electron microscopic analysis of the intercalated disk area revealed more vacuolated intercalated disks in both ARVC samples than in the control samples. In the sample of proband A, fewer desmosomes were detected and some of the desmosomal junctions appeared small and irregularly oriented. In the sample of proband D, occasional disorganization of the cell-cell junctions was observed.



Figure 6. Immunohistochemical staining of a control sample and the ARVC sample with *DSG2* 3059_3062deIAGAG for desmoglein-2 (A-B), plakophilin-2 (C-D), plakoglobin (E-F), desmoplakin (G-H), and N-cadherin (I-J). The arrows point at selected intercalated disk structures. Bar: 50 µm.

3. Desmosomal variants in the Finnish population

The population prevalence and clinical phenotypes of five desmosomal ARVC-related mutations identified in Studies I and II were investigated in Studies II and VI. In addition, possible phenotypic associations of two common *PKP2* polymorphisms were evaluated in the Health 2000 population sample in Study II. The combined prevalence of the five desmosomal mutations was 48 per 10 000 (95% confidence interval [CI] 33-71 per 10 000) in the Health 2000 study (Study II). A similar prevalence estimate (39 per 10 000, 95% CI 31-50 per 10 000) was detected in Study VI using both Health 2000 and FINRISK population cohorts (Table 8). The most prevalent mutation was *PKP2* Q59L, which was carried by 29 per 10 000 Finns (95% CI 22-39 per 10 000). The carriers of this mutation clustered in Southeastern Finland, further supporting the hypothesis that *PKP2* Q59L is a founder mutation in the Finnish population.

Arrhythmia (self-reported or physician-diagnosed) occurred in 11 (35%) of the total of 31 mutation carriers in the Health 2000 study (Study II). ECG abnormalities characteristic of ARVC (T-wave inversion in leads V2 and V3 or QRS complex duration \geq 110 ms) were detected in 6 (19%) carriers. Arrhythmia or ECG abnormalities occurred altogether in 16 carriers (52%), and only one mutation carrier featured both types of clinical characteristics. A *PKP2* Q59L carrier had a diagnosis of ventricular tachycardia and encountered SCD at the age of 46 years. The ECG of one *PKP2* Q62K carrier showed frequent premature ventricular complexes, and one *DSP* T1373A carrier was diagnosed with paroxysmal tachycardia. *DSP* T1373A was associated with PR interval prolongation of 33 ms in the population sample (p = 0.005).

The two *PKP2* polymorphisms L366P and I531S had similar allele frequencies in the Health 2000 population sample (19.5% and 2.2%, respectively) as in the ARVC patient material (17% and 2%, respectively). I531S was not associated with arrhythmia or ECG abnormalities in Study II. The minor allele of L366P was associated with PR interval prolongation (p = 0.036) as well as reduced occurrence of arrhythmia in clinical examination (p = 0.028) and T-wave inversion in ECG (p = 0.040).

Gene	Mutation		Study II: Health 200	Study VI: Health 2000, FINRISK 1992, 1997, and 2002 (n = 28 465)			
		n	n (%) with arrhythmia or ECG abnormalities*	Prevalence per 10 000 (95% Cl)	n	Prevalence per 10 000 (95% Cl)	
PKP2	Q59L	19	10 (53)	30.1 (18.3-49.4)	85	29.3 (22.2-38.6)	
PKP2	Q62K	6	2 (33)	8.5 (3.7-19.6)	12	4.3 (2.3-8.1)	
PKP2	N613K	0	-	-	0	-	
DSG2	3059_3062 delAGAG	1	1 (100)	1.7 (0.2-12.2)	5	2.7 (1.0-7.5)	
DSP	T1373A	5	3 (60)	8.0 (3.4-19.0)	10	3.8 (1.6-8.7)	
Total of all mutations		31	16 (52)	48.5 (33.2-70.8)	112	39.3 (31.0-49.9)	

Table 8. Desmosomal mutations in the Finnish population

*Arrhythmia in clinical examination, self-reported arrhythmia, T-wave inversion (V2-V3), or QRS complex ≥110 ms.

CI = confidence interval; ECG = electrocardiography.

4. KCNE1 D85N as a sex-specific disease-modifying variant in LQTS

Study III assessed the clinical significance of a common QT-prolonging variant, *KCNE1* D85N, in 712 carriers of the four Finnish LQTS founder mutations (*KCNQ1* G589D, *KCNQ1* IVS7-2A>G, *KCNH2* L552S, and *KCNH2* R176W). In this combined patient group, *KCNE1* D85N was associated with a 13-ms prolongation of QT interval (standard error 6.0 ms, p = 0.028). *KCNQ1* G589D was the most prevalent founder mutation (n = 492). In males with *KCNQ1* G589D, *KCNE1* D85N was associated with a QT interval prolongation of 26 ms (standard error 8.6 ms, p = 0.003) (Figure 7). Confining the analysis to males ≤ 16 years of age did not change the result. In females with *KCNQ1* G589D, no association was observed (p = 0.935). The multiplicative interaction term for *KCNE1* D85N and sex attained a significance of p = 0.028, which indicates that the effect of D85N on QT interval may be sex-specific in this Finnish LQTS founder mutation group.

The association of *KCNE1* D85N with clinical variables reflecting disease severity was studied in *KCNQ1* G589D mutation carriers. The percentage of probands was higher in *KCNE1* D85N heterozygotes (31%) than in non-carriers (12%, p = 0.042) and the percentage of patients using beta blocker medication was higher in *KCNE1* D85N heterozygotes (81%) than in non-carriers (47%, p = 0.010) (Figure 8). The percentage of patients having experienced syncope and patients with pacemaker or implantable cardioverter-defibrillator did not differ significantly between the *KCNE1* D85N heterozygotes (44% and 6.3%, respectively) and non-carriers (36% and 4.5%, respectively).



Figure 7. Heart rate-corrected QT interval (QTc) in the different *KCNE1* D85N genotype classes in *KCNQ1* G589D carrier males (A) and females (B). Box plots show medians and interquartile ranges.



Figure 8. Occurrence of selected clinical variables in the different *KCNE1* D85N genotype classes in *KCNQ1* G589D carriers. Percentage of probands (A), patients having experienced syncope (B), patients with beta blocker medication (C), and patients with pacemaker or implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) (D). N indicates the number of individuals with the selected clinical feature out of all individuals in the corresponding genotype group.

5. QT interval and QT_{score} in SCD

The association of QT_{score} , a genotype score representing the predicted effect of 14 QT interval-associated SNPs, with SCD was investigated in the Health 2000 and Mini-Finland population cohorts (n = 6808, n of SCDs = 116) in Study IV. In addition, the relationships between QT_{score} and QT_{Nc} as well as between QT_{Nc} and SCD were investigated in the Health 2000 cohort (n = 6091, n of SCDs = 99). Thirteen of the QT_{score} SNPs were independently associated with QT_{Nc} (p < 0.007, Table 9). The effect sizes of individual SNPs ranged from 1 ms to 10 ms. The association between rs17779747 near *KCNJ2* and QT_{Nc} was statistically non-significant after correction for multiple testing (p = 0.039). The linear QT_{score} was associated with QT_{Nc} ($p < 10^{-107}$) and explained 8.6% of QT_{Nc} variation after adjustment for age, sex, and geographic region.

A 10-ms increase in QT_{Nc} was associated with a 19% increased risk of SCD in the Health 2000 study (95% CI for hazard ratio [HR] 1.07-1.32, p = 0.002). The association of a diagnostic threshold for prolonged QT interval ($QT_{Nc} > 450$ ms for males and > 470 ms for females) with risk of SCD was also confirmed in this study. The risk of SCD was 1.3% below and 24% above the threshold QT interval (HR 13.3, 95% CI 4.7-37.7, $p = 1x10^{-6}$). Adjustment for prevalent CHD and use of QT-altering medication did not change the results.

The QT_{score} SNPs were not associated with SCD independently (Table 9) and neither was the linear QT_{score} , which combines the QT-prolonging effects of these SNPs. The risk of SCD was suggestively increased in the highest QT_{score} quintile compared with the middle quintile in Study IV (HR 1.92, 95% CI 1.05-3.58, p = 0.04), but this result was not replicated in Study V in the meta-analysis of four population cohorts and two series of forensic autopsies (total n = 28 323, n of SCDs = 716).

Chr.	Position*	Nearest	SNP	Coded	CAF	(QT _{Nc}	SCD	
		gene		allele		β (ms)	p	HR	р
1p36	6 201 957	RNF207	rs846111	С	0.25	2.9	8.9x10 ⁻¹²	1.29	0.08
1q23	160 300 514	NOS1AP	rs12143842	Т	0.24	5.0	5.1x10 ⁻³¹	1.26	0.12
1q24	167 366 107	ATP1B1	rs10919071	А	0.89	3.3	7.5x10 ⁻⁸	0.89	0.58
3p22	38 568 397	SCN5A	rs12053903	Т	0.59	1.3	6.0x10 ⁻⁴	1.02	0.89
6q22	118 759 897	PLN	rs12210810	G	0.97	3.6	5.9x10 ⁻⁴	0.96	0.92
6q22	119 100 335	PLN	rs11756440	А	0.47	1.9	1.2x10 ⁻⁷	0.99	0.93
7q36	150 268 796	KCNH2	rs4725982	Т	0.28	2.0	2.4x10 ⁻⁶	1.23	0.16
7q36	150 276 467	KCNH2	rs1805123	А	0.82	2.6	1.3x10 ⁻⁷	1.12	0.50
11p15	2 441 379	KCNQ1	rs2074238	С	0.91	6.3	1.9x10 ⁻²⁴	0.87	0.51
11p15	2 458 895	KCNQ1	rs12576239	Т	0.16	2.6	4.6x10 ⁻⁸	0.98	0.91
16p13	11 601 037	LITAF	rs735951	G	0.58	1.4	1.6x10 ⁻⁴	1.05	0.72
16q21	57 124 739	CNOT1	rs37062	А	0.74	2.4	1.0x10 ⁻⁸	0.94	0.69
17q24	66 006 587	KCNJ2	rs17779747	G	0.75	0.88	0.039	1.19	0.29
21q22	34 743 550	KCNE1	rs1805128	А	0.01	10.4	9.0x10 ⁻¹¹	1.11	0.85

Table 9. Effects of individual SNPs on QT interval and SCD

*According to NCBI genome build 36.

 β = effect size; CAF = coded allele frequency; Chr. = chromosome; HR = hazard ratio; QT_{Nc} = QT interval nomogram-corrected for heart rate; SCD = sudden cardiac death; SNP = single nucleotide polymorphism.

6. Common variants and cardiovascular risk factors in SCD

Study V explored the association of 28 common SNPs with increased risk of SCD in four population cohorts and two series of forensic autopsies (total n = 28 323, n of SCDs = 716). The candidate SNPs were selected based on previously reported associations with arrhythmia or related ECG phenotypes such as QT interval. Two SNPs were associated with SCD after Bonferroni correction for multiple testing: *SCN5A* rs41312391 (relative risk [RR] 1.27 per minor T-allele, 95% CI 1.11-1.45, $p = 3.4 \times 10^{-4}$) and rs2200733 in 4q25 (RR 1.28 per minor T-allele, 95% CI 1.11-1.48, $p = 7.9 \times 10^{-4}$) (Figure 9, Table 10). No heterogeneity between the different study cohorts was detected for the effect sizes of these two SNPs (I² = 0.00). Confining the phenotype to probable SCD did not change the relative risk estimates (RR 1.28, 95% CI 1.11-1.48, $p = 6 \times 10^{-4}$ for rs41312391 and RR 1.27, 95% CI 1.08-1.49, p = 0.003 for rs2200733). We also replicated the previously reported association of rs2383207 in 9p21 near the *CDKN2A* and *CDKN2B* genes with SCD (RR 1.13 per G-allele, 95% CI 1.01-1.26, p = 0.036).

Gene expression analysis in peripheral blood suggested that the minor allele of rs2200733 could be associated with increased expression of the nearest gene *PITX2* (p = 0.013), and

the minor allele of rs41312391 with increased expression of *WDR48* (p = 0.037). Both SNPs, rs41312391 and rs2200733, remained significantly associated with SCD after additional adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors (high-density lipoprotein-total cholesterol concentration ratio, systolic blood pressure, prevalent diabetes, body mass index, current and former cigarette smoking, and leisure-time physical activity) and prevalent CHD (model 2), QT-prolonging and QT-shortening medication (model 3), and prevalent heart failure (model 4).

Study V also replicated the association of previously reported cardiovascular risk factors, including male gender, high systolic blood pressure, prevalent diabetes, current and former cigarette smoking, Eastern Finnish residency, and low physical activity, with SCD (p < 0.05). Prevalent coronary heart disease ($p < 2.2 \times 10^{-16}$) and digoxin use ($p = 2.7 \times 10^{-8}$) were also associated with increased risk of SCD, whereas QT-prolonging medication was not (p = 0.57).



Figure 9. Forest plot of the relative risks of the two common SNPs associated with SCD. Point estimates for relative risk of SCD are represented by squares (area proportional to the inverse-variance weight) and 95% confidence intervals by horizontal lines. The widest point of the diamond represents the relative risk estimate in the meta-analysis and the lateral tips show the 95% confidence interval. HSDS = Helsinki Sudden Death Study; SCD = sudden cardiac death; TASTY = Tampere Autopsy Study.

SNP	Coded	CAF	FINRISK	FINRISK	FINRISK	Health	HSDS	TASTY	SCD			
	allele		1992 HR	1997 HR	2002 HR	2000 HR	OR	OR	l ²	RR	95% CI	р
rs846111	С	0.26	0.93	1.05	1.14	1.29	0.88	1.04	0.00	1.06	0.93-1.20	0.39
rs2880058	G	0.36	0.99	1.02	1.19	1.08	0.93	1.16	0.00	1.05	0.94-1.18	0.41
rs12036340	G	0.25	0.95	1.02	1.36	1.29	0.92	1.20	0.00	1.10	0.97-1.25	0.15
rs12143842	Т	0.25	0.88	1.06	1.26	1.26	0.91	1.19	0.00	1.08	0.95-1.23	0.25
rs10919071	G	0.11	0.94	0.88	1.48	1.12	0.91	0.80	0.00	1.00	0.83-1.19	0.96
rs1805126	G	0.44	1.22	1.07	1.51	0.99	1.10	1.16	0.00	1.14	1.02-1.28	0.02
rs12053903	С	0.41	1.28	1.04	1.38	0.98	1.12	1.06	0.00	1.12	1.00-1.26	0.045
rs41312391	т	0.20	1.43	1.32	1.41	1.05	1.20	1.09	0.00	1.27	1.11-1.45	3.4x10⁻⁴
rs3922844	Т	0.26	0.90	1.24	1.04	1.29	0.88	0.96	0.10	1.08	0.95-1.23	0.22
rs6599219	G	0.37	0.91	1.01	1.09	0.80	1.01	1.05	0.00	0.97	0.86-1.08	0.54
rs7372712	Т	0.16	0.90	0.88	1.25	1.16	0.84	1.14	0.00	1.01	0.87-1.18	0.86
rs2200733	т	0.16	1.15	1.15	1.55	1.42	1.12	1.58	0.00	1.28	1.11-1.48	7.9x10⁻⁴
rs10033464	Т	0.17	1.28	0.92	1.19	0.94	1.32	1.20	0.00	1.10	0.94-1.28	0.23
rs1042714	G	0.38	0.78	1.22	0.81	0.96	1.07	1.12	0.44	1.00	0.89-1.12	0.99
rs12210810	С	0.03	0.79	0.77	1.77	1.04	0.52	0.68	0.00	0.94	0.68-1.30	0.71
rs4725982	Т	0.29	0.73	1.08	1.00	1.23	1.11	1.66	0.62	1.09	0.89-1.34	0.42
rs1805123	G	0.17	1.39	1.06	0.55	0.89	N/A	N/A	0.69	0.97	0.71-1.34	0.87
rs3807375	Т	0.44	0.86	1.05	1.09	1.52	1.29	1.49	0.61	1.18	0.98-1.41	0.08
rs2383207	G	0.43	1.04	1.00	1.15	1.06	1.31	1.61	0.31	1.13	1.01-1.26	0.04
rs2074238	Т	0.09	0.98	0.77	1.22	1.15	1.03	1.03	0.00	1.00	0.82-1.21	0.98
rs757092	G	0.36	0.89	0.91	0.82	1.25	0.94	0.90	0.03	0.95	0.85-1.07	0.43
rs12576239	Т	0.16	1.05	0.73	0.87	0.98	1.17	0.91	0.00	0.92	0.79-1.08	0.32
rs10798	G	0.36	0.89	1.08	1.06	1.15	1.20	0.91	0.00	1.04	0.93-1.17	0.49
rs735951	А	0.42	0.81	1.06	1.00	0.95	0.95	1.00	0.00	0.96	0.86-1.08	0.50
rs37062	G	0.27	1.02	0.95	1.03	1.06	1.27	0.97	0.00	1.03	0.90-1.16	0.71
rs17779747	Т	0.25	0.81	1.04	1.03	0.84	0.95	1.05	0.00	0.95	0.83-1.08	0.42
rs1805128	Т	0.02	0.89	0.71	0.89	1.11	0.52	1.00	0.00	0.84	0.53-1.34	0.46
rs727957	Т	0.17	0.93	0.93	0.89	0.71	0.96	1.11	0.00	0.92	0.79-1.07	0.26

Table 10. Results from the SCD meta-analysis of common genetic variants

CAF = coded allele frequency; Chr. = chromosome; CI = confidence interval; HR = hazard ratio; HSDS = Helsinki Sudden Death Study; N/A = not available; OR = odds ratio; RR = relative risk; SCD = sudden cardiac death; SNP = single nucleotide polymorphism; TASTY = Tampere Autopsy Study.

7. Rare arrhythmia-associated mutations in the Finnish population

The prevalence and clinical phenotype, including the occurrence of arrhythmia, heart failure, and SCD, of ten arrhythmia-associated gene mutations (Table 11) were studied in the FINRISK 1992, 1997, 2002, and Health 2000 (including the Mini-Finland Health Survey) population cohorts and two series of forensic autopsies, HSDS and TASTY (Study VI, total $n = 29\ 290$, n of SCDs = 715). The combined prevalence of these ten mutations was 79 per 10 000 individuals in the Finnish population (Table 11). Within Finland, substantial regional differences in the prevalences of *KCNQ1* G589D, *KCNH2* L552S, *KCNH2* R176W, and *PKP2* Q59L were identified. In addition, the municipality of birth of *DSP* T1373A and *RYR2* R3570W carriers showed marked geographic clustering.

In the population cohorts, 14 (6.5%) of the mutation carriers suffered from arrhythmia and 7 (3.3%) from heart failure based on information obtained from the national health care registries. Of the 715 probable and possible SCD cases in the population and autopsy samples, 7 (1.0%) carried one of the ten arrhythmia-associated mutations (Table 11), but none of the mutations were associated with significantly increased risk of SCD (p > 0.05). The yearly incidence of probable and possible SCD was 0.19% for the mutation carriers and 0.18% for non-carriers.

Gene	Mutation	population 5)	HSDS and TASTY (n = 825)			
		n Prevalence per n of SCD 10 000 (95% Cl) cases		n	n of SCD cases	
KCNQ1	G589D	28	9.9 (6.6-14.9)	0	0	-
KCNQ1	IVS7-2A>G	1	0.4 (0.05-2.6)	0	0	-
KCNH2	L552S	26	8.0 (5.1-12.6)	0	1	1
KCNH2	R176W	42	17.6 (12.4-24.8)	1	2	2
PKP2	Q59L	85	29.3 (22.2-38.6)	2	1	0
PKP2	Q62K	12	4.3 (2.3-8.1)	0	0	-
PKP2	N613K	0	-	-	0	-
DSG2	3059_3062delAGAG	5	2.7 (1.0-7.5)	0	0	-
DSP	T1373A	10	3.8 (1.6-8.7)	0	1	0
RYR2	R3570W	7	2.6 (1.0-6.3)	1	0	-
Total of all mutations		215*	78.5 (66.8-92.3)	4	5	3

Table 11. Rare arrhythmia mutations in the Finnish population and autopsy samples

*One subject with both PKP2 Q59L and RYR2 R3570W.

CI = confidence interval; HSDS = Helsinki Sudden Death Study; SCD = sudden cardiac death; TASTY = Tampere Autopsy Study.

DISCUSSION

1. Desmosomal defects underlying Finnish ARVC

1.1. Desmosomal mutations and their cellular consequences

Previous studies have revealed desmosomal mutations in approximately half of the ARVC patients examined genetically (Pilichou et al. 2006, den Haan et al. 2009, Christensen et al. 2010, Fressart et al. 2010, Xu et al. 2010, Cox et al. 2011). In the Finnish ARVC patient material, however, only 18% of probands were shown to carry a desmosomal mutation (Studies I and II, and Lahtinen AM et al. unpublished data). This difference may reflect population-specificity in the genetics of ARVC as well as still unidentified genes and pathways in the pathogenesis of this disorder. All mutations in the present study, except *PKP2* Q62K, were novel, which further underlines the population-specific differences in ARVC.

Compound heterozygosity and digenic heterozygosity of desmosomal mutations have increasingly been recognized in ARVC patients (Bhuiyan et al. 2009, den Haan et al. 2009, Bauce et al. 2010). A compound heterozygous patient with *PKP2* Q62K and N613K was reported in Study I. It seems that less severe mutations are unable to cause the disease alone, requiring an additional trigger, such as another mutation, for disease progression. Since ARVC is a common cause of death in young athletes (Thiene et al. 1988) and endurance training accelerates the disease development in a mouse model (Kirchhof et al. 2006), physical exertion may represent an external factor inducing the disease in susceptible patients.

PKP2 Q59L was reported as a Finnish ARVC founder mutation with a penetrance of 20% in Studies I and II. It is located in the conserved HR2 domain within the plakophilin-2 head domain, which mediates interactions with other desmosomal proteins (Chen et al. 2002). Functional studies have shown that this mutation disrupts the interaction between plakophilin-2 and desmoplakin (Hall et al. 2009). Plakophilin-2 with Q62K is degraded more rapidly than wild-type protein and fails to recruit desmoplakin to desmosomes (Hall et al. 2009). *PKP2* N613K resides in a conserved amino acid sequence, which may participate in protein binding (Choi and Weis 2005). Study I demonstrated less linear intercalated disks and irregular desmosomal structures in the cardiomyocytes of the compound heterozygous

carrier of *PKP2* N613K and Q62K. These plakophilin-2 missense mutations may thus lead to decreased cytoskeletal attachment at intercalated disks, which may predispose to tissue disruption during physical stress. *PKP2* 563delT abolishes almost half of the plakophilin-2 head domain and all armadillo repeats, potentially having deleterious consequences on the desmosomal structure and protein interactions.

DSP T1373A may affect the homodimerization of desmoplakin since it is located in the coiled-coil rod domain of this protein (Study II). DSG2 3059_3062delAGAG truncates the desmoglein-specific cytoplasmic region, which is involved in interactions with desmosomal proteins residing in the cytoplasm (Kami et al. 2009). This mutation leads to a diminished immunoreactive signal for several desmosomal proteins: desmoglein-2, plakophilin-2, plakoglobin, and desmoplakin (Study II), indicating that the desmosomal structure is affected as an ensemble. This impairment leads to disorganization of the intercalated disk structure, as detected in the electron microscopic analyses in Study II. The reduction of plakoglobin at the desmosomes may disturb Wnt/ β -catenin signalling (Garcia-Gras et al. 2006, Asimaki et al. 2009), which could result in cardiomyocyte apoptosis and replacement by adipose and fibrous tissue (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Main cellular processes in cardiomyocytes contributing to arrhythmia susceptibility. Impairment of any of these important cellular functions may predispose to potentially life-threatening arrhythmias. The functions and interplay of the principal genes in this study are also shown. $Ca^{2+} = calcium ion$; $K^+ = potassium ion$; $Na^+ = sodium ion$.

1.2. Desmosomal mutations at the population level

The prevalence of desmosomal mutations in the general Finnish population, 1:200-1:250 (Studies II and VI), is considerable higher than the published estimation of ARVC prevalence 1:1000-1:5000 (Rampazzo et al. 1994, Peters et al. 2004). Since the prevalence estimate of desmosomal mutations is based on only five mutations, comprehensive screening of all desmosomal genes in a population sample could reveal a substantially larger percentage of mutation carriers. A recent study reported 69 (16%) of 427 control individuals to carry a rare mutation in a gene associated with ARVC (Kapplinger et al. 2011). The mutations in these control individuals were randomly distributed along the coding sequence of the desmosomal genes, whereas mutations in ARVC patients clustered in the *PKP2* gene and the amino-terminal regions of *DSG2* and *DSP* (Kapplinger et al. 2011). In contrast to these desmosomal mutations in control individuals, which were considered mainly non-pathogenic background noise (Kapplinger et al. 2011), the desmosomal mutations identified in Studies I and II were considered probably or potentially harmful based on functional and family data. Therefore, a large number of individuals in the Finnish population are predicted to be at risk of developing ARVC or related myocardial abnormalities.

PKP2 Q59L was identified as a Finnish ARVC founder mutation, with a prevalence of 1:340 in the general population (Studies I, II, and VI). This founder effect appears to be caused by the unique population history of Finland, including a small founder population, bottleneck effects, and genetic isolation (Sajantila et al. 1996, Peltonen et al. 1999). The prevalence of desmosomal mutations in other populations remains to be elucidated, but since ARVC founder mutations have been reported in Dutch and South African populations (Watkins et al. 2009, van der Zwaag et al. 2010, Kapplinger et al. 2011), prevalent desmosomal mutations may also occur in other populations.

Approximately half of the mutation carriers in the Health 2000 study cohort presented with arrhythmia or ECG abnormalities (Study II). This figure encompasses a wide range of clinical manifestations, including self-reported arrhythmia, ECG alterations suggestive of cardiac abnormalities, and ventricular tachycardia in a case of SCD. *DSP* T1373A could play a role even in atrioventricular conduction since it was associated with PR interval prolongation. Only one of those 11 mutation carriers with arrhythmia also featured ECG alterations characteristic of ARVC, although repolarization abnormalities are usually

considered an early marker of ARVC manifestation. This is in line with the recent finding that T-wave inversion in right precordial leads is not associated with an increased risk of arrhythmic mortality (Aro et al. 2012). Desmosomal mutations may thus be associated with a wide spectrum of cardiac abnormalities and may require an additional genetic or environmental trigger for progression to overt disease. Also protective variants, such as *PKP2* L366P, may affect disease expressivity. Other possible explanations for the low penetrance of ARVC mutations in the Finnish population sample are late onset of disease and lack of comprehensive cardiologic examinations in the Health 2000 study.

2. Common genetic variants modulating QT interval and LQTS phenotype

2.1. Genetic components of QT interval

Two GWA studies reported 15 independent SNPs to be associated with QT interval duration (Newton-Cheh et al. 2009b, Pfeufer et al. 2009). Thirteen of these associations were replicated with effect estimates to the same direction in the Health 2000 population cohort (Study IV). The *LIG3* SNP rs2074518 was excluded in the quality control of genotyping, and the *KCNJ2* SNP rs17779747 could not be replicated, probably due to limited power to detect a small effect size. The QT interval-associated loci include cardiac ion channel genes associated with LQTS: *KCNQ1*, *KCNH2*, *SCN5A*, *KCNE1*, and *KCNJ2*. Not surprisingly, QT interval-associated SNPs are also found near genes with a known function as regulators of ion channels: *NOS1AP* encoding the nitric oxide synthase 1 adaptor protein, *PLN* encoding phospholamban, an inhibitor of cardiac muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium channel, and *ATP1B1* encoding the β -subunit of the sodium-potassium transporter. *CNOT1*, *LITAF*, and *RNF207* represent candidate genes with unestablished roles in cardiac repolarization.

 QT_{score} in Study IV combines the effects of the 14 QT interval-associated SNPs. It explained 8.6% of the variation in QT interval, compared with 5.4-6.5% in the QTGEN Study (Newton-Cheh et al. 2009b). These common SNPs explain only a minority of the heritability of QT interval, which has been estimated at 35-40% (Newton-Cheh et al. 2005, Li et al. 2009a). The highest QT_{score} quintile had a 15.6 ms longer group mean QT interval than the lowest quintile (Study IV), while the corresponding figure was only 10-12 ms in the QTGEN Study (Newton-Cheh et al. 2009b). These differences may be explained by the use

of manually checked QT interval measurements and QT interval nomogram-corrected for heart rate in the Health 2000 study. It is also possible that the genetic components of QT interval in the genetically homogeneous Finnish population slightly differ from those in the QTGEN study populations. Unlike the ECG measurement of QT interval, QT_{score} is not dependent on temporal variation in environmental factors such as hormones or medication. It remains constant throughout a person's lifetime. QT interval-prolonging variants may together influence the repolarization reserve, which reflects the ability of the cell to resist external factors affecting repolarization (Roden 2006). QT_{score} could thus be useful in prediction of individual susceptibility to QT-prolonging medication or other arrhythmogenic stimuli.

2.2. Modifier genes in LQTS

The length of QT interval and the severity of symptoms vary considerably even between carriers of the same LQTS mutation (Fodstad et al. 2004), suggesting the occurrence of other disease-modifying factors. The minor allele of *KCNE1* D85N has been found to prolong QT interval by 10 ms in the general Finnish population (Marjamaa et al. 2009a). It has been reported to reduce both I_{Ks} and I_{Kr} currents (Figure 10) and to be associated with a more severe phenotype in LQTS mutation carriers (Westenskow et al. 2004, Nishio et al. 2009). In Study III, *KCNE1* D85N was shown to prolong QT interval in *KCNQ1* G589D male carriers more than in *KCNQ1* G589D female carriers or in the general population. The data also suggested that *KCNE1* D85N could be associated with a more severe clinical phenotype in *KCNQ1* G589D carriers. The interaction between *KCNQ1* G589D and *KCNE1* D85N may arise from the co-assembly of K_v7.1 encoded by *KCNQ1* and minK encoded by *KCNE1* to form the I_{Ks} channel (Barhanin et al. 1996, Sanguinetti et al. 1996) (Figure 10). The effect of *KCNE1* D85N in *KCNH2* founder mutation carriers was non-significant in Study III, but this could be caused by a limited statistical power.

Several potential explanations exist for the suggested sex difference in the effect of *KCNE1* D85N. The baseline QT interval in *KCNQ1* G589D female carriers is longer than in *KCNQ1* G589D male carriers (Piippo et al. 2001, Study III). It is thus possible that *KCNE1* D85N brings out a masked I_{Ks} defect present in males. Another possibility is that sex differences in *KCNE1* expression levels (Drici et al. 2002) may influence the susceptibility to *KCNE1* D85N-mediated QT interval prolongation. *KCNE1* D85N could also interfere with binding

of hormonal or other sex-specific regulators of I_{Ks} and I_{Kr} channels, as sex hormones have been reported to regulate cardiac ion channels and to alter their susceptibility to blocking agents (Busch et al. 1997, Kurokawa et al. 2008).

LQTS modifier variants can be detected in genes encoding cardiac ion channels, such as K897T in *KCNH2* (Crotti et al. 2005) and H558R in *SCN5A* (Ye et al. 2003), but they may also occur in genes with a regulatory role in cardiac function. For example, variants in *NOS1AP*, which participates in the regulation of cardiac repolarization (Chang et al. 2008), influence the phenotype of LQTS mutations (Crotti et al. 2009, Tomás et al. 2010). It is likely that more LQTS modifier genes will be discovered in the future. Large samples of genetically uniform LQTS patients provide an excellent opportunity to study the effects of potential modifier variants on QT interval or arrhythmia susceptibility.

3. Genes, QT interval, and SCD

QT interval duration can be used to predict the risk of SCD (Straus et al. 2006). Study IV showed a 19% increased risk of SCD per 10-ms prolongation of QT interval. The effect was roughly linear, although familial short QT syndrome also predisposes to arrhythmia and SCD (Brugada et al. 2004, Hong et al. 2005). However, a markedly shortened QT interval occurs very rarely in the general population and may not always indicate an increased risk of cardiac death (Anttonen et al. 2007), which could explain the linear relationship. A dichotomous QT interval threshold (>450 ms for males and >470 ms for females) is a widely applied measure of risk of cardiac events in the clinical setting (Straus et al. 2006). Study IV provided further evidence for the utility of this threshold as a SCD risk predictor and demonstrated that QT interval is a suitable intermediate phenotype for the genetic studies of SCD.

The linear QT_{score} was not associated with SCD in Studies IV and V. A suggestive U-shaped association between the QT_{score} quintiles and SCD was noted in Study IV, but this finding was not replicated in the large meta-analysis in Study V. This lack of association could result from limited power to detect small effect sizes (hazard ratio <1.03 per 1-ms change in QT_{score} in Study V). It is also possible that all QT-prolonging alleles do not contribute to increasing the risk of SCD. Alternatively, some QT-shortening alleles may increase the risk of SCD (Brugada et al. 2004) or the effect may depend on the interaction between different

genetic factors (Ye et al. 2003). As depicted in Figure 1, both loss-of-function and gain-offunction types of mutations in ion channel genes may result in severe cardiac disorders predisposing to SCD. Therefore, a risk score based on the direct effect on SCD risk is likely to be more accurate than one based on the QT-prolonging effect of each allele.

4. Genetic arrhythmia susceptibility variants in SCD

4.1. Common genetic variants and SCD

The minor alleles of two novel common variants, rs41312391 and rs2200733, were significantly associated with risk of SCD, showing a 27% and 28% increased risk, respectively (Study V). Additional covariate adjustments indicated that these SNPs may predispose to fatal arrhythmias independently of CHD and its risk factors, QT-modulating medication, and heart failure. In addition, the association of rs2383207 with SCD was replicated (p = 0.036).

The SNP rs41312391 (IVS24+116G>A) is located in an intron of *SCN5A*. Evidence on the association between this SNP and cardiac repolarization is conflicting, as the minor allele has been associated with QT interval prolongation in one study (Aydin et al. 2005) and QT interval shortening in another study (Gouas et al. 2007). This variant is nevertheless in low linkage disequilibrium with rs12053903 ($r^2 = 0.36$) and rs1805126 ($r^2 = 0.32$), whose minor alleles are associated with QT interval shortening (Newton-Cheh et al. 2009b, Pfeufer et al. 2009). It is possible that rs41312391 is associated with increased risk of arrhythmia independently of cardiac repolarization. The gene expression analysis in Study V suggested that *WDR48*, a regulator of chromatin structure, might be involved in this association. However, *SCN5A* remains a more likely candidate gene for fatal arrhythmia due to its reported associations with several cardiac disorders (Wang et al. 1995, Chen et al. 1998, Schott et al. 2005, Tester and Ackerman 2007, Albert et al. 2010). In fact, the common *SCN5A* variant S1103Y is associated with risk of SCD (Splawski et al. 2002, Burke et al. 2005) and sudden infant death syndrome (Plant et al. 2006) in African Americans.

The variant rs2200733 was selected as a candidate SNP based on its previously reported association with atrial fibrillation (Gudbjartsson et al. 2007), which has been shown to

predispose to SCD after acute myocardial infarction (Pedersen et al. 2006). The results of Study V provide the first evidence of the association of rs2200733 with SCD. This SNP is located in 4q25 near *PITX2*. The gene expression analyses suggested that the minor allele of rs2200733 could be associated with increased expression of *PITX2*, which encodes a homeobox transcription factor involved in the generation of left-right asymmetry in cardiac development (Franco and Campione 2003) and sinoatrial node formation (Mommersteeg et al. 2007). *PITX2* is regulated by the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis (Kioussi et al. 2002). Deletion of Pitx2c in mice leads to gene expression changes in several cellular pathways, including apoptosis, cell adhesion, gap junctions, and cardiac ion channels (Chinchilla et al. 2011, Kirchhof et al. 2011). The disturbance of these cellular processes implicates a potential link between *PITX2* expression and life-threatening arrhythmia (Figure 10).

The SNP rs2383207 is located in 9p21 and has previously been linked to increased risk of myocardial infarction and SCD (Helgadottir et al. 2007, Newton-Cheh et al. 2009a). The proximal cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor genes *CDKN2A* and *CDKN2B* are involved in proliferation of aortic smooth muscle cells and CHD (Visel et al. 2010). Adjustment for risk factors for CHD attenuated the association (Study V), and therefore, it seems likely that the association between this SNP and SCD is conveyed through development of CHD.

The *NOS1AP* variants rs2880058, rs12036340, and rs12143842, previously reported to be associated with QT interval duration (Marjamaa et al. 2009a, Newton-Cheh et al. 2009b, Pfeufer et al. 2009), were not significantly associated with SCD in Study V. In the course of Study V, several other *NOS1AP* SNPs were reported to be associated with SCD (Kao et al. 2009, Westaway et al. 2011), and the effect of these variants remains to be examined in the Finnish population. The previously reported association of *ADRB2* Q27E (rs1042714) with SCD (Sotoodehnia et al. 2006) was not replicated in Study V. This could result from differences in the genetic structure of the study populations or in the SCD case adjudication protocol. The power to detect a hazard ratio of more than 1.3 was over 99% in Study V, but limited power could explain the lack of an association for SNPs with a more modest effect size. In general, varying availability of witness reports and autopsy data has increased heterogeneity in case definition between different SCD studies, thus complicating the replication of genetic findings.

4.2. Rare arrhythmia-associated mutations and SCD

The ten rare arrhythmia-associated mutations located in coding regions of the *KCNQ1*, *KCNH2*, *PKP2*, *DSG2*, *DSP*, and *RYR2* genes had a combined carrier frequency of 79 per 10 000 individuals in Finland (Study VI). The prevalence of the four Finnish LQTS founder mutations (36 per 10 000) corresponded to that previously reported in the general population (Marjamaa et al. 2009b), and the prevalence of the five Finnish ARVC mutations (39 per 10 000) was in the same range as in Study II. According to these results, as many as 1 in 130 Finns may carry a mutation increasing the susceptibility to severe arrhythmias. The geographic clustering of these mutations may be caused by founder effects during the population history of Finland (Peltonen et al. 1999). Long-term genetic drift may also have shaped the geographic differences in mutation prevalences (Palo et al. 2009). Only a small proportion of the mutation carriers suffered from arrhythmia (6.5%) or heart failure (3.3%) based on causes of death, hospitalization records, and special reimbursement eligibility for specific medications. Thus, the mutation penetrances seem significantly reduced, although data from extensive cardiologic examinations were not available in Study VI.

In previous studies, mutations in cardiac ion channels KCNO1, KCNH2, SCN5A, and RYR2 (Chugh et al. 2004b, Tester et al. 2004, Tester and Ackerman 2007, Albert et al. 2008, Adabag et al. 2010b, Marjamaa et al. 2011), and recently also in the desmosomal gene PKP2 (Zhang et al. 2012), have been identified in victims of SCD. In Study VI, 1% of the SCD victims carried one of the ten rare Finnish arrhythmia-associated mutations. These mutations seem to be involved in SCD only in rare cases, and future studies may require a longer follow-up time and a particular focus on cases with sudden arrhythmic death, which was not feasible in the population-based approach in Study VI. Of the rare mutations, RYR2 R3570W and KCNH2 R176W have been reported in several Finnish SCD cases. RYR2 R3570W, which causes a gain-of-function defect in the cardiac ryanodine receptor, was initially reported in two Finnish SCD victims (Marjamaa et al. 2011). The exact clinical significance of this mutation remains uncertain, however, as clinical findings among the surviving relatives were scarce (Marjamaa et al. 2011). KCNH2 R176W is a potentially disease-causing LQTS variant that has been found to prolong QT interval by 22 ms in the general Finnish population (Marjamaa et al. 2009b) and by 32 ms in LQTS families (Fodstad et al. 2006). Altogether three SCD victims carried KCNH2 R176W in Study VI, but further studies are needed to confirm the potential role of this mutation in SCD.

5. SCD risk prediction

Only a minority of SCDs involve patients classified into high-risk groups, including those with previously diagnosed myocardial infarction and ventricular tachycardia (Huikuri et al. 2001). Therefore, identification of more sensitive risk markers is essential for more effective prevention of SCDs. Traditional risk factors for CHD predispose to SCD in the general population (Wannamethee et al. 1995, Jouven et al. 1999). This was also observed in Study V, in which male gender, higher systolic blood pressure, prevalent diabetes, current and former cigarette smoking, low leisure-time physical activity, prevalent CHD, Eastern Finnish residency, and digoxin use were shown to be associated with increased risk of SCD. These risk factors may reveal increased risk of cardiovascular disease underlying SCD, but are not effective in evaluating individual risk of sudden death due to their low positive predictive value (Huikuri et al. 2001). At the population level, however, treatment of underlying cardiovascular disease reduces the occurrence of SCD.

Heart failure and left ventricular dysfunction, measured by reduced left ventricular ejection fraction, can be used to predict risk of SCD from arrhythmia, but these risk markers are not specific to arrhythmic causes of death (The Multicenter Postinfarction Research Group 1983). Premature ventricular depolarizations and non-sustained ventricular tachycardia may reflect underlying heart failure, but are not specific markers for SCD (Caruso et al. 1997). However, sustained polymorphic ventricular tachycardia and ventricular fibrillation predict high risk of SCD (Huikuri et al. 2001). ECG is useful in diagnosing structural heart disease and electrophysiological conditions, such as LQTS and ARVC, which predispose to SCD (Jervell and Lange-Nielsen 1957, Thiene et al. 1988). Even without a diagnosis of a specific cardiac disorder, several ECG markers provide additional information on arrhythmia susceptibility. For example, QT interval prolongation, QRS complex widening, and J-point elevation are associated with increased risk of SCD (Straus et al. 2006, Dhar et al. 2008, Tikkanen et al. 2009, Kurl et al. 2012, Study IV). Signal-averaged ECG may also indicate susceptibility to arrhythmia, but its positive predictive value is low (McClements and Adgey 1993). Electrophysiologic testing is a valuable tool for risk stratification in patients with high risk of ventricular arrhythmias (Moss et al. 1996, Buxton et al. 1999).

Family history of SCD remains a risk factor for SCD even after adjustment for myocardial infarction and CHD risk factors (Friedlander et al. 1998, Jouven et al. 1999, Friedlander et
al. 2002). This finding indicates the involvement of independent genetic risk factors predisposing to SCD. At the individual level, molecular screening of mutations in cardiac ion channel genes may help in evaluating the cause of sudden unexplained death (Lunetta et al. 2003, Tester et al. 2004, Tester and Ackerman 2007). In this case, identification of a rare ion channel mutation may also prove effective in evaluating the SCD risk in surviving family members. Common SCD risk variants are associated with a more modestly increased risk (Study V), but could be used to predict risk together with clinical risk factors. QT_{score} did not appear to be a useful predictor of SCD risk in Studies IV and V, but development of a risk score based on common SCD-associated variants could prove more informative along with accumulating data on the genetic components of SCD.

6. Study limitations

In Study I, only mutations in the exons of four desmosomal genes were searched for in the ARVC patients, and therefore, the occurrence of other types of mutations cannot be excluded. In Study II, only five desmosomal mutations and two common polymorphisms were assayed in the Health 2000 population sample. Thus, the total prevalence of all desmosomal mutations in the Finnish population is expected to be higher than 1:250. The participants of the Health 2000 and FINRISK studies did not undergo comprehensive cardiologic examinations, and thus, the exact disease penetrance in the mutation carriers could not be assessed. Future functional and population studies are needed to reveal the exact clinical significance of the desmosomal mutations identified in Studies I and II.

In Study III, the power to identify an association between *KCNE1* D85N and clinical outcome in LQT2 was limited due to the small number of mutation carriers with D85N. Despite the large sample size in Studies IV-VI, the power to identify modest effect sizes was limited. Multiple health care registries and autopsy data were utilized to reliably identify SCDs, but the association between genetic variants and sudden arrhythmic death could not be specifically investigated in this population-based approach. As the population samples consisted only of individuals aged over 25 years, the prevalence and clinical significance of arrhythmia-associated variants in children and young adults remain to be explored. Replication studies in independent samples are needed to confirm the novel findings of Studies II, III, and V. In particular, confirmation of the gene expression results would require a larger sample size and RNA quantification in cardiac tissue.

CONCLUSIONS

Mutations in genes encoding desmosomal proteins account for only approximately one-fifth of ARVC cases in Finland. Desmosomal mutations are associated with reduced disease penetrance, and compound heterozygosity may contribute to disease progression. At sites of cell adhesion, a mutation in a desmosomal protein may disturb the attachment of other desmosomal proteins and lead to disorganization of the intercalated disk structure. *PKP2* Q59L is a novel ARVC founder mutation showing an estimated prevalence of 1:340 in Finland. In total, at least 1:250 Finns carry a desmosomal mutation predisposing to ARVC or related functional abnormalities of the heart, but the reduced disease penetrance associated with these mutations should be considered in counselling of mutation carriers. Including both desmosomal and ion channel mutations, as many as 1:130 Finns may carry a mutation increasing the susceptibility to severe arrhythmias.

KCNE1 D85N presents a potential sex-specific disease-modifying factor in LQTS. This common genetic variant seems to prolong QT interval in males with LQT1, but not in females with LQT1. It may also be associated with increased disease severity. In the general population, *KCNE1* D85N together with 13 other SNPs explain less than 10% of the variation in QT interval. These QT interval-associated SNPs as well as still undiscovered variants present potential LQTS modifiers, and ultimately, this information could be used in assessment of individual susceptibility to QT-prolonging medication and LQTS.

A 10-ms prolongation of QT interval is associated with a 19% increased risk of SCD in the Finnish population. A risk score based on QT interval-associated SNPs does not, however, directly contribute to SCD risk prediction. In contrast, a novel variant in *SCN5A* and another in 4q25 near *PITX2*, as well as a previously identified variant in 9p21 near the *CDKN2A* and *CDKN2B* genes, are associated with increased risk of SCD. Rare mutations in *KCNH2*, *RYR2*, and *PKP2* are carried by individual SCD victims, but future studies are needed to reveal their significance in sudden death. In the future, a panel of genetic and clinical risk markers could provide useful information for SCD risk stratification and prevention.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out during 2005-2012 in the laboratory of Professor Kimmo Kontula in the Research Programs Unit, Molecular Medicine, and at the Department of Medicine, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Helsinki. Professors Reijo Tilvis, Olavi Ylikorkala, and Markku Heikinheimo, the former and current heads of the Institute of Clinical Medicine, and Professors Kimmo Kontula, Vuokko Kinnula, and Timo Strandberg, the former and current heads of the Department of Medicine, are acknowledged for providing excellent research facilities.

This study was financially supported by the Centre of Excellence in Complex Disease Genetics of the Academy of Finland, the Finnish Cultural Foundation, the Special State Share of Helsinki University Central Hospital, the Sigrid Jusélius Foundation, and the Finnish Foundation for Cardiovascular Research.

My deepest gratitude is owed to my supervisors, Dr. Annukka Marjamaa and Professor Kimmo Kontula, for generous guidance and support over the years. Annukka, you were the one who first taught me how to do science, everything from lab work to writing a paper. You were always there for me when I needed help. Kimmo, I cannot thank you enough for providing me with the opportunity to do research on such an interesting topic and in such a stimulating environment. I greatly admire your enthusiasm for science and your endless ability to come up with new ideas and put them into practice to solve clinically relevant scientific questions.

I thank Docent Juhani Junttila and Docent Samuli Ripatti for carefully reviewing this thesis and for their invaluable comments and constructive criticism. Carol Ann Pelli is acknowledged for editing the language of this thesis.

I am indebted to the cardiologists, Docent Heikki Swan, Dr. Maija Kaartinen, Docent Tiina Heliö, and Docent Lauri Toivonen from the Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, who examined and treated the patients and provided a clinical point of view for the study. I am also deeply grateful to all of the collaborators in this study, Professor Veikko Salomaa, Dr. Aki Havulinna, Professor Markus Perola, and Professor Antti Jula from the National Institute for Health and Welfare, Professor Eero Lehtonen and Professor Veli-Pekka Lehto from the Department of Pathology, Assistant Professor Christopher Newton-Cheh and Dr. Peter Noseworthy from the Broad Institute and Massachusetts General Hospital, Professor Aarno Palotie, Professor Leena Peltonen, Docent Elisabeth Widén, and Dr. Johannes Kettunen from the Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland, Dr. Kimmo Porthan and Docent Lasse Oikarinen from the Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, and Professor Pekka Karhunen from the School of Medicine, University of Tampere. I thank you all for your valuable contributions.

I am most grateful to Susanna Saarinen, Hanna Nieminen, Saara Nyqvist, Sini Weckström, Hanna Ranne, and Minna Härkönen for skilful technical assistance. I also thank Raija Selivuo, Jaana Westerback, and Minni Lajunen for help with numerous practical matters. Kaisa Silander and Antti-Pekka Sarin from the National Institute for Health and Welfare are acknowledged for help in the genotyping of population samples.

All of the present and former members of Kimmo Kontula's laboratory are warmly thanked for their friendship and guidance throughout this project: Michael Backlund, Laura Bouchard, Kati Donner, Heidi Fodstad, Päivi Forsblom, Tuula Hannila-Handelberg, Timo Hiltunen, Juuso Kaiharju, Kaisa Kettunen, Maarit Lappalainen, Jukka Lehtonen, Marika Lilja, Maiju Merisalo, Helena Miettinen, Paulina Paavola-Sakki, Kristian Paavonen, Kirsi Paukku, Kirsi Piippo, Camilla Schalin-Jäntti, Timo Suonsyrjä, and Annaliisa Valtimo. I also thank the present and former members of Aarno Palotie's laboratory: Kirsi Alakurtti, Verneri Anttila, Eija Hämäläinen, Mari Kaunisto, Päivi Tikka-Kleemola, Annika Wennerström, and Docent Maija Wessman, as well as all other colleagues at Biomedicum, especially Mubashir Hanif, Kaisa Hynninen, Riina Kandolin, Paula Kokko, Niina Koskipää, Merja Lahtinen, Susanna Mehtälä, Maria Sandbacka, Tuula Soppela, and Jaana Valkeapää, for companionship and numerous cheerful moments during lunch and coffee breaks.

My sincere gratitude is due to all patients, family members, and volunteers who participated in this study.

I warmly thank all of my friends and family members for the leisure-time activities and unforgettable moments that we have shared. My parents Marja and Jukka are thanked for believing in me and supporting me in all the paths I have chosen in life. I am deeply grateful to my grandparents Anja and Mikko for always being there when I have needed it most. My brother Antti and my sister-in-law Alena are thanked for the many happy moments that we have spent together. Finally, I thank my nieces Alisia and Emilia for being the most precious things in my life. You have taught me to look at life from an entirely different perspective. You truly mean the world to me.

Helsinki, October 2012

Amblea der

REFERENCES

- 1000 Genomes Project Consortium. A map of human genome variation from population-scale sequencing. Nature 2010;467:1061-73.
- Abbott GW, Sesti F, Splawski I, Buck ME, Lehmann MH, Timothy KW, Keating MT, and Goldstein SA. MiRP1 forms IKr potassium channels with HERG and is associated with cardiac arrhythmia. Cell 1999;97:175-87.
- Adabag AS, Therneau TM, Gersh BJ, Weston SA, and Roger VL. Sudden death after myocardial infarction. JAMA 2008;300:2022-9.
- Adabag AS, Luepker RV, Roger VL, and Gersh BJ. Sudden cardiac death: epidemiology and risk factors. Nat Rev Cardiol 2010a;7:216-25.
- Adabag AS, Peterson G, Apple FS, Titus J, King R, and Luepker RV. Etiology of sudden death in the community: results of anatomical, metabolic, and genetic evaluation. Am Heart J 2010b;159:33-9.
- Ahmad F, Li D, Karibe A, Gonzalez O, Tapscott T, Hill R, Weilbaecher D, Blackie P, Furey M, Gardner M, Bachinski LL, and Roberts R. Localization of a gene responsible for arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia to chromosome 3p23. Circulation 1998;98:2791-5.
- Akai J, Makita N, Sakurada H, Shirai N, Ueda K, Kitabatake A, Nakazawa K, Kimura A, and Hiraoka M. A novel SCN5A mutation associated with idiopathic ventricular fibrillation without typical ECG findings of Brugada syndrome. FEBS Lett 2000;479:29-34.
- Albert CM, Nam EG, Rimm EB, Jin HW, Hajjar RJ, Hunter DJ, MacRae CA, and Ellinor PT. Cardiac sodium channel gene variants and sudden cardiac death in women. Circulation 2008;117:16-23.
- Albert CM, MacRae CA, Chasman DI, VanDenburgh M, Buring JE, Manson JE, Cook NR, and Newton-Cheh C. Common variants in cardiac ion channel genes are associated with sudden cardiac death. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2010;3:222-9.
- Alcalai R, Metzger S, Rosenheck S, Meiner V, and Chajek-Shaul T. A recessive mutation in desmoplakin causes arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia, skin disorder, and woolly hair. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;42:319-27.
- Alders M, Koopmann TT, Christiaans I, Postema PG, Beekman L, Tanck MW, Zeppenfeld K, Loh P, Koch KT, Demolombe S, Mannens MM, Bezzina CR, and Wilde AA. Haplotype-sharing analysis implicates chromosome 7q36 harboring DPP6 in familial idiopathic ventricular fibrillation. Am J Hum Genet 2009;84:468-76.
- Allen E, Yu QC, and Fuchs E. Mice expressing a mutant desmosomal cadherin exhibit abnormalities in desmosomes, proliferation, and epidermal differentiation. J Cell Biol 1996;133:1367-82.
- Altshuler DM, Gibbs RA, Peltonen L, Dermitzakis E, Schaffner SF, Yu F, Bonnen PE, de Bakker PI, Deloukas P, Gabriel SB, Gwilliam R, Hunt S, Inouye M, Jia X, Palotie A, Parkin M, Whittaker P, Chang K, Hawes A, Lewis LR, Ren Y, Wheeler D, Muzny DM, Barnes C, Darvishi K, Hurles M, Korn JM, Kristiansson K, Lee C, McCarrol SA, Nemesh J, Keinan A, Montgomery SB, Pollack S, Price AL, Soranzo N, Gonzaga-Jauregui C, Anttila V, Brodeur W, Daly MJ, Leslie S, McVean G, Moutsianas L, Nguyen H, Zhang Q, Ghori MJ, McGinnis R, McLaren W, Takeuchi F, Grossman SR, Shlyakhter I, Hostetter EB, Sabeti PC, Adebamowo CA, Foster MW, Gordon DR, Licinio J, Manca MC, Marshall PA, Matsuda I, Ngare D, Wang VO, Reddy D, Rotimi CN, Royal CD, Sharp RR, Zeng C, Brooks LD, and McEwen JE. Integrating common and rare genetic variation in diverse human populations. Nature 2010;467:52-8.
- Amar LS, Shabana AH, Oboeuf M, Martin N, and Forest N. Involvement of desmoplakin phosphorylation in the regulation of desmosomes by protein kinase C, in HeLa cells. Cell Adhes Commun 1999;7:125-38.
- Amin AS, Tan HL, and Wilde AA. Cardiac ion channels in health and disease. Heart Rhythm 2010;7:117-26.
- Antoniades L, Tsatsopoulou A, Anastasakis A, Syrris P, Asimaki A, Panagiotakos D, Zambartas C, Stefanadis C, McKenna WJ, and Protonotarios N. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy caused by deletions in plakophilin-2 and plakoglobin (Naxos disease) in families from Greece and Cyprus: genotype-phenotype relations, diagnostic features and prognosis. Eur Heart J 2006;27:2208-16.

- Anttonen O, Junttila MJ, Rissanen H, Reunanen A, Viitasalo M, and Huikuri HV. Prevalence and prognostic significance of short QT interval in a middle-aged Finnish population. Circulation 2007;116:714-20.
- Antzelevitch C. Role of spatial dispersion of repolarization in inherited and acquired sudden cardiac death syndromes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2007;293:H2024-38.
- Antzelevitch C, Pollevick GD, Cordeiro JM, Casis O, Sanguinetti MC, Aizawa Y, Guerchicoff A, Pfeiffer R, Oliva A, Wollnik B, Gelber P, Bonaros EP, Jr., Burashnikov E, Wu Y, Sargent JD, Schickel S, Oberheiden R, Bhatia A, Hsu LF, Haïssaguerre M, Schimpf R, Borggrefe M, and Wolpert C. Loss-of-function mutations in the cardiac calcium channel underlie a new clinical entity characterized by ST-segment elevation, short QT intervals, and sudden cardiac death. Circulation 2007;115:442-9.
- Anvari A, Schuster E, Gottsauner-Wolf M, Wojta J, and Huber K. PAI-I 4G/5G polymorphism and sudden cardiac death in patients with coronary artery disease. Thromb Res 2001;103:103-7.
- Arbustini E, Pasotti M, Pilotto A, Pellegrini C, Grasso M, Previtali S, Repetto A, Bellini O, Azan G, Scaffino M, Campana C, Piccolo G, Viganò M, and Tavazzi L. Desmin accumulation restrictive cardiomyopathy and atrioventricular block associated with desmin gene defects. Eur J Heart Fail 2006;8:477-83.
- Arking DE, Pfeufer A, Post W, Kao WH, Newton-Cheh C, Ikeda M, West K, Kashuk C, Akyol M, Perz S, Jalilzadeh S, Illig T, Gieger C, Guo CY, Larson MG, Wichmann HE, Marbán E, O'Donnell CJ, Hirschhorn JN, Kääb S, Spooner PM, Meitinger T, and Chakravarti A. A common genetic variant in the NOS1 regulator NOS1AP modulates cardiac repolarization. Nat Genet 2006;38:644-51.
- Arking DE, Reinier K, Post W, Jui J, Hilton G, O'Connor A, Prineas RJ, Boerwinkle E, Psaty BM, Tomaselli GF, Rea T, Sotoodehnia N, Siscovick DS, Burke GL, Marban E, Spooner PM, Chakravarti A, and Chugh SS. Genome-wide association study identifies GPC5 as a novel genetic locus protective against sudden cardiac arrest. PLoS One 2010;5:e9879.
- Arking DE, Junttila MJ, Goyette P, Huertas-Vazquez A, Eijgelsheim M, Blom MT, Newton-Cheh C, Reinier K, Teodorescu C, Uy-Evanado A, Carter-Monroe N, Kaikkonen KS, Kortelainen ML, Boucher G, Lagacé C, Moes A, Zhao X, Kolodgie F, Rivadeneira F, Hofman A, Witteman JC, Uitterlinden AG, Marsman RF, Pazoki R, Bardai A, Koster RW, Dehghan A, Hwang SJ, Bhatnagar P, Post W, Hilton G, Prineas RJ, Li M, Köttgen A, Ehret G, Boerwinkle E, Coresh J, Kao WH, Psaty BM, Tomaselli GF, Sotoodehnia N, Siscovick DS, Burke GL, Marbán E, Spooner PM, Cupples LA, Jui J, Gunson K, Kesäniemi YA, Wilde AA, Tardif JC, O'Donnell CJ, Bezzina CR, Virmani R, Stricker BH, Tan HL, Albert CM, Chakravarti A, Rioux JD, Huikuri HV, and Chugh SS. Identification of a sudden cardiac death susceptibility locus at 2q24.2 through genome-wide association in European ancestry individuals. PLoS Genet 2011;7:e1002158.
- Armstrong DK, McKenna KE, Purkis PE, Green KJ, Eady RA, Leigh IM, and Hughes AE. Haploinsufficiency of desmoplakin causes a striate subtype of palmoplantar keratoderma. Hum Mol Genet 1999;8:143-8.
- Aro AL, Anttonen O, Tikkanen JT, Junttila MJ, Kerola T, Rissanen HA, Reunanen A, and Huikuri HV. Prevalence and prognostic significance of T-wave inversions in right precordial leads of a 12-lead electrocardiogram in the middle-aged subjects. Circulation 2012;125:2572-7.
- Aromaa A, Heliövaara M, Impivaara O, Knekt P, and Maatela J. The Execution of the Mini-Finland Health Survey. Part 1. Aims, Methods and Study Population (in Finnish with English summary). Publications of the Social Insurance Institution ML:88, Helsinki and Turku 1989.
- Aromaa A and Koskinen S. Health and functional capacity in Finland. Baseline Results of the Health 2000 Health Examination survey. Publications of the National Public Health Institute B12/2004, Helsinki 2004.
- Asimaki A, Syrris P, Wichter T, Matthias P, Saffitz JE, and McKenna WJ. A novel dominant mutation in plakoglobin causes arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Am J Hum Genet 2007;81:964-73.
- Asimaki A, Tandri H, Huang H, Halushka MK, Gautam S, Basso C, Thiene G, Tsatsopoulou A, Protonotarios N, McKenna WJ, Calkins H, and Saffitz JE. A new diagnostic test for arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med 2009;360:1075-84.

- Awad MM, Dalal D, Cho E, Amat-Alarcon N, James C, Tichnell C, Tucker A, Russell SD, Bluemke DA, Dietz HC, Calkins H, and Judge DP. DSG2 mutations contribute to arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. Am J Hum Genet 2006a;79:136-42.
- Awad MM, Dalal D, Tichnell C, James C, Tucker A, Abraham T, Spevak PJ, Calkins H, and Judge DP. Recessive arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia due to novel cryptic splice mutation in PKP2. Hum Mutat 2006b;27:1157.
- Awad MM, Calkins H, and Judge DP. Mechanisms of disease: molecular genetics of arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 2008;5:258-67.
- Aydin A, Bähring S, Dahm S, Guenther UP, Uhlmann R, Busjahn A, and Luft FC. Single nucleotide polymorphism map of five long-QT genes. J Mol Med (Berl) 2005;83:159-65.
- Bai R, Napolitano C, Bloise R, Monteforte N, and Priori SG. Yield of genetic screening in inherited cardiac channelopathies: how to prioritize access to genetic testing. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2009;2:6-15.
- Barc J, Briec F, Schmitt S, Kyndt F, Le Cunff M, Baron E, Vieyres C, Sacher F, Redon R, Le Caignec C, Le Marec H, Probst V, and Schott JJ. Screening for copy number variation in genes associated with the long QT syndrome: clinical relevance. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011;57:40-7.
- Barhanin J, Lesage F, Guillemare E, Fink M, Lazdunski M, and Romey G. K(V)LQT1 and lsK (minK) proteins associate to form the I(Ks) cardiac potassium current. Nature 1996;384:78-80.
- Barr L, Dewey MM, and Berger W. Propagation of Action Potentials and the Structure of the Nexus in Cardiac Muscle. J Gen Physiol 1965;48:797-823.
- Bauce B, Nava A, Beffagna G, Basso C, Lorenzon A, Smaniotto G, De Bortoli M, Rigato I, Mazzotti E, Steriotis A, Marra MP, Towbin JA, Thiene G, Danieli GA, and Rampazzo A. Multiple mutations in desmosomal proteins encoding genes in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia. Heart Rhythm 2010;7:22-9.
- Bazett HC. An analysis of the time-relations of electrocardiograms. Heart 1920;7:353-70.
- Beffagna G, Occhi G, Nava A, Vitiello L, Ditadi A, Basso C, Bauce B, Carraro G, Thiene G, Towbin JA, Danieli GA, and Rampazzo A. Regulatory mutations in transforming growth factor-beta3 gene cause arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy type 1. Cardiovasc Res 2005;65:366-73.
- Behr ER, Dalageorgou C, Christiansen M, Syrris P, Hughes S, Tome Esteban MT, Rowland E, Jeffery S, and McKenna WJ. Sudden arrhythmic death syndrome: familial evaluation identifies inheritable heart disease in the majority of families. Eur Heart J 2008;29:1670-80.
- Bellocq C, van Ginneken AC, Bezzina CR, Alders M, Escande D, Mannens MM, Baró I, and Wilde AA. Mutation in the KCNQ1 gene leading to the short QT-interval syndrome. Circulation 2004;109:2394-7.
- Bengtsson L and Otto H. LUMA interacts with emerin and influences its distribution at the inner nuclear membrane. J Cell Sci 2008;121:536-48.
- Benjamin EJ, Levy D, Vaziri SM, D'Agostino RB, Belanger AJ, and Wolf PA. Independent risk factors for atrial fibrillation in a population-based cohort. The Framingham Heart Study. JAMA 1994;271:840-4.
- Benjamin EJ, Rice KM, Arking DE, Pfeufer A, van Noord C, Smith AV, Schnabel RB, Bis JC, Boerwinkle E, Sinner MF, Dehghan A, Lubitz SA, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Lumley T, Ehret GB, Heeringa J, Aspelund T, Newton-Cheh C, Larson MG, Marciante KD, Soliman EZ, Rivadeneira F, Wang TJ, Eiríksdottir G, Levy D, Psaty BM, Li M, Chamberlain AM, Hofman A, Vasan RS, Harris TB, Rotter JI, Kao WH, Agarwal SK, Stricker BH, Wang K, Launer LJ, Smith NL, Chakravarti A, Uitterlinden AG, Wolf PA, Sotoodehnia N, Köttgen A, van Duijn CM, Meitinger T, Mueller M, Perz S, Steinbeck G, Wichmann HE, Lunetta KL, Heckbert SR, Gudnason V, Alonso A, Kääb S, Ellinor PT, and Witteman JC. Variants in ZFHX3 are associated with atrial fibrillation in individuals of European ancestry. Nat Genet 2009;41:879-81.
- Bennett MV and Verselis VK. Biophysics of gap junctions. Semin Cell Biol 1992;3:29-47.
- Benson DW, Wang DW, Dyment M, Knilans TK, Fish FA, Strieper MJ, Rhodes TH, and George AL, Jr. Congenital sick sinus syndrome caused by recessive mutations in the cardiac sodium channel gene (SCN5A). J Clin Invest 2003;112:1019-28.
- Bezzina CR, Rook MB, Groenewegen WA, Herfst LJ, van der Wal AC, Lam J, Jongsma HJ, Wilde AA, and Mannens MM. Compound heterozygosity for mutations (W156X and R225W) in

SCN5A associated with severe cardiac conduction disturbances and degenerative changes in the conduction system. Circ Res 2003a;92:159-68.

- Bezzina CR, Verkerk AO, Busjahn A, Jeron A, Erdmann J, Koopmann TT, Bhuiyan ZA, Wilders R, Mannens MM, Tan HL, Luft FC, Schunkert H, and Wilde AA. A common polymorphism in KCNH2 (HERG) hastens cardiac repolarization. Cardiovasc Res 2003b;59:27-36.
- Bezzina CR, Pazoki R, Bardai A, Marsman RF, de Jong JS, Blom MT, Scicluna BP, Jukema JW, Bindraban NR, Lichtner P, Pfeufer A, Bishopric NH, Roden DM, Meitinger T, Chugh SS, Myerburg RJ, Jouven X, Kääb S, Dekker LR, Tan HL, Tanck MW, and Wilde AA. Genome-wide association study identifies a susceptibility locus at 21q21 for ventricular fibrillation in acute myocardial infarction. Nat Genet 2010;42:688-91.
- Bhuiyan ZA, Jongbloed JD, van der Smagt J, Lombardi PM, Wiesfeld AC, Nelen M, Schouten M, Jongbloed R, Cox MG, van Wolferen M, Rodriguez LM, van Gelder IC, Bikker H, Suurmeijer AJ, van den Berg MP, Mannens MM, Hauer RN, Wilde AA, and van Tintelen JP. Desmoglein-2 and desmocollin-2 mutations in dutch arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomypathy patients: results from a multicenter study. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2009;2:418-27.
- Bierkamp C, McLaughlin KJ, Schwarz H, Huber O, and Kemler R. Embryonic heart and skin defects in mice lacking plakoglobin. Dev Biol 1996;180:780-5.
- Blair E, Redwood C, Ashrafian H, Oliveira M, Broxholme J, Kerr B, Salmon A, Ostman-Smith I, and Watkins H. Mutations in the gamma(2) subunit of AMP-activated protein kinase cause familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: evidence for the central role of energy compromise in disease pathogenesis. Hum Mol Genet 2001;10:1215-20.
- Blin N and Stafford DW. A general method for isolation of high molecular weight DNA from eukaryotes. Nucleic Acids Res 1976;3:2303-8.
- Blomström-Lundqvist C, Sabel KG, and Olsson SB. A long term follow up of 15 patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia. Br Heart J 1987;58:477-88.
- Blomström-Lundqvist C, Beckman-Suurküla M, Wallentin I, Jonsson R, and Olsson SB. Ventricular dimensions and wall motion assessed by echocardiography in patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia. Eur Heart J 1988;9:1291-302.
- Bokil NJ, Baisden JM, Radford DJ, and Summers KM. Molecular genetics of long QT syndrome. Mol Genet Metab 2010;101:1-8.
- Bonne G, Carrier L, Bercovici J, Cruaud C, Richard P, Hainque B, Gautel M, Labeit S, James M, Beckmann J, Weissenbach J, Vosberg HP, Fiszman M, Komajda M, and Schwartz K. Cardiac myosin binding protein-C gene splice acceptor site mutation is associated with familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Nat Genet 1995;11:438-40.
- Borrmann CM, Grund C, Kuhn C, Hofmann I, Pieperhoff S, and Franke WW. The area composita of adhering junctions connecting heart muscle cells of vertebrates. II. Colocalizations of desmosomal and fascia adhaerens molecules in the intercalated disk. Eur J Cell Biol 2006;85:469-85.
- Brauch KM, Karst ML, Herron KJ, de Andrade M, Pellikka PA, Rodeheffer RJ, Michels VV, and Olson TM. Mutations in ribonucleic acid binding protein gene cause familial dilated cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54:930-41.
- Britz-Cunningham SH, Shah MM, Zuppan CW, and Fletcher WH. Mutations of the Connexin43 gapjunction gene in patients with heart malformations and defects of laterality. N Engl J Med 1995;332:1323-9.
- Brugada P and Brugada J. Right bundle branch block, persistent ST segment elevation and sudden cardiac death: a distinct clinical and electrocardiographic syndrome. A multicenter report. J Am Coll Cardiol 1992;20:1391-6.
- Brugada R, Hong K, Dumaine R, Cordeiro J, Gaita F, Borggrefe M, Menendez TM, Brugada J, Pollevick GD, Wolpert C, Burashnikov E, Matsuo K, Wu YS, Guerchicoff A, Bianchi F, Giustetto C, Schimpf R, Brugada P, and Antzelevitch C. Sudden death associated with short-QT syndrome linked to mutations in HERG. Circulation 2004;109:30-5.
- Burashnikov E, Pfeiffer R, Barajas-Martinez H, Delpón E, Hu D, Desai M, Borggrefe M, Häissaguerre M, Kanter R, Pollevick GD, Guerchicoff A, Laiño R, Marieb M, Nademanee K, Nam GB, Robles R, Schimpf R, Stapleton DD, Viskin S, Winters S, Wolpert C, Zimmern S, Veltmann C, and Antzelevitch C. Mutations in the cardiac L-type calcium channel associated with inherited J-wave syndromes and sudden cardiac death. Heart Rhythm 2010;7:1872-82.

- Burke A, Creighton W, Mont E, Li L, Hogan S, Kutys R, Fowler D, and Virmani R. Role of SCN5A Y1102 polymorphism in sudden cardiac death in blacks. Circulation 2005;112:798-802.
- Busch AE, Busch GL, Ford E, Suessbrich H, Lang HJ, Greger R, Kunzelmann K, Attali B, and Stühmer W. The role of the IsK protein in the specific pharmacological properties of the IKs channel complex. Br J Pharmacol 1997;122:187-9.
- Buxton AE, Lee KL, Fisher JD, Josephson ME, Prystowsky EN, and Hafley G. A randomized study of the prevention of sudden death in patients with coronary artery disease. Multicenter Unsustained Tachycardia Trial Investigators. N Engl J Med 1999;341:1882-90.
- Caruso AC, Marcus FI, Hahn EA, Hartz VL, and Mason JW. Predictors of arrhythmic death and cardiac arrest in the ESVEM trial. Electrophysiologic Study Versus Electromagnetic Monitoring. Circulation 1997;96:1888-92.
- Carvajal-Huerta L. Epidermolytic palmoplantar keratoderma with woolly hair and dilated cardiomyopathy. J Am Acad Dermatol 1998;39:418-21.
- Casimiro MC, Knollmann BC, Ebert SN, Vary JC, Jr., Greene AE, Franz MR, Grinberg A, Huang SP, and Pfeifer K. Targeted disruption of the Kcnq1 gene produces a mouse model of Jervell and Lange-Nielsen Syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:2526-31.
- Chang KC, Barth AS, Sasano T, Kizana E, Kashiwakura Y, Zhang Y, Foster DB, and Marbán E. CAPON modulates cardiac repolarization via neuronal nitric oxide synthase signaling in the heart. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:4477-82.
- Chen L, Marquardt ML, Tester DJ, Sampson KJ, Ackerman MJ, and Kass RS. Mutation of an Akinase-anchoring protein causes long-QT syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:20990-5.
- Chen Q, Kirsch GE, Zhang D, Brugada R, Brugada J, Brugada P, Potenza D, Moya A, Borggrefe M, Breithardt G, Ortiz-Lopez R, Wang Z, Antzelevitch C, O'Brien RE, Schulze-Bahr E, Keating MT, Towbin JA, and Wang Q. Genetic basis and molecular mechanism for idiopathic ventricular fibrillation. Nature 1998;392:293-6.
- Chen X, Bonne S, Hatzfeld M, van Roy F, and Green KJ. Protein binding and functional characterization of plakophilin 2. Evidence for its diverse roles in desmosomes and beta -catenin signaling. J Biol Chem 2002;277:10512-22.
- Chen YH, Xu SJ, Bendahhou S, Wang XL, Wang Y, Xu WY, Jin HW, Sun H, Su XY, Zhuang QN, Yang YQ, Li YB, Liu Y, Xu HJ, Li XF, Ma N, Mou CP, Chen Z, Barhanin J, and Huang W. KCNQ1 gain-of-function mutation in familial atrial fibrillation. Science 2003;299:251-4.
- Chidgey M, Brakebusch C, Gustafsson E, Cruchley A, Hail C, Kirk S, Merritt A, North A, Tselepis C, Hewitt J, Byrne C, Fassler R, and Garrod D. Mice lacking desmocollin 1 show epidermal fragility accompanied by barrier defects and abnormal differentiation. J Cell Biol 2001;155:821-32.
- Chinchilla A, Daimi H, Lozano-Velasco E, Dominguez JN, Caballero R, Delpon E, Tamargo J, Cinca J, Hove-Madsen L, Aranega AE, and Franco D. PITX2 insufficiency leads to atrial electrical and structural remodeling linked to arrhythmogenesis. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2011;4:269-79.
- Chitaev NA and Troyanovsky SM. Direct Ca2+-dependent heterophilic interaction between desmosomal cadherins, desmoglein and desmocollin, contributes to cell-cell adhesion. J Cell Biol 1997;138:193-201.
- Choi HJ and Weis WI. Structure of the armadillo repeat domain of plakophilin 1. J Mol Biol 2005;346:367-76.
- Christensen AH, Benn M, Bundgaard H, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Haunso S, and Svendsen JH. Wide spectrum of desmosomal mutations in Danish patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. J Med Genet 2010;47:736-44.
- Christensen AH, Andersen CB, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Haunso S, and Svendsen JH. Mutation analysis and evaluation of the cardiac localization of TMEM43 in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Clin Genet 2011;80:256-64.
- Chugh SS, Jui J, Gunson K, Stecker EC, John BT, Thompson B, Ilias N, Vickers C, Dogra V, Daya M, Kron J, Zheng ZJ, Mensah G, and McAnulty J. Current burden of sudden cardiac death: multiple source surveillance versus retrospective death certificate-based review in a large U.S. community. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004a;44:1268-75.
- Chugh SS, Senashova O, Watts A, Tran PT, Zhou Z, Gong Q, Titus JL, and Hayflick SJ. Postmortem molecular screening in unexplained sudden death. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004b;43:1625-9.

- Chugh SS, Reinier K, Teodorescu C, Evanado A, Kehr E, Al Samara M, Mariani R, Gunson K, and Jui J. Epidemiology of sudden cardiac death: clinical and research implications. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2008;51:213-28.
- Corrado D, Basso C, Thiene G, McKenna WJ, Davies MJ, Fontaliran F, Nava A, Silvestri F, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, Wlodarska EK, Fontaine G, and Camerini F. Spectrum of clinicopathologic manifestations of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia: a multicenter study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;30:1512-20.
- Corrado D, Basso C, and Thiene G. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy: diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment. Heart 2000a;83:588-95.
- Corrado D, Fontaine G, Marcus FI, McKenna WJ, Nava A, Thiene G, and Wichter T. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy: need for an international registry. Study Group on Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Dysplasia/Cardiomyopathy of the Working Groups on Myocardial and Pericardial Disease and Arrhythmias of the European Society of Cardiology and of the Scientific Council on Cardiomyopathies of the World Heart Federation. Circulation 2000b;101:E101-6.
- Cox MG, van der Zwaag PA, van der Werf C, van der Smagt JJ, Noorman M, Bhuiyan ZA, Wiesfeld AC, Volders PG, van Langen IM, Atsma DE, Dooijes D, van den Wijngaard A, Houweling AC, Jongbloed JD, Jordaens L, Cramer MJ, Doevendans PA, de Bakker JM, Wilde AA, van Tintelen JP, and Hauer RN. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy: pathogenic desmosome mutations in index-patients predict outcome of family screening: Dutch arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy genotype-phenotype follow-up study. Circulation 2011;123:2690-700.
- Cross BJ, Estes NA, 3rd, and Link MS. Sudden cardiac death in young athletes and nonathletes. Curr Opin Crit Care 2011;17:328-34.
- Crotti L, Lundquist AL, Insolia R, Pedrazzini M, Ferrandi C, De Ferrari GM, Vicentini A, Yang P, Roden DM, George AL, Jr., and Schwartz PJ. KCNH2-K897T is a genetic modifier of latent congenital long-QT syndrome. Circulation 2005;112:1251-8.
- Crotti L, Monti MC, Insolia R, Peljto A, Goosen A, Brink PA, Greenberg DA, Schwartz PJ, and George AL, Jr. NOS1AP is a genetic modifier of the long-QT syndrome. Circulation 2009;120:1657-63.
- Curran ME, Splawski I, Timothy KW, Vincent GM, Green ED, and Keating MT. A molecular basis for cardiac arrhythmia: HERG mutations cause long QT syndrome. Cell 1995;80:795-803.
- Dalal D, Nasir K, Bomma C, Prakasa K, Tandri H, Piccini J, Roguin A, Tichnell C, James C, Russell SD, Judge DP, Abraham T, Spevak PJ, Bluemke DA, and Calkins H. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia: a United States experience. Circulation 2005;112:3823-32.
- Dalal D, Molin LH, Piccini J, Tichnell C, James C, Bomma C, Prakasa K, Towbin JA, Marcus FI, Spevak PJ, Bluemke DA, Abraham T, Russell SD, Calkins H, and Judge DP. Clinical features of arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy associated with mutations in plakophilin-2. Circulation 2006;113:1641-9.
- Dekker LR, Bezzina CR, Henriques JP, Tanck MW, Koch KT, Alings MW, Arnold AE, de Boer MJ, Gorgels AP, Michels HR, Verkerk A, Verheugt FW, Zijlstra F, and Wilde AA. Familial sudden death is an important risk factor for primary ventricular fibrillation: a case-control study in acute myocardial infarction patients. Circulation 2006;114:1140-5.
- Delmar M and McKenna WJ. The cardiac desmosome and arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathies: from gene to disease. Circ Res 2010;107:700-14.
- Delpón E, Cordeiro JM, Núñez L, Thomsen PE, Guerchicoff A, Pollevick GD, Wu Y, Kanters JK, Larsen CT, Hofman-Bang J, Burashnikov E, Christiansen M, and Antzelevitch C. Functional effects of KCNE3 mutation and its role in the development of Brugada syndrome. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2008;1:209-18.
- den Haan AD, Tan BY, Zikusoka MN, Lladó LI, Jain R, Daly A, Tichnell C, James C, Amat-Alarcon N, Abraham T, Russell SD, Bluemke DA, Calkins H, Dalal D, and Judge DP. Comprehensive desmosome mutation analysis in north americans with arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2009;2:428-35.
- Dhar R, Alsheikh-Ali AA, Estes NA, 3rd, Moss AJ, Zareba W, Daubert JP, Greenberg H, Case RB, and Kent DM. Association of prolonged QRS duration with ventricular tachyarrhythmias and

sudden cardiac death in the Multicenter Automatic Defibrillator Implantation Trial II (MADIT-II). Heart Rhythm 2008;5:807-13.

- Drici MD, Baker L, Plan P, Barhanin J, Romey G, and Salama G. Mice display sex differences in halothane-induced polymorphic ventricular tachycardia. Circulation 2002;106:497-503.
- Elfgang C, Eckert R, Lichtenberg-Fraté H, Butterweck A, Traub O, Klein RA, Hülser DF, and Willecke K. Specific permeability and selective formation of gap junction channels in connexintransfected HeLa cells. J Cell Biol 1995;129:805-17.
- Ellinor PT, Nam EG, Shea MA, Milan DJ, Ruskin JN, and MacRae CA. Cardiac sodium channel mutation in atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2008;5:99-105.
- Ellinor PT, Lunetta KL, Glazer NL, Pfeufer A, Alonso A, Chung MK, Sinner MF, de Bakker PI, Mueller M, Lubitz SA, Fox E, Darbar D, Smith NL, Smith JD, Schnabel RB, Soliman EZ, Rice KM, Van Wagoner DR, Beckmann BM, van Noord C, Wang K, Ehret GB, Rotter JI, Hazen SL, Steinbeck G, Smith AV, Launer LJ, Harris TB, Makino S, Nelis M, Milan DJ, Perz S, Esko T, Köttgen A, Moebus S, Newton-Cheh C, Li M, Möhlenkamp S, Wang TJ, Kao WH, Vasan RS, Nöthen MM, MacRae CA, Stricker BH, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, Levy D, Boerwinkle E, Metspalu A, Topol EJ, Chakravarti A, Gudnason V, Psaty BM, Roden DM, Meitinger T, Wichmann HE, Witteman JC, Barnard J, Arking DE, Benjamin EJ, Heckbert SR, and Kääb S. Common variants in KCNN3 are associated with lone atrial fibrillation. Nat Genet 2010;42:240-4.
- Elmas E, Bugert P, Popp T, Lang S, Weiss C, Behnes M, Borggrefe M, and Kälsch T. The P-selectin gene polymorphism Val168Met: a novel risk marker for the occurrence of primary ventricular fibrillation during acute myocardial infarction. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2010;21:1260-5.
- Erken H, Yariz KO, Duman D, Kaya CT, Sayin T, Heper AO, and Tekin M. Cardiomyopathy with alopecia and palmoplantar keratoderma (CAPK) is caused by a JUP mutation. Br J Dermatol 2011.
- Eshkind L, Tian Q, Schmidt A, Franke WW, Windoffer R, and Leube RE. Loss of desmoglein 2 suggests essential functions for early embryonic development and proliferation of embryonal stem cells. Eur J Cell Biol 2002;81:592-8.
- Fan YM, Lehtimäki T, Rontu R, Ilveskoski E, Goebeler S, Kajander O, Mikkelsson J, Perola M, and Karhunen PJ. Age-dependent association between hepatic lipase gene C-480T polymorphism and the risk of pre-hospital sudden cardiac death: the Helsinki Sudden Death Study. Atherosclerosis 2007;192:421-7.
- Fatkin D, MacRae C, Sasaki T, Wolff MR, Porcu M, Frenneaux M, Atherton J, Vidaillet HJ, Jr., Spudich S, De Girolami U, Seidman JG, Seidman C, Muntoni F, Müehle G, Johnson W, and McDonough B. Missense mutations in the rod domain of the lamin A/C gene as causes of dilated cardiomyopathy and conduction-system disease. N Engl J Med 1999;341:1715-24.
- Fodstad H, Swan H, Laitinen P, Piippo K, Paavonen K, Viitasalo M, Toivonen L, and Kontula K. Four potassium channel mutations account for 73% of the genetic spectrum underlying long-QT syndrome (LQTS) and provide evidence for a strong founder effect in Finland. Ann Med 2004;36 Suppl 1:53-63.
- Fodstad H, Bendahhou S, Rougier JS, Laitinen-Forsblom PJ, Barhanin J, Abriel H, Schild L, Kontula K, and Swan H. Molecular characterization of two founder mutations causing long QT syndrome and identification of compound heterozygous patients. Ann Med 2006;38:294-304.
- Fontaine G, Fontaliran F, and Frank R. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathies: clinical forms and main differential diagnoses. Circulation 1998;97:1532-5.
- Fox CS, Evans JC, Larson MG, Kannel WB, and Levy D. Temporal trends in coronary heart disease mortality and sudden cardiac death from 1950 to 1999: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2004a;110:522-7.
- Fox CS, Parise H, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Lloyd-Jones DM, Vasan RS, Wang TJ, Levy D, Wolf PA, and Benjamin EJ. Parental atrial fibrillation as a risk factor for atrial fibrillation in offspring. JAMA 2004b;291:2851-5.
- Franco D and Campione M. The role of Pitx2 during cardiac development. Linking left-right signaling and congenital heart diseases. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2003;13:157-63.
- Frank R, Fontaine G, Vedel J, Mialet G, Sol C, Guiraudon G, and Grosgogeat Y. Electrocardiologie de quatre cas de dysplasie ventriculaire droite arythmogene. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss 1978;71:963-72.

- Franke WW, Goldschmidt MD, Zimbelmann R, Mueller HM, Schiller DL, and Cowin P. Molecular cloning and amino acid sequence of human plakoglobin, the common junctional plaque protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1989;86:4027-31.
- Franke WW, Borrmann CM, Grund C, and Pieperhoff S. The area composita of adhering junctions connecting heart muscle cells of vertebrates. I. Molecular definition in intercalated disks of cardiomyocytes by immunoelectron microscopy of desmosomal proteins. Eur J Cell Biol 2006;85:69-82.
- Fressart V, Duthoit G, Donal E, Probst V, Deharo JC, Chevalier P, Klug D, Dubourg O, Delacretaz E, Cosnay P, Scanu P, Extramiana F, Keller D, Hidden-Lucet F, Simon F, Bessirard V, Roux-Buisson N, Hebert JL, Azarine A, Casset-Senon D, Rouzet F, Lecarpentier Y, Fontaine G, Coirault C, Frank R, Hainque B, and Charron P. Desmosomal gene analysis in arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy: spectrum of mutations and clinical impact in practice. Europace 2010;12:861-8.
- Friedlander Y, Siscovick DS, Weinmann S, Austin MA, Psaty BM, Lemaitre RN, Arbogast P, Raghunathan TE, and Cobb LA. Family history as a risk factor for primary cardiac arrest. Circulation 1998;97:155-60.
- Friedlander Y, Siscovick DS, Arbogast P, Psaty BM, Weinmann S, Lemaitre RN, Raghunathan TE, and Cobb LA. Sudden death and myocardial infarction in first degree relatives as predictors of primary cardiac arrest. Atherosclerosis 2002;162:211-6.
- Funayama N, Fagotto F, McCrea P, and Gumbiner BM. Embryonic axis induction by the armadillo repeat domain of beta-catenin: evidence for intracellular signaling. J Cell Biol 1995;128:959-68.
- Gaita F, Giustetto C, Bianchi F, Wolpert C, Schimpf R, Riccardi R, Grossi S, Richiardi E, and Borggrefe M. Short QT Syndrome: a familial cause of sudden death. Circulation 2003;108:965-70.
- Gallicano GI, Kouklis P, Bauer C, Yin M, Vasioukhin V, Degenstein L, and Fuchs E. Desmoplakin is required early in development for assembly of desmosomes and cytoskeletal linkage. J Cell Biol 1998;143:2009-22.
- Garcia-Gras E, Lombardi R, Giocondo MJ, Willerson JT, Schneider MD, Khoury DS, and Marian AJ. Suppression of canonical Wnt/beta-catenin signaling by nuclear plakoglobin recapitulates phenotype of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. J Clin Invest 2006;116:2012-21.
- Garrod DR, Berika MY, Bardsley WF, Holmes D, and Tabernero L. Hyper-adhesion in desmosomes: its regulation in wound healing and possible relationship to cadherin crystal structure. J Cell Sci 2005;118:5743-54.
- Gaudry CA, Palka HL, Dusek RL, Huen AC, Khandekar MJ, Hudson LG, and Green KJ. Tyrosinephosphorylated plakoglobin is associated with desmogleins but not desmoplakin after epidermal growth factor receptor activation. J Biol Chem 2001;276:24871-80.
- Gehmlich K, Lambiase PD, Asimaki A, Ciaccio EJ, Ehler E, Syrris P, Saffitz JE, and McKenna WJ. A novel desmocollin-2 mutation reveals insights into the molecular link between desmosomes and gap junctions. Heart Rhythm 2011;8:711-8.
- Geier C, Gehmlich K, Ehler E, Hassfeld S, Perrot A, Hayess K, Cardim N, Wenzel K, Erdmann B, Krackhardt F, Posch MG, Osterziel KJ, Bublak A, Nägele H, Scheffold T, Dietz R, Chien KR, Spuler S, Fürst DO, Nürnberg P, and Ozcelik C. Beyond the sarcomere: CSRP3 mutations cause hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Hum Mol Genet 2008;17:2753-65.
- Geiger B, Tokuyasu KT, Dutton AH, and Singer SJ. Vinculin, an intracellular protein localized at specialized sites where microfilament bundles terminate at cell membranes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1980;77:4127-31.
- Geisterfer-Lowrance AA, Kass S, Tanigawa G, Vosberg HP, McKenna W, Seidman CE, and Seidman JG. A molecular basis for familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a beta cardiac myosin heavy chain gene missense mutation. Cell 1990;62:999-1006.
- Gellens ME, George AL, Jr., Chen LQ, Chahine M, Horn R, Barchi RL, and Kallen RG. Primary structure and functional expression of the human cardiac tetrodotoxin-insensitive voltage-dependent sodium channel. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1992;89:554-8.
- Gerull B, Heuser A, Wichter T, Paul M, Basson CT, McDermott DA, Lerman BB, Markowitz SM, Ellinor PT, MacRae CA, Peters S, Grossmann KS, Drenckhahn J, Michely B, Sasse-Klaassen S, Birchmeier W, Dietz R, Breithardt G, Schulze-Bahr E, and Thierfelder L. Mutations in the

desmosomal protein plakophilin-2 are common in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Nat Genet 2004;36:1162-4.

Giudicessi JR, Ye D, Tester DJ, Crotti L, Mugione A, Nesterenko VV, Albertson RM, Antzelevitch C, Schwartz PJ, and Ackerman MJ. Transient outward current (I(to)) gain-of-function mutations in the KCND3-encoded Kv4.3 potassium channel and Brugada syndrome. Heart Rhythm 2011;8:1024-32.

Goldenberg I and Moss AJ. Long QT syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;51:2291-300.

- Goldfarb LG, Park KY, Cervenáková L, Gorokhova S, Lee HS, Vasconcelos O, Nagle JW, Semino-Mora C, Sivakumar K, and Dalakas MC. Missense mutations in desmin associated with familial cardiac and skeletal myopathy. Nat Genet 1998;19:402-3.
- Gollob MH, Jones DL, Krahn AD, Danis L, Gong XQ, Shao Q, Liu X, Veinot JP, Tang AS, Stewart AF, Tesson F, Klein GJ, Yee R, Skanes AC, Guiraudon GM, Ebihara L, and Bai D. Somatic mutations in the connexin 40 gene (GJA5) in atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2006;354:2677-88.
- Gouas L, Nicaud V, Berthet M, Forhan A, Tiret L, Balkau B, and Guicheney P. Association of KCNQ1, KCNE1, KCNH2 and SCN5A polymorphisms with QTc interval length in a healthy population. Eur J Hum Genet 2005;13:1213-22.
- Gouas L, Nicaud V, Chaouch S, Berthet M, Forhan A, Tichet J, Tiret L, Balkau B, and Guicheney P. Confirmation of associations between ion channel gene SNPs and QTc interval duration in healthy subjects. Eur J Hum Genet 2007;15:974-9.
- Green KJ and Gaudry CA. Are desmosomes more than tethers for intermediate filaments? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2000;1:208-16.
- Green SA, Turki J, Innis M, and Liggett SB. Amino-terminal polymorphisms of the human beta 2adrenergic receptor impart distinct agonist-promoted regulatory properties. Biochemistry 1994;33:9414-9.
- Grossmann KS, Grund C, Huelsken J, Behrend M, Erdmann B, Franke WW, and Birchmeier W. Requirement of plakophilin 2 for heart morphogenesis and cardiac junction formation. J Cell Biol 2004;167:149-60.
- Gudbjartsson DF, Arnar DO, Helgadottir A, Gretarsdottir S, Holm H, Sigurdsson A, Jonasdottir A, Baker A, Thorleifsson G, Kristjansson K, Palsson A, Blondal T, Sulem P, Backman VM, Hardarson GA, Palsdottir E, Helgason A, Sigurjonsdottir R, Sverrisson JT, Kostulas K, Ng MC, Baum L, So WY, Wong KS, Chan JC, Furie KL, Greenberg SM, Sale M, Kelly P, MacRae CA, Smith EE, Rosand J, Hillert J, Ma RC, Ellinor PT, Thorgeirsson G, Gulcher JR, Kong A, Thorsteinsdottir U, and Stefansson K. Variants conferring risk of atrial fibrillation on chromosome 4q25. Nature 2007;448:353-7.
- Gudbjartsson DF, Holm H, Gretarsdottir S, Thorleifsson G, Walters GB, Thorgeirsson G, Gulcher J, Mathiesen EB, Njølstad I, Nyrnes A, Wilsgaard T, Hald EM, Hveem K, Stoltenberg C, Kucera G, Stubblefield T, Carter S, Roden D, Ng MC, Baum L, So WY, Wong KS, Chan JC, Gieger C, Wichmann HE, Gschwendtner A, Dichgans M, Kuhlenbäumer G, Berger K, Ringelstein EB, Bevan S, Markus HS, Kostulas K, Hillert J, Sveinbjörnsdóttir S, Valdimarsson EM, Løchen ML, Ma RC, Darbar D, Kong A, Arnar DO, Thorsteinsdottir U, and Stefansson K. A sequence variant in ZFHX3 on 16q22 associates with atrial fibrillation and ischemic stroke. Nat Genet 2009;41:876-8.
- Gussak I, Brugada P, Brugada J, Wright RS, Kopecky SL, Chaitman BR, and Bjerregaard P. Idiopathic short QT interval: a new clinical syndrome? Cardiology 2000;94:99-102.
- Haghighi K, Kolokathis F, Pater L, Lynch RA, Asahi M, Gramolini AO, Fan GC, Tsiapras D, Hahn HS, Adamopoulos S, Liggett SB, Dorn GW, 2nd, MacLennan DH, Kremastinos DT, and Kranias EG. Human phospholamban null results in lethal dilated cardiomyopathy revealing a critical difference between mouse and human. J Clin Invest 2003;111:869-76.
- Haïssaguerre M, Chatel S, Sacher F, Weerasooriya R, Probst V, Loussouarn G, Horlitz M, Liersch R, Schulze-Bahr E, Wilde A, Kääb S, Koster J, Rudy Y, Le Marec H, and Schott JJ. Ventricular fibrillation with prominent early repolarization associated with a rare variant of KCNJ8/KATP channel. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2009;20:93-8.
- Hakimelahi S, Parker HR, Gilchrist AJ, Barry M, Li Z, Bleackley RC, and Pasdar M. Plakoglobin regulates the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2. J Biol Chem 2000;275:10905-11.

- Hall C, Li S, Li H, Creason V, and Wahl JK, 3rd. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy plakophilin-2 mutations disrupt desmosome assembly and stability. Cell Commun Adhes 2009;16:15-27.
- Hamaguchi M, Matsuyoshi N, Ohnishi Y, Gotoh B, Takeichi M, and Nagai Y. p60v-src causes tyrosine phosphorylation and inactivation of the N-cadherin-catenin cell adhesion system. EMBO J 1993;12:307-14.
- Hamid MS, Norman M, Quraishi A, Firoozi S, Thaman R, Gimeno JR, Sachdev B, Rowland E, Elliott PM, and McKenna WJ. Prospective evaluation of relatives for familial arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia reveals a need to broaden diagnostic criteria. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;40:1445-50.
- Hatzfeld M, Haffner C, Schulze K, and Vinzens U. The function of plakophilin 1 in desmosome assembly and actin filament organization. J Cell Biol 2000;149:209-22.
- Heistaro S. Methodology report, Health 2000 Survey. Publications of the National Public Health Institute, KTL B 26, Helsinki 2008.
- Helgadottir A, Thorleifsson G, Manolescu A, Gretarsdottir S, Blondal T, Jonasdottir A, Sigurdsson A, Baker A, Palsson A, Masson G, Gudbjartsson DF, Magnusson KP, Andersen K, Levey AI, Backman VM, Matthiasdottir S, Jonsdottir T, Palsson S, Einarsdottir H, Gunnarsdottir S, Gylfason A, Vaccarino V, Hooper WC, Reilly MP, Granger CB, Austin H, Rader DJ, Shah SH, Quyyumi AA, Gulcher JR, Thorgeirsson G, Thorsteinsdottir U, Kong A, and Stefansson K. A common variant on chromosome 9p21 affects the risk of myocardial infarction. Science 2007;316:1491-3.
- Hermida-Prieto M, Monserrat L, Castro-Beiras A, Laredo R, Soler R, Peteiro J, Rodríguez E, Bouzas B, Alvarez N, Muñiz J, and Crespo-Leiro M. Familial dilated cardiomyopathy and isolated left ventricular noncompaction associated with lamin A/C gene mutations. Am J Cardiol 2004;94:50-4.
- Hernesniemi JA, Karhunen PJ, Rontu R, Ilveskoski E, Kajander O, Goebeler S, Viiri LE, Pessi T, Hurme M, and Lehtimäki T. Interleukin-18 promoter polymorphism associates with the occurrence of sudden cardiac death among Caucasian males: the Helsinki Sudden Death Study. Atherosclerosis 2008;196:643-9.
- Heuser A, Plovie ER, Ellinor PT, Grossmann KS, Shin JT, Wichter T, Basson CT, Lerman BB, Sasse-Klaassen S, Thierfelder L, MacRae CA, and Gerull B. Mutant desmocollin-2 causes arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Am J Hum Genet 2006;79:1081-8.
- Hodgson-Zingman DM, Karst ML, Zingman LV, Heublein DM, Darbar D, Herron KJ, Ballew JD, de Andrade M, Burnett JC, Jr., and Olson TM. Atrial natriuretic peptide frameshift mutation in familial atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2008;359:158-65.
- Hoedemaekers YM, Caliskan K, Majoor-Krakauer D, van de Laar I, Michels M, Witsenburg M, ten Cate FJ, Simoons ML, and Dooijes D. Cardiac beta-myosin heavy chain defects in two families with non-compaction cardiomyopathy: linking non-compaction to hypertrophic, restrictive, and dilated cardiomyopathies. Eur Heart J 2007;28:2732-7.
- Hong K, Bjerregaard P, Gussak I, and Brugada R. Short QT syndrome and atrial fibrillation caused by mutation in KCNH2. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2005;16:394-6.
- Hookana E, Junttila MJ, Puurunen VP, Tikkanen JT, Kaikkonen KS, Kortelainen ML, Myerburg RJ, and Huikuri HV. Causes of nonischemic sudden cardiac death in the current era. Heart Rhythm 2011;8:1570-5.
- Hu D, Barajas-Martinez H, Burashnikov E, Springer M, Wu Y, Varro A, Pfeiffer R, Koopmann TT, Cordeiro JM, Guerchicoff A, Pollevick GD, and Antzelevitch C. A mutation in the beta 3 subunit of the cardiac sodium channel associated with Brugada ECG phenotype. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2009;2:270-8.
- Huikuri HV, Castellanos A, and Myerburg RJ. Sudden death due to cardiac arrhythmias. N Engl J Med 2001;345:1473-82.
- Ichida F, Tsubata S, Bowles KR, Haneda N, Uese K, Miyawaki T, Dreyer WJ, Messina J, Li H, Bowles NE, and Towbin JA. Novel gene mutations in patients with left ventricular noncompaction or Barth syndrome. Circulation 2001;103:1256-63.
- Inouye M, Silander K, Hamalainen E, Salomaa V, Harald K, Jousilahti P, Männistö S, Eriksson JG, Saarela J, Ripatti S, Perola M, van Ommen GJ, Taskinen MR, Palotie A, Dermitzakis ET, and

Peltonen L. An immune response network associated with blood lipid levels. PLoS Genet 2010;6:e1001113.

- International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium. Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome. Nature 2004;431:931-45.
- Jamshidi Y, Nolte IM, Spector TD, and Snieder H. Novel genes for QTc interval. How much heritability is explained, and how much is left to find? Genome Med 2010;2:35.
- Jervell A and Lange-Nielsen F. Congenital deaf-mutism, functional heart disease with prolongation of the Q-T interval and sudden death. Am Heart J 1957;54:59-68.
- Jiang C, Atkinson D, Towbin JA, Splawski I, Lehmann MH, Li H, Timothy K, Taggart RT, Schwartz PJ, Vincent GM, and et al. Two long QT syndrome loci map to chromosomes 3 and 7 with evidence for further heterogeneity. Nat Genet 1994;8:141-7.
- Jouven X, Desnos M, Guerot Č, and Ducimetière P. Predicting sudden death in the population: the Paris Prospective Study I. Circulation 1999;99:1978-83.
- Kaikkonen KS, Kortelainen ML, Linna E, and Huikuri HV. Family history and the risk of sudden cardiac death as a manifestation of an acute coronary event. Circulation 2006;114:1462-7.
- Kami K, Chidgey M, Dafforn T, and Overduin M. The desmoglein-specific cytoplasmic region is intrinsically disordered in solution and interacts with multiple desmosomal protein partners. J Mol Biol 2009;386:531-43.
- Kamisago M, Sharma SD, DePalma SR, Solomon S, Sharma P, McDonough B, Smoot L, Mullen MP, Woolf PK, Wigle ED, Seidman JG, and Seidman CE. Mutations in sarcomere protein genes as a cause of dilated cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med 2000;343:1688-96.
- Kao WH, Arking DE, Post W, Rea TD, Sotoodehnia N, Prineas RJ, Bishe B, Doan BQ, Boerwinkle E, Psaty BM, Tomaselli GF, Coresh J, Siscovick DS, Marbán E, Spooner PM, Burke GL, and Chakravarti A. Genetic variations in nitric oxide synthase 1 adaptor protein are associated with sudden cardiac death in US white community-based populations. Circulation 2009;119:940-51.
- Kapplinger JD, Tester DJ, Alders M, Benito B, Berthet M, Brugada J, Brugada P, Fressart V, Guerchicoff A, Harris-Kerr C, Kamakura S, Kyndt F, Koopmann TT, Miyamoto Y, Pfeiffer R, Pollevick GD, Probst V, Zumhagen S, Vatta M, Towbin JA, Shimizu W, Schulze-Bahr E, Antzelevitch C, Salisbury BA, Guicheney P, Wilde AA, Brugada R, Schott JJ, and Ackerman MJ. An international compendium of mutations in the SCN5A-encoded cardiac sodium channel in patients referred for Brugada syndrome genetic testing. Heart Rhythm 2010;7:33-46.
- Kapplinger JD, Landstrom AP, Salisbury BA, Callis TE, Pollevick GD, Tester DJ, Cox MG, Bhuiyan Z, Bikker H, Wiesfeld AC, Hauer RN, van Tintelen JP, Jongbloed JD, Calkins H, Judge DP, Wilde AA, and Ackerman MJ. Distinguishing arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia-associated mutations from background genetic noise. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011;57:2317-27.
- Karam S, Raboisson MJ, Ducreux C, Chalabreysse L, Millat G, Bozio A, and Bouvagnet P. A de novo mutation of the beta cardiac myosin heavy chain gene in an infantile restrictive cardiomyopathy. Congenit Heart Dis 2008;3:138-43.
- Karjalainen J, Viitasalo M, Mänttäri M, and Manninen V. Relation between QT intervals and heart rates from 40 to 120 beats/min in rest electrocardiograms of men and a simple method to adjust QT interval values. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994;23:1547-53.
- Kaski JP, Syrris P, Burch M, Tomé-Esteban MT, Fenton M, Christiansen M, Andersen PS, Sebire N, Ashworth M, Deanfield JE, McKenna WJ, and Elliott PM. Idiopathic restrictive cardiomyopathy in children is caused by mutations in cardiac sarcomere protein genes. Heart 2008;94:1478-84.
- Keating M, Atkinson D, Dunn C, Timothy K, Vincent GM, and Leppert M. Linkage of a cardiac arrhythmia, the long QT syndrome, and the Harvey ras-1 gene. Science 1991;252:704-6.
- Kim JW, Hong KW, Go MJ, Kim SS, Tabara Y, Kita Y, Tanigawa T, Cho YS, Han BG, and Oh B. A common variant in SLC8A1 is associated with the duration of the electrocardiographic QT interval. Am J Hum Genet 2012;91:180-4.
- Kioussi C, Briata P, Baek SH, Rose DW, Hamblet NS, Herman T, Ohgi KA, Lin C, Gleiberman A, Wang J, Brault V, Ruiz-Lozano P, Nguyen HD, Kemler R, Glass CK, Wynshaw-Boris A, and Rosenfeld MG. Identification of a Wnt/Dvl/beta-Catenin --> Pitx2 pathway mediating cell-typespecific proliferation during development. Cell 2002;111:673-85.
- Kirchhof P, Fabritz L, Zwiener M, Witt H, Schäfers M, Zellerhoff S, Paul M, Athai T, Hiller KH, Baba HA, Breithardt G, Ruiz P, Wichter T, and Levkau B. Age- and training-dependent

development of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy in heterozygous plakoglobindeficient mice. Circulation 2006;114:1799-806.

- Kirchhof P, Kahr PC, Kaese S, Piccini I, Vokshi I, Scheld HH, Rotering H, Fortmueller L, Laakmann S, Verheule S, Schotten U, Fabritz L, and Brown NA. PITX2c is expressed in the adult left atrium, and reducing Pitx2c expression promotes atrial fibrillation inducibility and complex changes in gene expression. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2011;4:123-33.
- Klaassen S, Probst S, Oechslin E, Gerull B, Krings G, Schuler P, Greutmann M, Hürlimann D, Yegitbasi M, Pons L, Gramlich M, Drenckhahn JD, Heuser A, Berger F, Jenni R, and Thierfelder L. Mutations in sarcomere protein genes in left ventricular noncompaction. Circulation 2008;117:2893-901.
- Klauke B, Kossmann S, Gaertner A, Brand K, Stork I, Brodehl A, Dieding M, Walhorn V, Anselmetti D, Gerdes D, Bohms B, Schulz U, Zu Knyphausen E, Vorgerd M, Gummert J, and Milting H. De novo desmin-mutation N116S is associated with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Hum Mol Genet 2010;19:4595-607.
- Knudsen KA, Soler AP, Johnson KR, and Wheelock MJ. Interaction of alpha-actinin with the cadherin/catenin cell-cell adhesion complex via alpha-catenin. J Cell Biol 1995;130:67-77.
- Kok E, Haikonen S, Luoto T, Huhtala H, Goebeler S, Haapasalo H, and Karhunen PJ. Apolipoprotein E-dependent accumulation of Alzheimer disease-related lesions begins in middle age. Ann Neurol 2009;65:650-7.
- Kolligs FT, Kolligs B, Hajra KM, Hu G, Tani M, Cho KR, and Fearon ER. Gamma-catenin is regulated by the APC tumor suppressor and its oncogenic activity is distinct from that of betacatenin. Genes Dev 2000;14:1319-31.
- Komuro I, Wenninger KE, Philipson KD, and Izumo S. Molecular cloning and characterization of the human cardiac Na+/Ca2+ exchanger cDNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1992;89:4769-73.
- Kong W, Po S, Yamagishi T, Ashen MD, Stetten G, and Tomaselli GF. Isolation and characterization of the human gene encoding Ito: further diversity by alternative mRNA splicing. Am J Physiol 1998;275:H1963-70.
- Kouklis PD, Hutton E, and Fuchs E. Making a connection: direct binding between keratin intermediate filaments and desmosomal proteins. J Cell Biol 1994;127:1049-60.
- Kowalczyk AP, Stappenbeck TS, Parry DA, Palka HL, Virata ML, Bornslaeger EA, Nilles LA, and Green KJ. Structure and function of desmosomal transmembrane core and plaque molecules. Biophys Chem 1994;50:97-112.
- Kowalczyk AP, Bornslaeger EA, Borgwardt JE, Palka HL, Dhaliwal AS, Corcoran CM, Denning MF, and Green KJ. The amino-terminal domain of desmoplakin binds to plakoglobin and clusters desmosomal cadherin-plakoglobin complexes. J Cell Biol 1997;139:773-84.
- Kumar R and Dunn LL. Designed diagnostic restriction fragment length polymorphisms for the detection of point mutations in ras oncogenes. Oncogene Res 1989;4:235-41.
- Kurl S, Mäkikallio TH, Rautaharju P, Kiviniemi V, and Laukkanen JA. Duration of QRS complex in resting electrocardiogram is a predictor of sudden cardiac death in men. Circulation 2012;125:2588-94.
- Kurokawa J, Tamagawa M, Harada N, Honda S, Bai CX, Nakaya H, and Furukawa T. Acute effects of oestrogen on the guinea pig and human IKr channels and drug-induced prolongation of cardiac repolarization. J Physiol 2008;586:2961-73.
- Lahat H, Pras E, Olender T, Avidan N, Ben-Asher E, Man O, Levy-Nissenbaum E, Khoury A, Lorber A, Goldman B, Lancet D, and Eldar M. A missense mutation in a highly conserved region of CASQ2 is associated with autosomal recessive catecholamine-induced polymorphic ventricular tachycardia in Bedouin families from Israel. Am J Hum Genet 2001;69:1378-84.
- Laitinen P, Fodstad H, Piippo K, Swan H, Toivonen L, Viitasalo M, Kaprio J, and Kontula K. Survey of the coding region of the HERG gene in long QT syndrome reveals six novel mutations and an amino acid polymorphism with possible phenotypic effects. Hum Mutat 2000;15:580-1.
- Laitinen PJ, Brown KM, Piippo K, Swan H, Devaney JM, Brahmbhatt B, Donarum EA, Marino M, Tiso N, Viitasalo M, Toivonen L, Stephan DA, and Kontula K. Mutations of the cardiac ryanodine receptor (RyR2) gene in familial polymorphic ventricular tachycardia. Circulation 2001;103:485-90.

- Leenhardt A, Lucet V, Denjoy I, Grau F, Ngoc DD, and Coumel P. Catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia in children. A 7-year follow-up of 21 patients. Circulation 1995;91:1512-9.
- Lees-Miller JP, Guo J, Somers JR, Roach DE, Sheldon RS, Rancourt DE, and Duff HJ. Selective knockout of mouse ERG1 B potassium channel eliminates I(Kr) in adult ventricular myocytes and elicits episodes of abrupt sinus bradycardia. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:1856-62.
- Lehtonen A, Fodstad H, Laitinen-Forsblom P, Toivonen L, Kontula K, and Swan H. Further evidence of inherited long QT syndrome gene mutations in antiarrhythmic drug-associated torsades de pointes. Heart Rhythm 2007;4:603-7.
- Leung CL, Green KJ, and Liem RK. Plakins: a family of versatile cytolinker proteins. Trends Cell Biol 2002;12:37-45.
- Li D, Tapscoft T, Gonzalez O, Burch PE, Quiñones MA, Zoghbi WA, Hill R, Bachinski LL, Mann DL, and Roberts R. Desmin mutation responsible for idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Circulation 1999;100:461-4.
- Li D, Ahmad F, Gardner MJ, Weilbaecher D, Hill R, Karibe A, Gonzalez O, Tapscott T, Sharratt GP, Bachinski LL, and Roberts R. The locus of a novel gene responsible for arrhythmogenic rightventricular dysplasia characterized by early onset and high penetrance maps to chromosome 10p12-p14. Am J Hum Genet 2000;66:148-56.
- Li J, Huo Y, Zhang Y, Fang Z, Yang J, Zang T, and Xu X. Familial aggregation and heritability of electrocardiographic intervals and heart rate in a rural Chinese population. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol 2009a;14:147-52.
- Li Q, Huang H, Liu G, Lam K, Rutberg J, Green MS, Birnie DH, Lemery R, Chahine M, and Gollob MH. Gain-of-function mutation of Nav1.5 in atrial fibrillation enhances cellular excitability and lowers the threshold for action potential firing. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009b;380:132-7.
- Liang WC, Mitsuhashi H, Keduka E, Nonaka I, Noguchi S, Nishino I, and Hayashi YK. TMEM43 mutations in Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy-related myopathy. Ann Neurol 2011;69:1005-13.
- Lobo FV, Heggtveit HA, Butany J, Silver MD, and Edwards JE. Right ventricular dysplasia: morphological findings in 13 cases. Can J Cardiol 1992;8:261-8.
- Lombardi R, Dong J, Rodriguez G, Bell A, Leung TK, Schwartz RJ, Willerson JT, Brugada R, and Marian AJ. Genetic fate mapping identifies second heart field progenitor cells as a source of adipocytes in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 2009;104:1076-84.
- London B, Michalec M, Mehdi H, Zhu X, Kerchner L, Sanyal S, Viswanathan PC, Pfahnl AE, Shang LL, Madhusudanan M, Baty CJ, Lagana S, Aleong R, Gutmann R, Ackerman MJ, McNamara DM, Weiss R, and Dudley SC, Jr. Mutation in glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 1 like gene (GPD1-L) decreases cardiac Na+ current and causes inherited arrhythmias. Circulation 2007;116:2260-8.
- Longo KA, Kennell JA, Ochocinska MJ, Ross SE, Wright WS, and MacDougald OA. Wnt signaling protects 3T3-L1 preadipocytes from apoptosis through induction of insulin-like growth factors. J Biol Chem 2002;277:38239-44.
- Lundby A, Ravn LS, Svendsen JH, Haunsø S, Olesen SP, and Schmitt N. KCNE3 mutation V17M identified in a patient with lone atrial fibrillation. Cell Physiol Biochem 2008;21:47-54.
- Lunetta P, Levo A, Laitinen PJ, Fodstad H, Kontula K, and Sajantila A. Molecular screening of selected long QT syndrome (LQTS) mutations in 165 consecutive bodies found in water. Int J Legal Med 2003;117:115-7.
- MacKinnon R. Determination of the subunit stoichiometry of a voltage-activated potassium channel. Nature 1991;350:232-5.
- Makiyama T, Akao M, Shizuta S, Doi T, Nishiyama K, Oka Y, Ohno S, Nishio Y, Tsuji K, Itoh H, Kimura T, Kita T, and Horie M. A novel SCN5A gain-of-function mutation M1875T associated with familial atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;52:1326-34.
- Mallat Z, Tedgui A, Fontaliran F, Frank R, Durigon M, and Fontaine G. Evidence of apoptosis in arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia. N Engl J Med 1996;335:1190-6.
- Manolio TA. Genomewide association studies and assessment of the risk of disease. N Engl J Med 2010;363:166-76.

- Marcozzi C, Burdett ID, Buxton RS, and Magee AI. Coexpression of both types of desmosomal cadherin and plakoglobin confers strong intercellular adhesion. J Cell Sci 1998;111 (Pt 4):495-509.
- Marcus FI, Fontaine GH, Guiraudon G, Frank R, Laurenceau JL, Malergue C, and Grosgogeat Y. Right ventricular dysplasia: a report of 24 adult cases. Circulation 1982;65:384-98.
- Marcus FI, McKenna WJ, Sherrill D, Basso C, Bauce B, Bluemke DA, Calkins H, Corrado D, Cox MG, Daubert JP, Fontaine G, Gear K, Hauer R, Nava A, Picard MH, Protonotarios N, Saffitz JE, Sanborn DM, Steinberg JS, Tandri H, Thiene G, Towbin JA, Tsatsopoulou A, Wichter T, and Zareba W. Diagnosis of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia: proposed modification of the task force criteria. Circulation 2010;121:1533-41.
- Marjamaa A, Newton-Cheh C, Porthan K, Reunanen A, Lahermo P, Väänänen H, Jula A, Karanko H, Swan H, Toivonen L, Nieminen MS, Viitasalo M, Peltonen L, Oikarinen L, Palotie A, Kontula K, and Salomaa V. Common candidate gene variants are associated with QT interval duration in the general population. J Intern Med 2009a;265:448-58.
- Marjamaa A, Salomaa V, Newton-Cheh C, Porthan K, Reunanen A, Karanko H, Jula A, Lahermo P, Väänänen H, Toivonen L, Swan H, Viitasalo M, Nieminen MS, Peltonen L, Oikarinen L, Palotie A, and Kontula K. High prevalence of four long QT syndrome founder mutations in the Finnish population. Ann Med 2009b;41:234-40.
- Marjamaa A, Laitinen-Forsblom P, Wronska A, Toivonen L, Kontula K, and Swan H. Ryanodine receptor (RyR2) mutations in sudden cardiac death: studies in extended pedigrees and phenotypic characterization in vitro. Int J Cardiol 2011;147:246-52.
- Marroni F, Pfeufer A, Aulchenko YS, Franklin CS, Isaacs A, Pichler I, Wild SH, Oostra BA, Wright AF, Campbell H, Witteman JC, Kääb S, Hicks AA, Gyllensten U, Rudan I, Meitinger T, Pattaro C, van Duijn CM, Wilson JF, and Pramstaller PP. A genome-wide association scan of RR and QT interval duration in 3 European genetically isolated populations: the EUROSPAN project. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2009;2:322-8.
- Marth GT, Yu F, Indap AR, Garimella K, Gravel S, Leong WF, Tyler-Smith C, Bainbridge M, Blackwell T, Zheng-Bradley X, Chen Y, Challis D, Clarke L, Ball EV, Cibulskis K, Cooper DN, Fulton B, Hartl C, Koboldt D, Muzny D, Smith R, Sougnez C, Stewart C, Ward A, Yu J, Xue Y, Altshuler D, Bustamante CD, Clark AG, Daly M, Depristo M, Flicek P, Gabriel S, Mardis E, Palotie A, and Gibbs R. The functional spectrum of low-frequency coding variation. Genome Biol 2011;12:R84.
- McClements BM and Adgey AA. Value of signal-averaged electrocardiography, radionuclide ventriculography, Holter monitoring and clinical variables for prediction of arrhythmic events in survivors of acute myocardial infarction in the thrombolytic era. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993;21:1419-27.
- McDonald TV, Yu Z, Ming Z, Palma E, Meyers MB, Wang KW, Goldstein SA, and Fishman GI. A minK-HERG complex regulates the cardiac potassium current I(Kr). Nature 1997;388:289-92.
- McGrath JA, McMillan JR, Shemanko CS, Runswick SK, Leigh IM, Lane EB, Garrod DR, and Eady RA. Mutations in the plakophilin 1 gene result in ectodermal dysplasia/skin fragility syndrome. Nat Genet 1997;17:240-4.
- McKenna WJ, Thiene G, Nava A, Fontaliran F, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, Fontaine G, and Camerini F. Diagnosis of arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. Task Force of the Working Group Myocardial and Pericardial Disease of the European Society of Cardiology and of the Scientific Council on Cardiomyopathies of the International Society and Federation of Cardiology. Br Heart J 1994;71:215-8.
- McKoy G, Protonotarios N, Crosby A, Tsatsopoulou A, Anastasakis A, Coonar A, Norman M, Baboonian C, Jeffery S, and McKenna WJ. Identification of a deletion in plakoglobin in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy with palmoplantar keratoderma and woolly hair (Naxos disease). Lancet 2000;355:2119-24.
- Medeiros-Domingo A, Kaku T, Tester DJ, Iturralde-Torres P, Itty A, Ye B, Valdivia C, Ueda K, Canizales-Quinteros S, Tusié-Luna MT, Makielski JC, and Ackerman MJ. SCN4B-encoded sodium channel beta4 subunit in congenital long-QT syndrome. Circulation 2007;116:134-42.
- Melberg A, Oldfors A, Blomström-Lundqvist C, Stålberg E, Carlsson B, Larrson E, Lidell C, Eeg-Olofsson KE, Wikström G, Henriksson G, and Dahl N. Autosomal dominant myofibrillar

myopathy with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy linked to chromosome 10q. Ann Neurol 1999;46:684-92.

- Merante F, Tein I, Benson L, and Robinson BH. Maternally inherited hypertrophic cardiomyopathy due to a novel T-to-C transition at nucleotide 9997 in the mitochondrial tRNA(glycine) gene. Am J Hum Genet 1994;55:437-46.
- Merner ND, Hodgkinson KA, Haywood AF, Connors S, French VM, Drenckhahn JD, Kupprion C, Ramadanova K, Thierfelder L, McKenna W, Gallagher B, Morris-Larkin L, Bassett AS, Parfrey PS, and Young TL. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy type 5 is a fully penetrant, lethal arrhythmic disorder caused by a missense mutation in the TMEM43 gene. Am J Hum Genet 2008;82:809-21.
- Merritt AJ, Berika MY, Zhai W, Kirk SE, Ji B, Hardman MJ, and Garrod DR. Suprabasal desmoglein 3 expression in the epidermis of transgenic mice results in hyperproliferation and abnormal differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:5846-58.
- Mertens C, Kuhn C, and Franke WW. Plakophilins 2a and 2b: constitutive proteins of dual location in the karyoplasm and the desmosomal plaque. J Cell Biol 1996;135:1009-25.
- Mertens C, Kuhn C, Moll R, Schwetlick I, and Franke WW. Desmosomal plakophilin 2 as a differentiation marker in normal and malignant tissues. Differentiation 1999;64:277-90.
- Mertens C, Hofmann I, Wang Z, Teichmann M, Sepehri Chong S, Schnölzer M, and Franke WW. Nuclear particles containing RNA polymerase III complexes associated with the junctional plaque protein plakophilin 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:7795-800.
- Meurs KM, Mauceli E, Lahmers S, Acland GM, White SN, and Lindblad-Toh K. Genome-wide association identifies a deletion in the 3' untranslated region of striatin in a canine model of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Hum Genet 2010;128:315-24.
- Mikkelsson J, Perola M, Laippala P, Penttilä A, and Karhunen PJ. Glycoprotein IIIa Pl(A1/A2) polymorphism and sudden cardiac death. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36:1317-23.
- Mikkelsson J, Perola M, Penttilä A, and Karhunen PJ. Platelet glycoprotein Ibalpha HPA-2 Met/VNTR B haplotype as a genetic predictor of myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death. Circulation 2001;104:876-80.
- Mikkelsson J and Karhunen PJ. Genetic variation in coagulation factors II, V, VII and fatal MI. Thromb Haemost 2002;87:349-50.
- Miravet S, Piedra J, Castaño J, Raurell I, Francí C, Duñach M, and García de Herreros A. Tyrosine phosphorylation of plakoglobin causes contrary effects on its association with desmosomes and adherens junction components and modulates beta-catenin-mediated transcription. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:7391-402.
- Mogensen J, Kubo T, Duque M, Uribe W, Shaw A, Murphy R, Gimeno JR, Elliott P, and McKenna WJ. Idiopathic restrictive cardiomyopathy is part of the clinical expression of cardiac troponin I mutations. J Clin Invest 2003;111:209-16.
- Mohler PJ, Schott JJ, Gramolini AO, Dilly KW, Guatimosim S, duBell WH, Song LS, Haurogné K, Kyndt F, Ali ME, Rogers TB, Lederer WJ, Escande D, Le Marec H, and Bennett V. Ankyrin-B mutation causes type 4 long-QT cardiac arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death. Nature 2003;421:634-9.
- Mommersteeg MT, Hoogaars WM, Prall OW, de Gier-de Vries C, Wiese C, Clout DE, Papaioannou VE, Brown NA, Harvey RP, Moorman AF, and Christoffels VM. Molecular pathway for the localized formation of the sinoatrial node. Circ Res 2007;100:354-62.
- Morton NE. Sequential tests for the detection of linkage. Am J Hum Genet 1955;7:277-318.
- Moss AJ, Hall WJ, Cannom DS, Daubert JP, Higgins SL, Klein H, Levine JH, Saksena S, Waldo AL, Wilber D, Brown MW, and Heo M. Improved survival with an implanted defibrillator in patients with coronary disease at high risk for ventricular arrhythmia. Multicenter Automatic Defibrillator Implantation Trial Investigators. N Engl J Med 1996;335:1933-40.
- Moss AJ, Zareba W, Hall WJ, Schwartz PJ, Crampton RS, Benhorin J, Vincent GM, Locati EH, Priori SG, Napolitano C, Medina A, Zhang L, Robinson JL, Timothy K, Towbin JA, and Andrews ML. Effectiveness and limitations of beta-blocker therapy in congenital long-QT syndrome. Circulation 2000;101:616-23.
- Moss AJ, Zareba W, Kaufman ES, Gartman E, Peterson DR, Benhorin J, Towbin JA, Keating MT, Priori SG, Schwartz PJ, Vincent GM, Robinson JL, Andrews ML, Feng C, Hall WJ, Medina A, Zhang L, and Wang Z. Increased risk of arrhythmic events in long-QT syndrome with mutations

in the pore region of the human ether-a-go-go-related gene potassium channel. Circulation 2002;105:794-9.

- Mullis K, Faloona F, Scharf S, Saiki R, Horn G, and Erlich H. Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: the polymerase chain reaction. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1986;51 Pt 1:263-73.
- Myerburg RJ, Mitrani R, Interian A, Jr., and Castellanos A. Interpretation of outcomes of antiarrhythmic clinical trials: design features and population impact. Circulation 1998;97:1514-21.
- Napolitano C, Schwartz PJ, Brown AM, Ronchetti E, Bianchi L, Pinnavaia A, Acquaro G, and Priori SG. Evidence for a cardiac ion channel mutation underlying drug-induced QT prolongation and life-threatening arrhythmias. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2000;11:691-6.
- Napolitano C, Priori SG, Schwartz PJ, Bloise R, Ronchetti E, Nastoli J, Bottelli G, Cerrone M, and Leonardi S. Genetic testing in the long QT syndrome: development and validation of an efficient approach to genotyping in clinical practice. JAMA 2005;294:2975-80.
- Nava A, Thiene G, Canciani B, Scognamiglio R, Daliento L, Buja G, Martini B, Stritoni P, and Fasoli G. Familial occurrence of right ventricular dysplasia: a study involving nine families. J Am Coll Cardiol 1988;12:1222-8.
- Nava A, Bauce B, Basso C, Muriago M, Rampazzo A, Villanova C, Daliento L, Buja G, Corrado D, Danieli GA, and Thiene G. Clinical profile and long-term follow-up of 37 families with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36:2226-33.
- Newton-Cheh C, Larson MG, Corey DC, Benjamin EJ, Herbert AG, Levy D, D'Agostino RB, and O'Donnell CJ. QT interval is a heritable quantitative trait with evidence of linkage to chromosome 3 in a genome-wide linkage analysis: The Framingham Heart Study. Heart Rhythm 2005;2:277-84.
- Newton-Cheh C, Guo CY, Larson MG, Musone SL, Surti A, Camargo AL, Drake JA, Benjamin EJ, Levy D, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Hirschhorn JN, and O'Donnell C J. Common genetic variation in KCNH2 is associated with QT interval duration: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2007;116:1128-36.
- Newton-Cheh C, Cook NR, VanDenburgh M, Rimm EB, Ridker PM, and Albert CM. A common variant at 9p21 is associated with sudden and arrhythmic cardiac death. Circulation 2009a;120:2062-8.
- Newton-Cheh C, Eijgelsheim M, Rice KM, de Bakker PI, Yin X, Estrada K, Bis JC, Marciante K, Rivadeneira F, Noseworthy PA, Sotoodehnia N, Smith NL, Rotter JI, Kors JA, Witteman JC, Hofman A, Heckbert SR, O'Donnell CJ, Uitterlinden AG, Psaty BM, Lumley T, Larson MG, and Stricker BH. Common variants at ten loci influence QT interval duration in the QTGEN Study. Nat Genet 2009b;41:399-406.
- Nishio Y, Makiyama T, Itoh H, Sakaguchi T, Ohno S, Gong YZ, Yamamoto S, Ozawa T, Ding WG, Toyoda F, Kawamura M, Akao M, Matsuura H, Kimura T, Kita T, and Horie M. D85N, a KCNE1 polymorphism, is a disease-causing gene variant in long QT syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54:812-9.
- Nolte IM, Wallace C, Newhouse SJ, Waggott D, Fu J, Soranzo N, Gwilliam R, Deloukas P, Savelieva I, Zheng D, Dalageorgou C, Farrall M, Samani NJ, Connell J, Brown M, Dominiczak A, Lathrop M, Zeggini E, Wain LV, Newton-Cheh C, Eijgelsheim M, Rice K, de Bakker PI, Pfeufer A, Sanna S, Arking DE, Asselbergs FW, Spector TD, Carter ND, Jeffery S, Tobin M, Caulfield M, Snieder H, Paterson AD, Munroe PB, and Jamshidi Y. Common genetic variation near the phospholamban gene is associated with cardiac repolarisation: meta-analysis of three genome-wide association studies. PLoS One 2009;4:e6138.
- Norgett EE, Hatsell SJ, Carvajal-Huerta L, Cabezas JC, Common J, Purkis PE, Whittock N, Leigh IM, Stevens HP, and Kelsell DP. Recessive mutation in desmoplakin disrupts desmoplakinintermediate filament interactions and causes dilated cardiomyopathy, woolly hair and keratoderma. Hum Mol Genet 2000;9:2761-6.
- Nose A, Tsuji K, and Takeichi M. Localization of specificity determining sites in cadherin cell adhesion molecules. Cell 1990;61:147-55.
- Noseworthy PA and Newton-Cheh C. Genetic determinants of sudden cardiac death. Circulation 2008;118:1854-63.

- Nuber UA, Schäfer S, Schmidt A, Koch PJ, and Franke WW. The widespread human desmocollin Dsc2 and tissue-specific patterns of synthesis of various desmocollin subtypes. Eur J Cell Biol 1995;66:69-74.
- Nuyens D, Stengl M, Dugarmaa S, Rossenbacker T, Compernolle V, Rudy Y, Smits JF, Flameng W, Clancy CE, Moons L, Vos MA, Dewerchin M, Benndorf K, Collen D, Carmeliet E, and Carmeliet P. Abrupt rate accelerations or premature beats cause life-threatening arrhythmias in mice with long-QT3 syndrome. Nat Med 2001;7:1021-7.
- Olson TM, Michels VV, Thibodeau SN, Tai YS, and Keating MT. Actin mutations in dilated cardiomyopathy, a heritable form of heart failure. Science 1998;280:750-2.
- Olson TM, Illenberger S, Kishimoto NY, Huttelmaier S, Keating MT, and Jockusch BM. Metavinculin mutations alter actin interaction in dilated cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2002;105:431-7.
- Olson TM, Alekseev AE, Liu XK, Park S, Zingman LV, Bienengraeber M, Sattiraju S, Ballew JD, Jahangir A, and Terzic A. Kv1.5 channelopathy due to KCNA5 loss-of-function mutation causes human atrial fibrillation. Hum Mol Genet 2006;15:2185-91.
- Oxford EM, Musa H, Maass K, Coombs W, Taffet SM, and Delmar M. Connexin43 remodeling caused by inhibition of plakophilin-2 expression in cardiac cells. Circ Res 2007;101:703-11.
- Palo JU, Ulmanen I, Lukka M, Ellonen P, and Sajantila A. Genetic markers and population history: Finland revisited. Eur J Hum Genet 2009;17:1336-46.
- Papadatos GA, Wallerstein PM, Head CE, Ratcliff R, Brady PA, Benndorf K, Saumarez RC, Trezise AE, Huang CL, Vandenberg JI, Colledge WH, and Grace AA. Slowed conduction and ventricular tachycardia after targeted disruption of the cardiac sodium channel gene Scn5a. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:6210-5.
- Peddy SB, Vricella LA, Crosson JE, Oswald GL, Cohn RD, Cameron DE, Valle D, and Loeys BL. Infantile restrictive cardiomyopathy resulting from a mutation in the cardiac troponin T gene. Pediatrics 2006;117:1830-3.
- Pedersen OD, Abildstrøm SZ, Ottesen MM, Rask-Madsen C, Bagger H, Køber L, and Torp-Pedersen C. Increased risk of sudden and non-sudden cardiovascular death in patients with atrial fibrillation/flutter following acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 2006;27:290-5.
- Peltonen L, Jalanko A, and Varilo T. Molecular genetics of the Finnish disease heritage. Hum Mol Genet 1999;8:1913-23.
- Peters S, Trümmel M, and Meyners W. Prevalence of right ventricular dysplasia-cardiomyopathy in a non-referral hospital. Int J Cardiol 2004;97:499-501.
- Pfeufer A, Jalilzadeh S, Perz S, Mueller JC, Hinterseer M, Illig T, Akyol M, Huth C, Schöpfer-Wendels A, Kuch B, Steinbeck G, Holle R, Näbauer M, Wichmann HE, Meitinger T, and Kääb S. Common variants in myocardial ion channel genes modify the QT interval in the general population: results from the KORA study. Circ Res 2005;96:693-701.
- Pfeufer A, Sanna S, Arking DE, Müller M, Gateva V, Fuchsberger C, Ehret GB, Orrú M, Pattaro C, Köttgen A, Perz S, Usala G, Barbalic M, Li M, Pütz B, Scuteri A, Prineas RJ, Sinner MF, Gieger C, Najjar SS, Kao WH, Mühleisen TW, Dei M, Happle C, Möhlenkamp S, Crisponi L, Erbel R, Jöckel KH, Naitza S, Steinbeck G, Marroni F, Hicks AA, Lakatta E, Müller-Myhsok B, Pramstaller PP, Wichmann HE, Schlessinger D, Boerwinkle E, Meitinger T, Uda M, Coresh J, Kääb S, Abecasis GR, and Chakravarti A. Common variants at ten loci modulate the QT interval duration in the QTSCD Study. Nat Genet 2009;41:407-14.
- Pietilä E, Fodstad H, Niskasaari E, Laitinen PP, Swan H, Savolainen M, Kesäniemi YA, Kontula K, and Huikuri HV. Association between HERG K897T polymorphism and QT interval in middleaged Finnish women. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;40:511-4.
- Piippo K, Swan H, Pasternack M, Chapman H, Paavonen K, Viitasalo M, Toivonen L, and Kontula K. A founder mutation of the potassium channel KCNQ1 in long QT syndrome: implications for estimation of disease prevalence and molecular diagnostics. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;37:562-8.
- Pilichou K, Nava A, Basso C, Beffagna G, Bauce B, Lorenzon A, Frigo G, Vettori A, Valente M, Towbin J, Thiene G, Danieli GA, and Rampazzo A. Mutations in desmoglein-2 gene are associated with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2006;113:1171-9.
- Pilichou K, Remme CA, Basso C, Campian ME, Rizzo S, Barnett P, Scicluna BP, Bauce B, van den Hoff MJ, de Bakker JM, Tan HL, Valente M, Nava A, Wilde AA, Moorman AF, Thiene G, and Bezzina CR. Myocyte necrosis underlies progressive myocardial dystrophy in mouse dsg2-related arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. J Exp Med 2009;206:1787-802.

- Plant LD, Bowers PN, Liu Q, Morgan T, Zhang T, State MW, Chen W, Kittles RA, and Goldstein SA. A common cardiac sodium channel variant associated with sudden infant death in African Americans, SCN5A S1103Y. J Clin Invest 2006;116:430-5.
- Plaster NM, Tawil R, Tristani-Firouzi M, Canún S, Bendahhou S, Tsunoda A, Donaldson MR, Iannaccone ST, Brunt E, Barohn R, Clark J, Deymeer F, George AL, Jr., Fish FA, Hahn A, Nitu A, Ozdemir C, Serdaroglu P, Subramony SH, Wolfe G, Fu YH, and Ptácek LJ. Mutations in Kir2.1 cause the developmental and episodic electrical phenotypes of Andersen's syndrome. Cell 2001;105:511-9.
- Postma AV, Denjoy I, Hoorntje TM, Lupoglazoff JM, Da Costa A, Sebillon P, Mannens MM, Wilde AA, and Guicheney P. Absence of calsequestrin 2 causes severe forms of catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia. Circ Res 2002;91:e21-6.
- Priori SG, Napolitano C, and Schwartz PJ. Low penetrance in the long-QT syndrome: clinical impact. Circulation 1999;99:529-33.
- Priori SG, Napolitano C, Tiso N, Memmi M, Vignati G, Bloise R, Sorrentino V, and Danieli GA. Mutations in the cardiac ryanodine receptor gene (hRyR2) underlie catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia. Circulation 2001;103:196-200.
- Priori SG, Schwartz PJ, Napolitano C, Bloise R, Ronchetti E, Grillo M, Vicentini A, Spazzolini C, Nastoli J, Bottelli G, Folli R, and Cappelletti D. Risk stratification in the long-QT syndrome. N Engl J Med 2003;348:1866-74.
- Priori SG, Pandit SV, Rivolta I, Berenfeld O, Ronchetti E, Dhamoon A, Napolitano C, Anumonwo J, di Barletta MR, Gudapakkam S, Bosi G, Stramba-Badiale M, and Jalife J. A novel form of short QT syndrome (SQT3) is caused by a mutation in the KCNJ2 gene. Circ Res 2005;96:800-7.
- Protonotarios N, Tsatsopoulou A, Patsourakos P, Alexopoulos D, Gezerlis P, Simitsis S, and Scampardonis G. Cardiac abnormalities in familial palmoplantar keratosis. Br Heart J 1986;56:321-6.
- Qiu X, Liu W, Hu D, Zhu T, Li C, Li L, Guo C, Liu X, Wang L, Zheng H, Wang C, Diao Q, Shi D, Zhan P, Deng Y, Liu K, Wang Y, Liu B, Liu H, and Zhang L. Mutations of plakophilin-2 in Chinese with arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol 2009;103:1439-44.
- Raab-Graham KF, Radeke CM, and Vandenberg CA. Molecular cloning and expression of a human heart inward rectifier potassium channel. Neuroreport 1994;5:2501-5.
- Rampazzo A, Nava A, Danieli GA, Buja G, Daliento L, Fasoli G, Scognamiglio R, Corrado D, and Thiene G. The gene for arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy maps to chromosome 14q23-q24. Hum Mol Genet 1994;3:959-62.
- Rampazzo A, Nava A, Erne P, Eberhard M, Vian E, Slomp P, Tiso N, Thiene G, and Danieli GA. A new locus for arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVD2) maps to chromosome 1q42-q43. Hum Mol Genet 1995;4:2151-4.
- Rampazzo A, Nava A, Miorin M, Fonderico P, Pope B, Tiso N, Livolsi B, Zimbello R, Thiene G, and Danieli GA. ARVD4, a new locus for arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy, maps to chromosome 2 long arm. Genomics 1997;45:259-63.
- Rampazzo A, Nava A, Malacrida S, Beffagna G, Bauce B, Rossi V, Zimbello R, Simionati B, Basso C, Thiene G, Towbin JA, and Danieli GA. Mutation in human desmoplakin domain binding to plakoglobin causes a dominant form of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Am J Hum Genet 2002;71:1200-6.
- Ravn LS, Aizawa Y, Pollevick GD, Hofman-Bang J, Cordeiro JM, Dixen U, Jensen G, Wu Y, Burashnikov E, Haunso S, Guerchicoff A, Hu D, Svendsen JH, Christiansen M, and Antzelevitch C. Gain of function in IKs secondary to a mutation in KCNE5 associated with atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm 2008;5:427-35.
- Reinier K, Stecker EC, Vickers C, Gunson K, Jui J, and Chugh SS. Incidence of sudden cardiac arrest is higher in areas of low socioeconomic status: a prospective two year study in a large United States community. Resuscitation 2006;70:186-92.
- Reynolds AB, Daniel J, McCrea PD, Wheelock MJ, Wu J, and Zhang Z. Identification of a new catenin: the tyrosine kinase substrate p120cas associates with E-cadherin complexes. Mol Cell Biol 1994;14:8333-42.

- Rimm DL, Koslov ER, Kebriaei P, Cianci CD, and Morrow JS. Alpha 1(E)-catenin is an actin-binding and -bundling protein mediating the attachment of F-actin to the membrane adhesion complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci US A 1995;92:8813-7.
- Roberts JD and Gollob MH. Impact of genetic discoveries on the classification of lone atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:705-12.
- Roden DM. Taking the "idio" out of "idiosyncratic": predicting torsades de pointes. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1998;21:1029-34.
- Roden DM. Drug-induced prolongation of the QT interval. N Engl J Med 2004;350:1013-22.
- Roden DM. Long QT syndrome: reduced repolarization reserve and the genetic link. J Intern Med 2006;259:59-69.
- Romano C, Gemme G, and Pongiglione R. Aritmie cardiache rare dell'età pediatrica. Clin Pediatr (Bologna) 1963;45:656-83.
- Rose B and Loewenstein WR. Permeability of cell junction depends on local cytoplasmic calcium activity. Nature 1975;254:250-2.
- Ruan Y, Liu N, and Priori SG. Sodium channel mutations and arrhythmias. Nat Rev Cardiol 2009;6:337-48.
- Ruiz P, Brinkmann V, Ledermann B, Behrend M, Grund C, Thalhammer C, Vogel F, Birchmeier C, Gunthert U, Franke WW, and Birchmeier W. Targeted mutation of plakoglobin in mice reveals essential functions of desmosomes in the embryonic heart. J Cell Biol 1996;135:215-25.
- Sajantila A, Salem AH, Savolainen P, Bauer K, Gierig C, and Pääbo S. Paternal and maternal DNA lineages reveal a bottleneck in the founding of the Finnish population. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:12035-9.
- Salomaa V, Ketonen M, Koukkunen H, Immonen-Räihä P, Jerkkola T, Kärjä-Koskenkari P, Mähönen M, Niemelä M, Kuulasmaa K, Palomäki P, Mustonen J, Arstila M, Vuorenmaa T, Lehtonen A, Lehto S, Miettinen H, Torppa J, Tuomilehto J, Kesäniemi YA, and Pyörälä K. Decline in out-of-hospital coronary heart disease deaths has contributed the main part to the overall decline in coronary heart disease mortality rates among persons 35 to 64 years of age in Finland: the FINAMI study. Circulation 2003;108:691-6.
- Sanger F, Nicklen S, and Coulson AR. DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1977;74:5463-7.
- Sanguinetti MC, Curran ME, Zou A, Shen J, Spector PS, Atkinson DL, and Keating MT. Coassembly of K(V)LQT1 and minK (IsK) proteins to form cardiac I(Ks) potassium channel. Nature 1996;384:80-3.
- Sato PY, Musa H, Coombs W, Guerrero-Serna G, Patiño GA, Taffet SM, Isom LL, and Delmar M. Loss of plakophilin-2 expression leads to decreased sodium current and slower conduction velocity in cultured cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 2009;105:523-6.
- Schmitt JP, Kamisago M, Asahi M, Li GH, Ahmad F, Mende U, Kranias EG, MacLennan DH, Seidman JG, and Seidman CE. Dilated cardiomyopathy and heart failure caused by a mutation in phospholamban. Science 2003;299:1410-3.
- Schott JJ, Alshinawi C, Kyndt F, Probst V, Hoomtje TM, Hulsbeek M, Wilde AA, Escande D, Mannens MM, and Le Marec H. Cardiac conduction defects associate with mutations in SCN5A. Nat Genet 1999;23:20-1.
- Schouten JP, McElgunn CJ, Waaijer R, Zwijnenburg D, Diepvens F, and Pals G. Relative quantification of 40 nucleic acid sequences by multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification. Nucleic Acids Res 2002;30:e57.
- Schultz D, Mikala G, Yatani A, Engle DB, Iles DE, Segers B, Sinke RJ, Weghuis DO, Klockner U, Wakamori M, and et al. Cloning, chromosomal localization, and functional expression of the alpha 1 subunit of the L-type voltage-dependent calcium channel from normal human heart. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;90:6228-32.
- Schwartz PJ, Moss AJ, Vincent GM, and Crampton RS. Diagnostic criteria for the long QT syndrome. An update. Circulation 1993;88:782-4.
- Schwartz PJ, Priori SG, Spazzolini C, Moss AJ, Vincent GM, Napolitano C, Denjoy I, Guicheney P, Breithardt G, Keating MT, Towbin JA, Beggs AH, Brink P, Wilde AA, Toivonen L, Zareba W, Robinson JL, Timothy KW, Corfield V, Wattanasirichaigoon D, Corbett C, Haverkamp W, Schulze-Bahr E, Lehmann MH, Schwartz K, Coumel P, and Bloise R. Genotype-phenotype

correlation in the long-QT syndrome: gene-specific triggers for life-threatening arrhythmias. Circulation 2001;103:89-95.

- Schwartz PJ, Stramba-Badiale M, Crotti L, Pedrazzini M, Besana A, Bosi G, Gabbarini F, Goulene K, Insolia R, Mannarino S, Mosca F, Nespoli L, Rimini A, Rosati E, Salice P, and Spazzolini C. Prevalence of the congenital long-QT syndrome. Circulation 2009;120:1761-7.
- Schäfer S, Koch PJ, and Franke WW. Identification of the ubiquitous human desmoglein, Dsg2, and the expression catalogue of the desmoglein subfamily of desmosomal cadherins. Exp Cell Res 1994;211:391-9.
- Schönberger J, Wang L, Shin JT, Kim SD, Depreux FF, Zhu H, Zon L, Pizard A, Kim JB, Macrae CA, Mungall AJ, Seidman JG, and Seidman CE. Mutation in the transcriptional coactivator EYA4 causes dilated cardiomyopathy and sensorineural hearing loss. Nat Genet 2005;37:418-22.
- Scicluna BP, Wilde AA, and Bezzina CR. The primary arrhythmia syndromes: same mutation, different manifestations. Are we starting to understand why? J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2008;19:445-52.
- Sen-Chowdhry S, Lowe MD, Sporton SC, and McKenna WJ. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy: clinical presentation, diagnosis, and management. Am J Med 2004;117:685-95.
- Sen-Chowdhry S, Syrris P, Prasad SK, Hughes SE, Merrifield R, Ward D, Pennell DJ, and McKenna WJ. Left-dominant arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy: an under-recognized clinical entity. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;52:2175-87.
- Sesti F, Abbott GW, Wei J, Murray KT, Saksena S, Schwartz PJ, Priori SG, Roden DM, George AL, Jr., and Goldstein SA. A common polymorphism associated with antibiotic-induced cardiac arrhythmia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:10613-8.
- Severini GM, Krajinovic M, Pinamonti B, Sinagra G, Fioretti P, Brunazzi MC, Falaschi A, Camerini F, Giacca M, and Mestroni L. A new locus for arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia on the long arm of chromosome 14. Genomics 1996;31:193-200.
- Simpson MA, Mansour S, Ahnood D, Kalidas K, Patton MA, McKenna WJ, Behr ER, and Crosby AH. Homozygous mutation of desmocollin-2 in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy with mild palmoplantar keratoderma and woolly hair. Cardiology 2009;113:28-34.
- Snapir A, Mikkelsson J, Perola M, Penttilä A, Scheinin M, and Karhunen PJ. Variation in the alpha2B-adrenoceptor gene as a risk factor for prehospital fatal myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:190-4.
- Sotoodehnia N, Siscovick DS, Vatta M, Psaty BM, Tracy RP, Towbin JA, Lemaitre RN, Rea TD, Durda JP, Chang JM, Lumley TS, Kuller LH, Burke GL, and Heckbert SR. Beta2-adrenergic receptor genetic variants and risk of sudden cardiac death. Circulation 2006;113:1842-8.
- Sotoodehnia N, Li G, Johnson CO, Lemaitre RN, Rice KM, Rea TD, and Siscovick DS. Genetic variation in angiotensin-converting enzyme-related pathways associated with sudden cardiac arrest risk. Heart Rhythm 2009;6:1306-14.
- Splawski I, Tristani-Firouzi M, Lehmann MH, Sanguinetti MC, and Keating MT. Mutations in the hminK gene cause long QT syndrome and suppress IKs function. Nat Genet 1997;17:338-40.
- Splawski I, Timothy KW, Tateyama M, Clancy CE, Malhotra A, Beggs AH, Cappuccio FP, Sagnella GA, Kass RS, and Keating MT. Variant of SCN5A sodium channel implicated in risk of cardiac arrhythmia. Science 2002;297:1333-6.
- Splawski I, Timothy KW, Sharpe LM, Decher N, Kumar P, Bloise R, Napolitano C, Schwartz PJ, Joseph RM, Condouris K, Tager-Flusberg H, Priori SG, Sanguinetti MC, and Keating MT. Ca(V)1.2 calcium channel dysfunction causes a multisystem disorder including arrhythmia and autism. Cell 2004;119:19-31.
- Spray DC, Harris AL, and Bennett MV. Gap junctional conductance is a simple and sensitive function of intracellular pH. Science 1981;211:712-5.
- Stappert J and Kemler R. A short core region of E-cadherin is essential for catenin binding and is highly phosphorylated. Cell Adhes Commun 1994;2:319-27.
- Steinberg MS and Takeichi M. Experimental specification of cell sorting, tissue spreading, and specific spatial patterning by quantitative differences in cadherin expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994;91:206-9.
- Storm N, Darnhofer-Patel B, van den Boom D, and Rodi CP. MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry-based SNP genotyping. Methods Mol Biol 2003;212:241-62.

- Straus SM, Kors JA, De Bruin ML, van der Hooft CS, Hofman A, Heeringa J, Deckers JW, Kingma JH, Sturkenboom MC, Stricker BH, and Witteman JC. Prolonged QTc interval and risk of sudden cardiac death in a population of older adults. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;47:362-7.
- Stühmer W, Conti F, Suzuki H, Wang XD, Noda M, Yahagi N, Kubo H, and Numa S. Structural parts involved in activation and inactivation of the sodium channel. Nature 1989;339:597-603.
- Swan H, Piippo K, Viitasalo M, Heikkilä P, Paavonen T, Kainulainen K, Kere J, Keto P, Kontula K, and Toivonen L. Arrhythmic disorder mapped to chromosome 1q42-q43 causes malignant polymorphic ventricular tachycardia in structurally normal hearts. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999a;34:2035-42.
- Swan H, Viitasalo M, Piippo K, Laitinen P, Kontula K, and Toivonen L. Sinus node function and ventricular repolarization during exercise stress test in long QT syndrome patients with KvLQT1 and HERG potassium channel defects. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999b;34:823-9.
- Swenson KI, Piwnica-Worms H, McNamee H, and Paul DL. Tyrosine phosphorylation of the gap junction protein connexin43 is required for the pp60v-src-induced inhibition of communication. Cell Regul 1990;1:989-1002.
- Syed SE, Trinnaman B, Martin S, Major S, Hutchinson J, and Magee AI. Molecular interactions between desmosomal cadherins. Biochem J 2002;362:317-27.
- Syrris P, Ward D, Asimaki A, Sen-Chowdhry S, Ebrahim HY, Evans A, Hitomi N, Norman M, Pantazis A, Shaw AL, Elliott PM, and McKenna WJ. Clinical expression of plakophilin-2 mutations in familial arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2006a;113:356-64.
- Syrris P, Ward D, Evans A, Asimaki A, Gandjbakhch E, Sen-Chowdhry S, and McKenna WJ. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy associated with mutations in the desmosomal gene desmocollin-2. Am J Hum Genet 2006b;79:978-84.
- Syrris P, Ward D, Asimaki A, Evans A, Sen-Chowdhry S, Hughes SE, and McKenna WJ. Desmoglein-2 mutations in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy: a genotype-phenotype characterization of familial disease. Eur Heart J 2007;28:581-8.
- Tamkun MM, Knoth KM, Walbridge JA, Kroemer H, Roden DM, and Glover DM. Molecular cloning and characterization of two voltage-gated K+ channel cDNAs from human ventricle. FASEB J 1991;5:331-7.
- Tan HL, Hofman N, van Langen IM, van der Wal AC, and Wilde AA. Sudden unexplained death: heritability and diagnostic yield of cardiological and genetic examination in surviving relatives. Circulation 2005;112:207-13.
- Taylor M, Graw S, Sinagra G, Barnes C, Slavov D, Brun F, Pinamonti B, Salcedo EE, Sauer W, Pyxaras S, Anderson B, Simon B, Bogomolovas J, Labeit S, Granzier H, and Mestroni L. Genetic variation in titin in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy-overlap syndromes. Circulation 2011;124:876-85.
- Tester DJ, Spoon DB, Valdivia HH, Makielski JC, and Ackerman MJ. Targeted mutational analysis of the RyR2-encoded cardiac ryanodine receptor in sudden unexplained death: a molecular autopsy of 49 medical examiner/coroner's cases. Mayo Clin Proc 2004;79:1380-4.
- Tester DJ and Ackerman MJ. Postmortem long QT syndrome genetic testing for sudden unexplained death in the young. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;49:240-6.
- The Multicenter Postinfarction Research Group. Risk stratification and survival after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 1983;309:331-6.
- Thiene G, Nava A, Corrado D, Rossi L, and Pennelli N. Right ventricular cardiomyopathy and sudden death in young people. N Engl J Med 1988;318:129-33.
- Thierfelder L, Watkins H, MacRae C, Lamas R, McKenna W, Vosberg HP, Seidman JG, and Seidman CE. Alpha-tropomyosin and cardiac troponin T mutations cause familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a disease of the sarcomere. Cell 1994;77:701-12.
- Tikkanen JT, Anttonen O, Junttila MJ, Aro AL, Kerola T, Rissanen HA, Reunanen A, and Huikuri HV. Long-term outcome associated with early repolarization on electrocardiography. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2529-37.
- Tiso N, Stephan DA, Nava A, Bagattin A, Devaney JM, Stanchi F, Larderet G, Brahmbhatt B, Brown K, Bauce B, Muriago M, Basso C, Thiene G, Danieli GA, and Rampazzo A. Identification of mutations in the cardiac ryanodine receptor gene in families affected with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy type 2 (ARVD2). Hum Mol Genet 2001;10:189-94.

- Tomás M, Napolitano C, De Giuli L, Bloise R, Subirana I, Malovini A, Bellazzi R, Arking DE, Marban E, Chakravarti A, Spooner PM, and Priori SG. Polymorphisms in the NOS1AP gene modulate QT interval duration and risk of arrhythmias in the long QT syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:2745-52.
- Tranebjaerg L, Bathen J, Tyson J, and Bitner-Glindzicz M. Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome: a Norwegian perspective. Am J Med Genet 1999;89:137-46.
- Tsubata S, Bowles KR, Vatta M, Zintz C, Titus J, Muhonen L, Bowles NE, and Towbin JA. Mutations in the human delta-sarcoglycan gene in familial and sporadic dilated cardiomyopathy. J Clin Invest 2000;106:655-62.
- Tyson J, Tranebjaerg L, Bellman S, Wren C, Taylor JF, Bathen J, Aslaksen B, Sørland SJ, Lund O, Malcolm S, Pembrey M, Bhattacharya S, and Bitner-Glindzicz M. IsK and KvLQT1: mutation in either of the two subunits of the slow component of the delayed rectifier potassium channel can cause Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome. Hum Mol Genet 1997;6:2179-85.
- Tyynelä P, Goebeler S, Ilveskoski E, Mikkelsson J, Perola M, Löytönen M, and Karhunen PJ. Birthplace predicts risk for prehospital sudden cardiac death in middle-aged men who migrated to metropolitan area: The Helsinki Sudden Death Study. Ann Med 2009;41:57-65.
- Ueda K, Valdivia C, Medeiros-Domingo A, Tester DJ, Vatta M, Farrugia G, Ackerman MJ, and Makielski JC. Syntrophin mutation associated with long QT syndrome through activation of the nNOS-SCN5A macromolecular complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:9355-60.
- van der Zwaag PA, Cox MG, van der Werf C, Wiesfeld AC, Jongbloed JD, Dooijes D, Bikker H, Jongbloed R, Suurmeijer AJ, van den Berg MP, Hofstra RM, Hauer RN, Wilde AA, and van Tintelen JP. Recurrent and founder mutations in the Netherlands : Plakophilin-2 p.Arg79X mutation causing arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia. Neth Heart J 2010;18:583-91.
- van der Zwaag PA, van Rijsingen IA, Asimaki A, Jongbloed JD, van Veldhuisen DJ, Wiesfeld AC, Cox MG, van Lochem LT, de Boer RA, Hofstra RM, Christiaans I, van Spaendonck-Zwarts KY, Lekanne Dit Deprez RH, Judge DP, Calkins H, Suurmeijer AJ, Hauer RN, Saffitz JE, Wilde AA, van den Berg MP, and van Tintelen JP. Phospholamban R14del mutation in patients diagnosed with dilated cardiomyopathy or arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy: evidence supporting the concept of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. Eur J Heart Fail 2012;14:1199-207.
- van Tintelen JP, Entius MM, Bhuiyan ZA, Jongbloed R, Wiesfeld AC, Wilde AA, van der Smagt J, Boven LG, Mannens MM, van Langen IM, Hofstra RM, Otterspoor LC, Doevendans PA, Rodriguez LM, van Gelder IC, and Hauer RN. Plakophilin-2 mutations are the major determinant of familial arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2006;113:1650-8.
- Vartiainen E, Laatikainen T, Peltonen M, Juolevi A, Männistö S, Sundvall J, Jousilahti P, Salomaa V, Valsta L, and Puska P. Thirty-five-year trends in cardiovascular risk factors in Finland. Int J Epidemiol 2010;39:504-18.
- Vasile VC, Ommen SR, Edwards WD, and Ackerman MJ. A missense mutation in a ubiquitously expressed protein, vinculin, confers susceptibility to hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006a;345:998-1003.
- Vasile VC, Will ML, Ommen SR, Edwards WD, Olson TM, and Ackerman MJ. Identification of a metavinculin missense mutation, R975W, associated with both hypertrophic and dilated cardiomyopathy. Mol Genet Metab 2006b;87:169-74.
- Vatta M, Mohapatra B, Jimenez S, Sanchez X, Faulkner G, Perles Z, Sinagra G, Lin JH, Vu TM, Zhou Q, Bowles KR, Di Lenarda A, Schimmenti L, Fox M, Chrisco MA, Murphy RT, McKenna W, Elliott P, Bowles NE, Chen J, Valle G, and Towbin JA. Mutations in Cypher/ZASP in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy and left ventricular non-compaction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;42:2014-27.
- Vatta M, Ackerman MJ, Ye B, Makielski JC, Ughanze EE, Taylor EW, Tester DJ, Balijepalli RC, Foell JD, Li Z, Kamp TJ, and Towbin JA. Mutant caveolin-3 induces persistent late sodium current and is associated with long-QT syndrome. Circulation 2006;114:2104-12.
- Vetter DE, Mann JR, Wangemann P, Liu J, McLaughlin KJ, Lesage F, Marcus DC, Lazdunski M, Heinemann SF, and Barhanin J. Inner ear defects induced by null mutation of the isk gene. Neuron 1996;17:1251-64.

- Vincent GM, Timothy KW, Leppert M, and Keating M. The spectrum of symptoms and QT intervals in carriers of the gene for the long-QT syndrome. N Engl J Med 1992;327:846-52.
- Visel A, Zhu Y, May D, Afzal V, Gong E, Attanasio C, Blow MJ, Cohen JC, Rubin EM, and Pennacchio LA. Targeted deletion of the 9p21 non-coding coronary artery disease risk interval in mice. Nature 2010;464:409-12.
- Viskin S, Alla SR, Barron HV, Heller K, Saxon L, Kitzis I, Hare GF, Wong MJ, Lesh MD, and Scheinman MM. Mode of onset of torsade de pointes in congenital long QT syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;28:1262-8.
- Vozzi C, Dupont E, Coppen SR, Yeh HI, and Severs NJ. Chamber-related differences in connexin expression in the human heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1999;31:991-1003.
- Wang Q, Shen J, Splawski I, Atkinson D, Li Z, Robinson JL, Moss AJ, Towbin JA, and Keating MT. SCN5A mutations associated with an inherited cardiac arrhythmia, long QT syndrome. Cell 1995;80:805-11.
- Wang Q, Curran ME, Splawski I, Burn TC, Millholland JM, VanRaay TJ, Shen J, Timothy KW, Vincent GM, de Jager T, Schwartz PJ, Toubin JA, Moss AJ, Atkinson DL, Landes GM, Connors TD, and Keating MT. Positional cloning of a novel potassium channel gene: KVLQT1 mutations cause cardiac arrhythmias. Nat Genet 1996;12:17-23.
- Wannamethee G, Shaper AG, Macfarlane PW, and Walker M. Risk factors for sudden cardiac death in middle-aged British men. Circulation 1995;91:1749-56.
- Ward OC. A new familial cardiac syndrome in children. J Ir Med Assoc 1964;54:103-6.
- Warmke JW and Ganetzky B. A family of potassium channel genes related to eag in Drosophila and mammals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994;91:3438-42.
- Watabe-Uchida M, Uchida N, Imamura Y, Nagafuchi A, Fujimoto K, Uemura T, Vermeulen S, van Roy F, Adamson ED, and Takeichi M. Alpha-catenin-vinculin interaction functions to organize the apical junctional complex in epithelial cells. J Cell Biol 1998;142:847-57.
- Watanabe H, Koopmann TT, Le Scouarnec S, Yang T, Ingram CR, Schott JJ, Demolombe S, Probst V, Anselme F, Escande D, Wiesfeld AC, Pfeufer A, Kääb S, Wichmann HE, Hasdemir C, Aizawa Y, Wilde AA, Roden DM, and Bezzina CR. Sodium channel betal subunit mutations associated with Brugada syndrome and cardiac conduction disease in humans. J Clin Invest 2008;118:2260-8.
- Watanabe H, Darbar D, Kaiser DW, Jiramongkolchai K, Chopra S, Donahue BS, Kannankeril PJ, and Roden DM. Mutations in sodium channel beta1- and beta2-subunits associated with atrial fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2009;2:268-75.
- Watkins DA, Hendricks N, Shaboodien G, Mbele M, Parker M, Vezi BZ, Latib A, Chin A, Little F, Badri M, Moolman-Smook JC, Okreglicki A, and Mayosi BM. Clinical features, survival experience, and profile of plakophylin-2 gene mutations in participants of the arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy registry of South Africa. Heart Rhythm 2009;6:S10-7.
- Watkins H, Conner D, Thierfelder L, Jarcho JA, MacRae C, McKenna WJ, Maron BJ, Seidman JG, and Seidman CE. Mutations in the cardiac myosin binding protein-C gene on chromosome 11 cause familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Nat Genet 1995;11:434-7.
- Watkins H, Ashrafian H, and Redwood C. Inherited cardiomyopathies. N Engl J Med 2011;364:1643-56.
- Weiske J, Schöneberg T, Schröder W, Hatzfeld M, Tauber R, and Huber O. The fate of desmosomal proteins in apoptotic cells. J Biol Chem 2001;276:41175-81.
- Westaway SK, Reinier K, Huertas-Vazquez A, Evanado A, Teodorescu C, Navarro J, Sinner MF, Gunson K, Jui J, Spooner P, Kaab S, and Chugh SS. Common variants in CASQ2, GPD1L, and NOS1AP are significantly associated with risk of sudden death in patients with coronary artery disease. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2011;4:397-402.
- Westenskow P, Splawski I, Timothy KW, Keating MT, and Sanguinetti MC. Compound mutations: a common cause of severe long-QT syndrome. Circulation 2004;109:1834-41.
- Wichter T, Borggrefe M, Haverkamp W, Chen X, and Breithardt G. Efficacy of antiarrhythmic drugs in patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular disease. Results in patients with inducible and noninducible ventricular tachycardia. Circulation 1992;86:29-37.
- Witcher LL, Collins R, Puttagunta S, Mechanic SE, Munson M, Gumbiner B, and Cowin P. Desmosomal cadherin binding domains of plakoglobin. J Biol Chem 1996;271:10904-9.

- Wolf A, Krause-Gruszczynska M, Birkenmeier O, Ostareck-Lederer A, Hüttelmaier S, and Hatzfeld M. Plakophilin 1 stimulates translation by promoting eIF4A1 activity. J Cell Biol 2010;188:463-71.
- Xia M, Jin Q, Bendahhou S, He Y, Larroque MM, Chen Y, Zhou Q, Yang Y, Liu Y, Liu B, Zhu Q, Zhou Y, Lin J, Liang B, Li L, Dong X, Pan Z, Wang R, Wan H, Qiu W, Xu W, Eurlings P, and Barhanin J. A Kir2.1 gain-of-function mutation underlies familial atrial fibrillation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005;332:1012-9.
- Xu T, Yang Z, Vatta M, Rampazzo A, Beffagna G, Pilichou K, Scherer SE, Saffitz J, Kravitz J, Zareba W, Danieli GA, Lorenzon A, Nava A, Bauce B, Thiene G, Basso C, Calkins H, Gear K, Marcus F, and Towbin JA. Compound and digenic heterozygosity contributes to arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:587-97.
- Yang Y, Xia M, Jin Q, Bendahhou S, Shi J, Chen Y, Liang B, Lin J, Liu Y, Liu B, Zhou Q, Zhang D, Wang R, Ma N, Su X, Niu K, Pei Y, Xu W, Chen Z, Wan H, Cui J, and Barhanin J. Identification of a KCNE2 gain-of-function mutation in patients with familial atrial fibrillation. Am J Hum Genet 2004;75:899-905.
- Yang Y, Liang B, Liu J, Li J, Grunnet M, Olesen SP, Rasmussen HB, Ellinor PT, Gao L, Lin X, Li L, Wang L, Xiao J, Liu Y, Zhang S, Liang D, Peng L, Jespersen T, and Chen YH. Identification of a Kir3.4 mutation in congenital long QT syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 2010;86:872-80.
- Yang Z, Bowles NE, Scherer SE, Taylor MD, Kearney DL, Ge S, Nadvoretskiy VV, DeFreitas G, Carabello B, Brandon LI, Godsel LM, Green KJ, Saffitz JE, Li H, Danieli GA, Calkins H, Marcus F, and Towbin JA. Desmosomal dysfunction due to mutations in desmoplakin causes arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 2006;99:646-55.
- Yap AS, Brieher WM, Pruschy M, and Gumbiner BM. Lateral clustering of the adhesive ectodomain: a fundamental determinant of cadherin function. Curr Biol 1997;7:308-15.
- Ye B, Valdivia CR, Ackerman MJ, and Makielski JC. A common human SCN5A polymorphism modifies expression of an arrhythmia causing mutation. Physiol Genomics 2003;12:187-93.
- Yeager M and Gilula NB. Membrane topology and quaternary structure of cardiac gap junction ion channels. J Mol Biol 1992;223:929-48.
- Zareba W, Moss AJ, le Cessie S, Locati EH, Robinson JL, Hall WJ, and Andrews ML. Risk of cardiac events in family members of patients with long QT syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;26:1685-91.
- Zhang M, Tavora F, Oliveira JB, Li L, Franco M, Fowler D, Zhao Z, and Burke A. PKP2 mutations in sudden death from arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC) and sudden unexpected death with negative autopsy (SUDNA). Circ J 2012;76:189-94.
- Zhang X, Chen S, Yoo S, Chakrabarti S, Zhang T, Ke T, Oberti C, Yong SL, Fang F, Li L, de la Fuente R, Wang L, Chen Q, and Wang QK. Mutation in nuclear pore component NUP155 leads to atrial fibrillation and early sudden cardiac death. Cell 2008;135:1017-27.
- Zipes DP, Camm AJ, Borggrefe M, Buxton AE, Chaitman B, Fromer M, Gregoratos G, Klein G, Moss AJ, Myerburg RJ, Priori SG, Quinones MA, Roden DM, Silka MJ, Tracy C, Smith SC, Jr., Jacobs AK, Adams CD, Antman EM, Anderson JL, Hunt SA, Halperin JL, Nishimura R, Ornato JP, Page RL, Riegel B, Blanc JJ, Budaj A, Dean V, Deckers JW, Despres C, Dickstein K, Lekakis J, McGregor K, Metra M, Morais J, Osterspey A, Tamargo JL, and Zamorano JL. ACC/AHA/ESC 2006 Guidelines for Management of Patients With Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for Practice Guidelines (writing committee to develop Guidelines for Management of Patients With Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death): developed in collaboration with the European Heart Rhythm Association and the Heart Rhythm Society. Circulation 2006;114:e385-484.